### Neutrophil Migration in the Healthy Elderly: Causes and Consequences for the Resolution of Inflammation

By

#### Hannah Louise Greenwood

A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> School of Immunity and Infection College of Medical and Dental Sciences University of Birmingham September 2013

### UNIVERSITY<sup>OF</sup> BIRMINGHAM

#### **University of Birmingham Research Archive**

#### e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

#### Abstract

Neutrophils constitute the main immune defence against microbial invasion. When activated, they migrate towards the site of infection where they eliminate any foreign material in an effort to prevent wide-spread tissue damage and ultimately resolve infection. Previous work on neutrophil function in the elderly has highlighted a number of neutrophil effector functions, including phagocytosis, superoxide production and migration that exhibit decreased efficiency suggesting the potential for reduced pathogen clearance in older adults.

This thesis reveals a migratory phenotype distinctive of neutrophils isolated from healthy elderly donors (> 60 years) and characterised by a maintained speed of migration (chemokinesis) but with significantly reduced directional migration (chemotaxis) and overall migratory accuracy in response to a range of chemoattractants. This migratory phenotype was shown to be associated with a constitutive basal activation of PI3Kinase in neutrophils isolated from older donors and appears to be a causative factor as treatment of neutrophils with inhibitors selective for PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and  $-\delta$ , was able to restore migratory dynamics. The 'old-migratory' phenotype was amenable to correction by pre-incubation with 1nM Simvastatin *in vitro* and a two-week prescription of 80mg/day Simvastatin *in vivo* in healthy older adults.

The ability of simvastatin to modulate migratory dynamics potentially provides a safe, cost effective intervention to reduce morbidity and mortality from infections in the elderly population.

i

#### To Mum and Dad

Thank you doesn't even begin to cover it.

#### Acknowledgements

Firstly to my family: my parents Kathryn and Martin for their never ending support, encouragement and guidance and for believing in me far more than I ever did; to my brother Aj for his laughter and occasional (very welcome) distractions and finally to my grandparents, Rose and Les, who have simply always been there. You have all been my rock and I couldn't have done it without you.

Secondly to my supervisors Professor Janet Lord and Dr. Elizabeth Sapey for giving me a chance for which I cannot thank you enough. You have been a constant source of support, guidance and encouragement, seeing me through both the good and the 'not-so-good' over the last four years.

To members of the lab, both past and present particularly David Bartlett for lending a shoulder when necessary and for all his statistical advice; to Hema Chahal for her eternal enthusiasm and of course 'Pinky and the Brain', aka Dr. Peter Hampson and Dr. Jon Hazeldine for advice, support and patiently answering an endless supply of questions. Also to Georgia Walton who has helped far more than she'll ever realise.

And finally to all those people who gave blood both young and old that enabled me to complete this work, especially to those who were actually brave enough to let me near them with a needle!

#### Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 The Immune System	4
1.2 Ageing and the Immune System	6
1.2.1 Adaptive Immune-senescence	6
1.2.2 Innate Immune-senescence	11
1.3 Neutrophil Immune Senescence	13
1.3.1 Neutrophil Development	13
1.3.2 Neutrophil Anti-microbial Functions	17
1.3.2.1 Neutrophil Degranulation	17
1.3.2.2 Phagocytosis	20
1.3.2.3 ROS Production	21
1.3.2.4 Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)	22
1.4 Neutrophil Chemotaxis	24
1.4.1 Serine Proteases as an aid to Migratory Processes	30
1.4.2 Signalling pathways involved in the regulation of migration	31
1.4.2.1 PI3Kinase	34
1.4.2.2 Protein Kinase B (PKB)/Akt	38
1.4.2.3 Rho-GTPases	39
1.4.2.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	41
1.4.2.5 Actin Cytoskeleton	41
1.4.2.6 Other Molecules controlling migration	45
1.4.3 Pathway integration resulting in co-ordinated control of migration	46
1.4.3.1 Polarity	46
1.4.3.2 Motility (Chemokinesis)	48
1.4.3.3 Directional Sensing (Chemotaxis)	50
1.5 Plasma Membrane Structure	54
1.5.1 Phospholipids	54
1.5.2 Glycolipids	59
1.5.3 Membrane Cholesterol	60
1.5.4 Membrane Fluidity and Lipid Rafts	61

1.6 Effects of Age on Neutrophil Chemotaxis	63
1.7 Potential Therapies	67
1.7.1 Anti - TNFα therapy	67
1.7.2 Statin Therapy	67
CHAPTER 2: METHODS	69
2.1 Participants	70
2.2 Neutrophil Isolation	70
2.3 Migratory Dynamics	71
2.3.1 Chemo-attractant dose responses	72
2.3.2 Treatment with PI3Kinase Inhibitors	72
2.3.3 Assessing Migratory Dynamics	72
2.3.4 PI3Kinase Isoform specific Inhibitor cytotoxicity	76
2.4 ELISA for neutrophil elastase activty	76
2.5 Neutrophil Phagocytosis (pHrodo)	77
2.6 Reactive Oxygen Species Production	77
2.7 Flow Cytometry	78
2.7.1 Antibody Titration	78
2.7.2 Neutrophil Degranulation	78
2.7.3 Chemokine receptor Expression	81
2.8 Mass Spectrometry	81
2.8.1 Sample Preparation	81
2.8.2 Lipid Extraction	82
2.8.3 Membrane Lipid Quantification	82
2.9 SDS-Page and Western blot	83
2.10 Retrospective study of hospital outcomes following admission with a	
diagnosis of community acquired pneumonia to assess whether statins	

impact upon outcomes.

2.10.1 Covariates	85
2.10.2 Pneumonia Outcomes and statistical analysis	85
2.12 Statistical Analysis	88
CHAPTER 3: NEUTROPHIL FUNCTIONS IN THE HEALTHY ELDERLY	90
3.1 Introduction	91
3.2 Results	93
3.2.1 Neutrophils respond to chemotactic stimuli in a dose dependent manner	93
3.2.2 Neutrophils from older adults show decreased migratory accuracy	93
3.2.3 Chemokinesis is preserved but Chemotaxis is impaired in neutrophils	
from older adults	97
3.2.4 Neutrophil migratory accuracy correlates with increasing age	100
3.2.5 Loss of migratory accuracy from 60 years of age	104
3.2.6 Neutrophils from older adults exhibit increased expression of granule	
specific markers	104
3.2.7 Increased Neutrophil Elastase activity with age	107
3.2.8 Neutrophil Phagocytosis of S.aureus but not E.coli is affected by	
increasing age	107
3.2.9 Neutrophil Superoxide Production is not affected by increasing age	110
3.3 Discussion	112
CHAPTER 4: MECHANISMS OF ALTERED NEUTROPHIL MIGRATION WITH	
AGEING	121
4.1 Introduction	122
4.2 Results	124
4.2.1 Effects of age on Surface Expression of Chemoattractant Receptors	124
4.2.2 Ageing does not alter phospholipid composition of the plasma membrane	e 126
4.2.3 PI3Kinase is constitutively active in Neutrophils from older adults	132
4.2.4 Dysregulated PI3Kinase activation has differential effects on Akt activity	132
4.2.5 Dysregulated PI3Kinase activity contributes to aberrant migration	135
4.2.6 Inhibition of PI3Kinase p110 $\gamma$ and $\delta$ isoforms restores migratory	
accuracy in neutrophils from older adults	137

4.3 Discussion	142
CHAPTER 5: SIMVASTATIN AND NEUTROPHIL MIGRATION	147
5.1 Introduction	148
5.2 Results	149
5.2.1 Statin Therapy prior to admission to hospital improves Pneumonia	
outcomes	149
5.2.2 Simvastatin restores directional migration of neutrophils from older adults	155
5.2.3 Simvastatin does not alter phospholipid composition of the plasma	450
	158
5.2.4 Membrane Cholesterol: PC Ratio is not altered by increasing age or	404
Sinvastatin treatment	164
5.3 Discussion	166
CHAPTER 6: CAN SIMVASTATIN IMPROVE NEUTROPHIL FUNCTIONS IN TH	IE
HEALTHY ELDERLY?	169
6.1 Introduction	170
6.2 Methods	172
6.2.1 Study Design	172
6.2.2 Measurement of Neutrophil Function	175
6.2.3 Rational for choice of drug and dose	175
6.3 Results	177
6.3.1 80mg/day Statin Therapy does not affect the health status of older adults	179
6.3.2 Statin administration reduced serum cholesterol	179
6.3.3 In vivo statin therapy restores neutrophil migration in the healthy elderly	182
6.3.4 In vivo statin therapy has no effect on not neutrophil phagocytosis in the	
healthy elderly	194
6.3.5 In vivo statin therapy has no effect on not ROS production in the healthy	
elderly	
	196

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION	201
7.1 Ageing and neutrophil migration	202
7.2 Reduced Neutrophil chemotaxis and health	203
7.3 Potential technical study limitations	205
7.4 Mechanisms of reduced chemotaxis with age	206
7.5 Correcting the age-related decline in chemotaxis	210
7.6 Future Work	213
REFERENCES	216
	245

#### List of Figures

#### Page Number

Chapter 1: Introduction	
Figure 1.1 Mediators of the Innate and Adaptive Immune Response	5
Figure 1.2 Neutrophil Bone Marrow Development	14
Figure 1.3 Signalling Pathways Involved in the Regulation of Migration	33
Figure 1.4 Actin Structures at the Leading Edge	43
Figure 1.5 The Dendritic Nucleation Model	44
Figure 1.6 Signalling Networks at the Leading Edge of Migrating Neutrophils	52
Figure 1.7 Signalling Networks within the Uropod of Migrating Neutrophils	53
Figure 1.8 Structure of Common Membrane Lipids	55
Figure 1.9 Differential Membrane Composition of Organelles in the Steady State	57
Figure 1.10 Membrane Asymmetry in Intracellular Compartments	58

#### **Chapter 2: Methods**

Figure 2.1 Selection Procedure for Retrospective Cohort Study	86
Chapter 3: Neutrophil Functions in the Healthy Elderly	
Figure 3.1 Neutrophil Chemotactic Index in Response to Increasing Concentrations	95
of IL8, GRO $\alpha$ , C5a, LTB <sub>4</sub> and fMLP	
Figure 3.2 Migratory Tracks of Neutrophils Isolated from Young and Elderly donors	96
Figure 3.3 Neutrophil Chemokinesis and Chemotaxis in Response to IL8, GRO $\alpha$ ,	98
C5a, LTB <sub>4</sub> and fMLP	
Figure 3.4 Neutrophil Persistence and Chemotactic Index in Response to IL8, GROα,	99
C5a, LTB₄ and fMLP	
Figure 3.5 Relationship between Age and Neutrophil Chemokinesis and Chemotaxis	102

Figure 3.6 Relationship between Age and Neutrophil Persistence and Chemotactic	103
Index	
Figure 3.7 Neutrophil Migration across the Lifespan	105
Figure 3.8 Neutrophil Degranulation in cells from the Healthy Elderly	106
Figure 3.9 Neutrophil Elastase Activity in Neutrophils Isolated from Young and	108
Elderly Donors	
Figure 3.10 Neutrophil Phagocytosis of S.aureus and E.coli	109
Figure 3.11 Neutrophil Migration in Response to IL8 During Pneumonia Infection	118
Chapter 4: Mechanisms of Altered Neutrophil Migration in the Healthy Elderly	
Figure 4.1 Surface Expression of Chemoattractant Receptors on Quiescent Neutrophils	125
Figure 4.2 Plasma Membrane Phospholipid Composition	127
Figure 4.3 Composition of Phosphatidylcholine species in the Plasma Membrane	128
Figure 4.4 Composition of Phosphatidylethanolamine species in the Plasma Membrane	129
Figure 4.5 Composition of Phosphatidylserine species in the Plasma Membrane	130
Figure 4.6 Composition of Phosphatidylinositol species in the Plasma Membrane	131
Figure 4.7 PI3Kinase Activity with IL8 Stimulation in Neutrophils from Young	133
and Old Donors	
Figure 4.8 Akt activity in Response to IL8 in Neutrophils from Young and Old Donors	134
Figure 4.9 Effect of LY294002 on Neutrophil Migration	136
Figure 4.10 The Effect of PI3Kinase p110 $\alpha$ and $\beta$ selective inhibitors on	139
Neutrophil Migration	
Figure 4.11 The Effect of PI3Kinase p110 Y and $\delta$ selective inhibitors on	140

Neutrophil MigrationFigure 4.12 Percentage of Viable Cells in the presence of PI3Kinase Isoform141

Selective Inhibitors

х

#### Chapter 5: Simvastatin and Migration in the Healthy Elderly

Figure	e 5.1 Relationship between Predicted Probability of Death from Pneumonia	152
	and Increasing Chronological Age	
Figure	e 5.2 Relationship between Predicted Probability of Death from Pneumonia	154
	and C-reactive Protein at 79 years old	
Figure	e 5.3 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Migration towards IL8	156
Figure	e 5.4 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Migration towards fMLP	157
Figure	e 5.5 Effect of Simvastatin on Plasma Membrane Phospholipid Composition	159
Figure	<b>5.6</b> Effect of Simvastatin on Phosphatidylcholine species	160
Figure	<b>5.7</b> Effect of Simvastatin on Phosphatidylethanolamine species	161
Figure	<b>5.8</b> Effect of Simvastatin on Phosphatidylserine species	162
Figure	<b>5.9</b> Effect of Simvastatin on Phosphatidylinositol species	163
Figure	<b>5.10</b> Composition of free Cholesterol and Phosphatidylcholine species in	165
	the Plasma Membrane	

## Chapter 6: Clinical Trail: Can Simvastatin Improve Neutrophil Functions in the Healthy Elderly

Figure 6.1 Serum Cholesterol levels throughout the Trial Protocol	181
Figure 6.2 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Chemokinesis in Response to IL8	184
or fMLP	
Figure 6.3 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Chemotaxis in Response to IL8	185
or fMLP	
Figure 6.4 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Persistence in Response to IL8	187
or fMLP	
Figure 6.5 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Chemotactic Index in Response to	188
IL8 or fMLP	

Figure 6.6 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Adherence when migrating	190
towards IL8 or fMLP	
Figure 6.7 Effect of Simvastatin on Percentage of Migrating Neutrophils in	192
Response to IL8 or fMLP	
Figure 6.8 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Time to First Movement in	193
Response to IL8 or fMLP	
Figure 6.9 Neutrophil Phagocytosis of S.aureus and E.coli	195
Figure 6.10 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil ROS Production in Response to	197
fMLP, PMA or IL8	

#### **Chapter 7: Discussion**

Figure 7.1 Proposed Age-Related Altera	ons in Leading Edge Signalling	209
--	--------------------------------	-----

#### List of Tables

#### Page Number

Chapter 1: Introduction	
Table 1.1 Parameters of the Immune Risk Phenotype (IRP)	8
Table 1.2 Innate Immune-senescence	12
Table 1.3 Neutrophil Granule Constituents	19
Table 1.4 Function of Heterotrimeric G-protein Subunits	29
Table 1.5 PI3Kinase Isoforms in Mammalian Cells	36
Table 1.6 Current Literature Examining the Effects of Increasing Chronological	66
Age on Neutrophil Migration	

#### **Chapter 2: Methods**

Table 2.1 Chemoattractant Dose Responses	74
Table 2.2 PI3Kinase Inhibitor Concentrations	75
Table 2.3 Antibody Titrations	80
Table 2.4 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Retrospective Cohort Study	87

#### **Chapter 3: Neutrophil Functions in the Healthy Elderly**

Table 3.1 Chemoattractant Dose Response	94
Table 3.2 Cohort Demographics	101
Table 3.3 Neutrophil Reactive Oxygen Species Production	111
Table 3.4 The Inflammatory Response During Pneumonia Infection	117

#### Chapter 5: Simvastatin and Migration in the Healthy Elderly

Table 5.1 Cohort Characteristics Split According to Statin Treatment	150
Table 5.2 Relationship between Predicted Probability of Death from Pneumonia	153
and Increasing Chronological Age	

# Chapter 6: Clinical Trail: Can Simvastatin Improve Neutrophil Functions in the Healthy Elderly

Table 6.1 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Statin Clinical Trial	174
Table 6.2 Subject Characteristics upon Enrolment	178
Table 6.3 Health Status of Study Participants throughout the Trial Protocol	180

#### List of Abbreviations

α1-AT	alpha1-Antitrypsin
α2M	α2-macroglobulin
AE	Adverse Events
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
Arp2/3	Actin-Related Protein-2/3
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
ADCC	Antibody Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity
AEBSF	4-(2-Aminoethyl) Benzensulfonyl Fluoride Hydrochloride
ANCA	Anti-neutrophil Associated Auto-Antibody
BHT	Butylated hydroxytoluene
BLT1/2	Leukotriene-B <sub>4</sub> Receptor 1/2
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMP	bis (monoacylglycerol) phosphate
BPI	Bacterial Permeability Increasing Protein
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
Btk	Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase
X <sup>2</sup>	Chi <sup>2</sup>
С	Cysteine
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein
C3	Complement Protein C3
C4	Complement Protein C4
C5a	Complement Protein 5a
C5aR	Complement Protein 5a Receptor
CAP	Community Acquired Pneumonia
Cer	Ceramide
CD	Cluster of differentiation

Cdc42	Cell Division Control Protein 42
CGD	Chronic Granulomatous Disease
СНО	Cholesterol
СК	Creatine Kinase
CL	Cardiolipin
CLP	Common Lymphoid Progenitor Cells
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CN	Cyclic Neutropenia
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
Cr	Creatinine
CR1	Complement Receptor-1
CR3	Complement Receptor-3
CRIB	Cell Division Control Protein 42/ Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate
	Interactive Binding Domain
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
СТР	Citidine-triphosphate
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DCs	Dendritic Cells
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEAs	Dehydroepiandrosterone-sulphate
DMPA	Dimyristoyl-phosphatidic Acid
DMPC	Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylcholine
DMPE	Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylethanolamine
DMPG	Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylglycerol
DMPS	Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylserine
DRFs	Diaphanous-Related Formins
DTT	Dithiothreitol

EBV	Epstein Barr Virus
ECL	Enhanced Chemiluminescence
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
E.coli	Escherichia coli
eGFR	estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate
ELISA	Enzyme-linked-immuno-sorbent assay
ENA78	Epithelial neutrophil activating protein 78
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
ERG	Ergosterol
ERK	Extracellular signal-related kinase
ESI-MS	Electrospray Ionisation Mass Spectroscopy
ESL-1	E-Selectin Ligand-1
F-actin	Filamentous Actin
FEV	Forced Expiratory Volume
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
fMLP	f-Met-Leu-Phe
FPP	Farnesyl Pyrophosphate
FPR1	fMLP Receptor-1
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
GalCer	Galactosylceramide
GAP	GTPase Activating Protein
G-CSF	Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor
GDF	Guanosine-diphosphate Dissociation Factor
GDI	Guanosine-diphosphate Dissociation Inhibitor
GDP	Guanosine-diphosphate
GEF	Guanine Exchange Factor
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein

GGP	Geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate
GM-CSF	Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor
GPCR	G-protein Coupled Receptor
GRK	G-protein-coupled Receptor Kinase
GROα	Growth Related Oncogene $\alpha$
GSL	Glycopshingolipids
GTP	Guanosine-triphosphate
H2A	Histone 2A
H2B	Histone 2B
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen Peroxide
Hb	Haemoglobin
HBSS	Hanks Balanced Salt Solution
HCI	Hydrochloric Acid
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperasineethanesulfonic acid
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
HIV1	Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1
HMG-CoA	5-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme-A
HOCI	Hypochlorous Acid
HM Kinase	Hydrophobic Motif Kinase
HPA	Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis
HRP	Horse-radish Peroxidase
HSC	Haematopoietic Stem Cell
HSP	Heat Shock Protein
ICAM1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IDL	Intermediate Density Lipoprotein
lgA	Immunoglobulin-A

lgG	Immunoglobulin-G
IgM	Immunoglobulin-M
IFNγ	Interferon-y
lκK	I kappa – Beta Kinase
IL	Interleukin
iNKT Cell	Invariant Natural Killer Cell
iNOS	Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase
INR	International Normalized Ratio
IP <sub>3</sub>	Inositol-triphosphate 3
IQR	Interquartile Range
IRP	Immune Risk Phenotype
ISL	Inositol sphingolipid
JAM-A	Junctional Adhesion Molecule-A
JNK	Jun N-terminus Kinase
К	Potassium
KC	Keratinocyte Chemoattractant
KCO	Gas Transfer Coefficient
KLRG1	Killer Cell Lectin-like Receptor subfamily G member 1
LAD	Leukocyte adhesion Deficiency
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
LFA1	Leukocyte Function Associated Antigen-1
LFT	Liver Function Tests
LHPC	Low-substituted Hyrdoxypropyl Cellulose
LIMK	LIM Kinase
LoS	Length of Stay
LPA	Lysophosphatidic Acid
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide

$LTB_4$	Leukotriene-B <sub>4</sub>
Mac1	Macrophage -1-antigen
MAPK	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
McI-1	Induced Myeloid Leukaemia Cell Differentiation Protein-1
MCP1	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein -1
mDCs	Myeloid Dendritic Cells
MEK	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase Kinase
MFI	Mean Fluorescence Intensity
MHC II	Major Histocompatibility Complex class II
MHRA	Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency
MLCK	Myosin Light Chain Kinase
MOPS	3-[N-Morpholino] Propanesulfonic Acid
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MRC	Medical Research Council
mTORC1/2	mammalian Target of Rapamycin Complex 1/2
Na	Sodium
Na <sub>3</sub> VO <sub>4</sub>	Sodium Orthovanadate
NAC	N-acetyl-L-cysteine
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
NaF	Sodium Fluoride
NAP2	Neutrophil Activating Peptide 2
NE	Neutrophil Elastase
NETs	Neutrophil Extracellular Traps
NF-ĸB	Nuclear Factor Kappa Beta
NHS	National Health Service
NK Cells	Natural Killer Cells

NKCC	Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity
NL	Neutral Loss
0 <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup>	Superoxide Radical
OH	Hydroxyl Radical
Р	Precursor
PA	Phosphatidic Acid
PAF	Platelet Activating Factor
PAK	p21 Activated Kinase
PAMP	Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
pDCs	Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells
PDK1	3-Phosphoinositide-Dependent Protein Kinase-1
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PECAM1	Platelet/Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1
PG	Phosphatidylglycerol
PH	Pleckstrin Homology
PHLPP1/2	Pleckstrin Homology Domain leucine-rich repeat-containing protein
	phosphatase 1/2
PI	Phagocytic Index
PI(3)P	phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate
PI(4)P	phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate
PI(3,4,5)P <sub>3</sub>	Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate
PI(3,4)P <sub>2</sub>	Phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate
PI(4,5)P <sub>2</sub>	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
PI3Kinase	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
РКВ	Protein Kinase B

PKC	Protein Kinase C
PMA	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
PMN	Polymorphonuclear Neutrophils
PP2A	Protein Phosphatase 2A
PPoD	Predicted Probability of Death
PS	Phosphatidylserine
PSGL-1	P-Selectin Glycoprotein Ligand-1
PL	Phospholipid
PLA <sub>2</sub>	Phospholipase A <sub>2</sub>
PLC	Phospholipase C
PLD	Phospholipase D
PR3	Proteinase-3
PRR	Pathogen Recognition Receptors
PTEN	Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog
PVDF	Polyvinylidene Difluoride
РҮН	Pack Year History
QEHB	Queen Elizabeth Hospital Birmingham
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
Rac	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate
RBD	Ras Binding Domain
RhoA	Ras homolog gene family member A
ROCK	Rho-associated Kinase
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
S.aureus	Staphylococcus aureus
SAE	Serions Adverse Events

SCAR	Suppressor of cAR
SCN	Severe Congenital Neutropenia
SD	Standard Deviation
SDF1	Stromal-cell Derived Factor-1
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
Ser	Serine
SHIP1	Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate 5-phosphatase
SIRS	Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome
SLPI	Secretory Leukocyte Peptidase Inhibitor
SOD	Superoxide Dismutase
SM	Sphingomyelin
SPH	Sphingosine
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TBS	Tris-buffered Saline
TG	Triacylglycerol
TGFβ	Transforming Growth Factor-β
Thr	Threonine
TLC	Total Lung Capacity
TLR	Toll-like Receptor
TSH	Thyroid Stimulating Hormone
TNFα	Tumour Necrosis Factor-α
TREM-1	Triggering Receptor Expressed in Myeloid Cells
TST	Thyroid Function Tests
Tyr	Tyrosine
U&E	Urea and Electrolytes
Ur	Urea

VLDL	Very Low Density Lipoprotein
VLA	Very Late Antigen
VZV	Varicella Zoster Virus
WASP	Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome Protein
WAVE	WASP family Verprolin-homologous protein
WBC	White Blood Cell
WTCRF	Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility
ZAP	Zymosan Activated Plasma

## **CHAPTER 1**

## INTRODUCTION

#### **1.0 Introduction**

The demographics of our population are changing; since 2001 the number of males aged 75 and over has increased by 26% [1]. Current projections estimate the proportion of our population aged > 60 years will reach 21% by 2050, a forecast based on past proportions in which older adults constituted 8% of the population in 1950 increasing to 10% in 2000 [2]. By 2034 it is anticipated that 23% of the UK population will be over 65 years of age with 5% over 85 years [3], proportions that will exceed those aged  $\leq$  16 years by 5% [4]. Driving these changes is the continual increase in life expectancy seen in the Western world, currently at a rate of approximately 2 years per decade [5]. Importantly, increments in lifespan are not matched by improvements in healthspan, defined as the number of years the average person can expect to remain in good health [5] thereby reducing guality of life in our later years and increasing healthcare utilisation which is associated with significant economic costs. For example, in-patient care for the treatment of community acquired pneumonia totalled £383.7 million of which 65% of admissions were in the 64 years and over age group [6]. Furthermore, in 2007 – 2008, heath care costs associated with a retired household totalled approximately £5,200 per annum; this is compared to £2,800 for a non-retired household [7] while department of health estimates suggest the average cost for provision of both hospital and community healthcare for a single adult aged ≥85 years is approximately 3 times that of an adult aged 65 - 74 years [7].

The link between mortality and ageing was first described by Benjamin Gompertz in 1889 when trying to model mortality rates mathematically. He wrote "*…the power to oppose destruction loses equal proportions in equal times*" [8], meaning that the older we get the less likely we are to survive. 123 years later we can now partly attribute the increased morbidity observed in old age to a progressive age-related decline in immune function. This is evidenced in part by:

2

(1) An increased incidence of infectious diseases in the elderly population of both bacterial and viral origin. This includes influenza [9], community acquired [10,11] and nosocomial pneumonia [12], urinary tract infections [13,14], tuberculosis [15,16], periodontitis [17] and shingles [18], the latter arising from re-activation of the varicella zoster virus (VZV) in older adults.

(2) Poorer outcomes of the elderly from infectious diseases including *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and staphylococcal infections [19], influenza [20] and community acquired pneumonia [21] among others.

(3) Increased incidence of chronic inflammatory and autoimmune conditions including diabetes [22,23], cardiovascular disease [24,25] and rheumatoid arthritis [26,27] in the elderly population.

#### 1.1 The Immune System

The immune system has evolved to protect the host from infection, disease and injury and must therefore have the ability to immediately respond to both new and returning pathogenic threats. To achieve this, the immune system operates in two component parts: the adaptive and the innate (see **Figure 1.1**), though it is now clear that there is continual communication between the two and this divide is artificial in reality.

The adaptive immune response refers to antigen-specific lymphocyte populations that respond to a large array of antigen epitopes and encompasses the subsequent development of immunological memory providing long-term protection against pathogens. It is also known as the acquired immune response and is mediated by clonal selection and expansion of T and B lymphocytes upon contact with antigen, with a fraction of cells retained after each infection to provide immune memory. However, as this arm of the immune response can take a number of days to reach an effective level of protection, initial immediate protection against invading pathogens is provided by the innate immune system, which is capable of responding in a matter of hours. This branch of the immune response is present in all individuals at all times, is not antigen specific and does not increase with repeated exposure to a given pathogen as the adaptive side does. The main cellular mediators of the innate response are: the granulocytes, which respond effectively to rapidly dividing bacteria, fungi and yeast; monocytes/macrophages, which play a role in antigen presentation to T cells and also in immunity to intracellular pathogens; Dendritic cells (DCs) which are the major antigen presenting cells; and natural killer (NK) cells which provide immunity to virally infected cells and cancer cells.



Figure 1.1 Mediators of the Innate and Adaptive Immune Response.

The innate immune compartment mediates the first response to infection providing immediate, non-specific protection. Components if the innate immune response include macrophages, natural killer cells, granulocytes (basophils, eosinophils and neutrophils), dendritic cells, mast cells and complement factors. Although, technically part of the innate compartment, dendritic cells also constitute a significant link between the innate and adaptive compartments in addition to cytotoxic lymphocytes such as  $\gamma \delta$  T cells and Natural Killer T cells. The adaptive immune compartment responds much slower, generating protection hours of days after activation however, this compartment is highly specific and generates immunological memory. The adaptive response is mediated by antibodies, B cells and CD4+ and CD8+ T cells.

Figure taken directly from [28]

#### 1.2 Ageing and the Immune System

Ageing has been defined as a progressive, universal and intrinsic process that results in an increasing probability of death secondary to pathology [29], while Rossi *et al* [30] propose that ageing is characterized by a failure to maintain tissue homeostasis or return to normal homeostatic condition after exposure to stress or injury. The age-related decline or remodelling of the immune system was first described as immune-senescence by Makinodam and Kay [31] and manifests as an impairment of both cell-mediated and humoral immunity.

#### 1.2.1 Adaptive Immune-senescence

Alterations in the adaptive immune compartment as a consequence of increasing age have been encompassed within the immune risk phenotype (IRP). This describes a set of immune parameters associated with poor immune function and increased mortality. The proportion of individuals within the population that satisfy the criteria of the IRP increases with advancing age [32].

The IRP was initially characterised by an altered ratio of CD4<sup>+</sup>:CD8<sup>+</sup> cells (i.e. <1.0) with reduced proliferation to the T cell mitogen, Concanavalin A, [33]. An inverted CD4<sup>+</sup>:CD8<sup>+</sup> ratio appears to be the result of both a reduction in the number of CD4<sup>+</sup> and an increase in CD8<sup>+</sup> cells. Immune senescence is also marked by atrophy of the thymus, which begins from puberty, and a decrease in the naive: memory ratio for T cells. The latter may be due to an attempt to maintain T cell homeostasis after thymic atrophy by expansion of the peripheral T cell pool [34,35]. Over subsequent years, the IRP has been expanded by various groups and now includes additional parameters including decreased telomerase activity and shortened telomeres in lymphocytes, cytomegalovirus (CMV) seropositivity, thymic atrophy and reduced CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells among others, forming what we now recognise as a more comprehensive IRP (see **Table 1.1**).

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a latent  $\beta$ -herpes virus present within 60-85% of the western population and approximately 80-90% of adults aged over 65 years [36]. CMV infection is thought to be a contributing factor to the development of the IRP and associated immunesenescence, and the driving force behind the accumulation of CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup>T cells [34]. CD28 is a co-stimulatory molecule required for full activation of T cells, of which reduced expression results in development of cellular anergy leading to limited activation and cytokine secretion. These cells have also been shown to be terminally differentiated [37] and exhibit an increased resistance to apoptosis [38]. In addition the terminally differentiated cells begin to express receptors normally associated with NK cells, such as NKG2D and killer cell lectinlike receptor subfamily G member-1 (KLRG1) [39], they also express cytotoxic granules [40]. As a result these senescent T cells are able to react more easily to the self-antigens recognised by the NK cell receptors, thus making older adults more prone to autoimmune disease. Taken together these alterations result in the accumulation of dysfunctional, autoimmune-prone, senescent T-cells that remain in the circulation, taking up immunological space, thus preventing formation of new immunological memory to novel pathogens and vaccines [41]. Older adults are thus more at risk from outbreaks of novel pathogens.

**Table 1.1** Parameters of the Immune Risk Phenotype (IRP)

#### Parameter

 $CD4^+:CD8^+$  Ratio  $\leq 1$ 

Thymic Atrophy

Decrease in the number of naïve (CD8<sup>+</sup> CD45RA CCR7<sup>+</sup>) cell in the periphery

Reduced T cell proliferation (related to reduced IL2 secretion and sensitivity)

Accumulation of memory T cells

Reduced numbers of B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>)

CMV Seropositivity

Accumulation of CMV specific CD3<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> CD28<sup>-</sup> cells

Reduced Telomerase activity and subsequent telomere length

IL2, Interleukin-2; CMV, Cytomegalovirus

Natural ageing is also associated with the development of a chronic, systemic, sub-clinical inflammatory state termed inflamm-ageing [42]. This term, describes the increased levels of serum pro-inflammatory cytokines including Interleukin-6 (IL6), Tumour Necrosis Factor-α (TNFα) and acute phase proteins such as C-reactive Protein (CRP) [42-45]. It is also now recognised that ageing is accompanied by reduced levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines, notably interleukin-10 (IL10) [43] which contribute to inflamm-ageing. CMV was initially thought to be causally associated with the development of inflamm-ageing; however, recent studies have called this into question by demonstrating the development of inflamm-ageing in the absence of CMV infection [43]. Nevertheless, a number of candidates remain as potential drivers of inflamm-ageing including the presence of other latent viruses such as Epstein Barr Virus (EBV), increased adiposity (and the concomitant increase in adipokine production) [46,47] and a sedentary lifestyle [48]. It has also been proposed that chronic antigen exposure and subsequent immune exhaustion over the lifetime may contribute to inflamm-ageing [49].

Anti-inflamm-ageing is a term used to describe the activation of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis to produce a number of immune-modulatory hormones in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines [50,51] including IL6 and TNF $\alpha$  [52]. Most notably, hormones produced include cortisol, a well-characterised corticosteroid produced by the adrenal glands with powerful immunosuppressive effects [53] and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), an immune enhancing hormone [54] which is found in the serum in its sulphated form dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate (DHEAs) [55]. An elegant balance exists between cortisol and DHEAs in regulating immune function however, in the elderly, this ratio shifts resulting in an increased cortisol:DHEAs ratio and a propensity for immune suppression [56]. This shift is driven by a gradual decline in the production of DHEAs and maintenance of cortisol levels across the life span, termed adrenopause [57]. Serum DHEAs concentrations peak around 24-30 years in males and 19-24years in females and decline thereafter to approximately 14%

9

of that maximal peak in males and 20% of maximum in females by the seventh decade [58,59].

Whether HPA activation is the result of chronic stress or an attempt to re-establish homeostasis as a result of the heightened pro-inflammatory state observed in the elderly remains to be determined. It is however, safe to conclude that the synergistic action of inflamm-ageing and anti-inflamm-ageing has consequences for immune function and may contribute to the senescent state observed in the elderly due to chronic low level stimulation of the immune system. Ultimately this renders these elderly individuals susceptible to infection, autoimmunity and disease. In addition low level systemic inflammation is now known to be a significant pathogenic factor in the major age-related conditions such as atherosclerosis [60], dementia [61] and sarcopenia [62].

Together, inflamm-ageing, the IRP and anti-inflamm-ageing document wide spread senescence within the adaptive and humoral compartments indicating significant immune remodelling as we age. A major clinical consequence of this is the reduced ability of the elderly population to produce a protective antibody titre and maintain that titre over time following vaccination against a number of pathogens including diphtheria, tetanus, polio [63], pneumococcal pneumonia [64] and influenza [65]. After initial vaccination, booster injections are recommended every 10 years in the UK irrespective of the age of the recipient. Unfortunately, protective titres are rarely maintained over this time period, particularly adults aged over 60 years: 10 years post-vaccination, of 734 donors tested, 20% of recipients aged over 60 years no longer retained a protective titre. In fact, a significant proportion of recipients aged over 60 years (16%) were unable to maintain a protective titre just 5 years following vaccination [66]. In persons under the age of 60 years, antibody titres below the level that confers protection only occurred in <3% of subjects tested [66]. This study suggests that current vaccination strategies leave too many people over 60 years unprotected resulting in increased morbidity and mortality from many vaccine-preventable diseases. New strategies are needed to combat this phenomenon including an increased

10
frequency of vaccination and the development of new vaccines utilizing antigens and adjuvants specifically tailored toward the ageing immune system.

### 1.2.2 Innate Immune-senescence

The innate immune compartment consists of a number of cell types working synergistically to provide near-immediate, non-specific protection from infection (see **Figure 1.1**). Monocytes fulfil this requirement two fold by possessing their own anti-microbial arsenal but also through differentiation into tissue resident macrophages, which patrol the tissues and alert the immune system to potential pathogenic threats, through secretion of cytokines and presentation of antigen-derived peptides. Macrophages are also professional phagocytes capable of phagocytosis and production of toxic metabolites. Neutrophils are the first cell type to be recruited to the site of infection where they mediate host protection in much the same was as macrophages as they are professional phagocytes themselves. NK cells exist to protect against viral infection, whilst DCs constitute the major link to initiation of the adaptive arm of the immune response through antigen presentation and cytokine secretion. **Table 1.2** details the age-related changes observed in this compartment with the notable exception of neutrophils of which their development and function will be discussed in detail in later sections as these cells are the focus of this thesis.

Cell Type		Eff	ect of Ageing	Reference
Monocytes	Number	$\leftrightarrow$	Unchanged	[67.68]
	Composition		Classical (CD14 <sup>+</sup> CD16 <sup>-</sup> )	[69]
	•	Ť	Non-Classical (CD14 <sup>+</sup> CD16 <sup>+</sup> )	[67,69]
	Function	Ļ	Chemotaxis	[70]
Macrophages	Number	$\downarrow$	Frequency (alveolar macrophages)	[71]
	Function	↓	Chemotaxis	[70]
			Increased	[72,73]
			Unchanged	[/4] [75 76]
			Decreased DOC Droduction	[75,76]
		Ļ	RUS Production	[77-79]
	Signalling	↓ ↓		[00-03] [94 95]
	Signaling	Ļ		[04,00]
		$\downarrow$	TLR Signalling Impaired	[81,82]
pDCs	Number	$\leftrightarrow$	Unclear Reduced Unchanged	[86-89] [86-91]
	Function	↓	Cytokine Secretion	[86,87,89,92,93]
	Signalling	Ļ	ILR-7 and -9 Expression	[86,87]
mDCs	Function	↓ I	Stimulatory Capacity	[93] [93]
IIID 03	1 directori	$\downarrow$	IFNy Production	[96,97]
NK Cells	Number Composition Function	$\uparrow \uparrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$	Increased Mature CD57 <sup>+</sup> NK Cells NKCC ADCC Cytokine Production	[98-101] [99,100,102] [101,103,104] [100,105,106] [107-110]
	Signalling	$\downarrow$	KLRG1 & NKG2A Expression	[98,100,111]
iNKT Cells	Number Function	$\downarrow$	Reduced IFNγ Production	[112] [112,113]

Table 1.2 Innate Immune-senescence

Immune-senescence of the cell-mediated arm of the innate immune response.

MHC II, Major Histocompatibility Complex class II; TLR Toll-like Receptor; pDCs, plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell; mDCs myeloid Dendritic Cell; IFNγ, Interferon-γ; iNKT Cell, Invariant Natural Killer T Cell; NK Cell, Natural Killer Cell, NKCC; Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity, ADCC, Antibody Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity, KLRG1, Killer Cell Lectin-like Receptor subfamily G member-1.

# **1.3 Neutrophil Immune-senescence**

Neutrophils form our first line of defence against bacterial infection and are the first cells to be recruited to the site of infection. In times of inflammation and infection, neutrophils leave the circulation and migrate into the tissues where they act in concert with tissue resident macrophages to neutralize and eliminate potentially pathogenic material utilising a diverse range of anti-microbial machinery. The absolute requirement of neutrophils in host defence is demonstrated in patients with chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) (reviewed in [114]) or leukocyte adhesion deficiency (LAD) syndrome (reviewed in [115]) who are extremely susceptible to bacterial and fungal infections which are often fatal. Underlying these pathologies are mutations in genes encoding key components of a neutrophils anti-microbial arsenal resulting in loss of function and ultimately compromising host defences.

## 1.3.1 Neutrophil Development

Cells of the immune system are derived from, and are subsequently replenished throughout life by haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) which reside within the bone marrow. During development, HSCs commit to either the myeloid (granulocytes, monocytes, megakaryocytes and erythrocytes) or lymphoid (T and B cells, NK cells) lineage and populate the immune system. Cells of the myeloid lineage leave the bone marrow as fully mature cells whereas T and B cells leave the bone marrow as immature cells, with maturation occurring in the thymus and lymphoid organs respectively. Neutrophil maturation occurs in six stages, each characterised by the presence or absence of cell surface markers, granule subsets and nuclear morphology (see **Figure 1.2**).



Figure 1.2 Neutrophil Bone Marrow Development.

Neutrophil development occurs in the bone marrow in 6 stages. (i) Myeloblast: an undifferentiated cell with a large nucleus and nucleolus, free from cytoplasmic granules; (ii) Promyelocyte: characterized by its large size, rounded nucleus and the first appearance of the azurophil granules in the cytoplasm; (iii) Myelocyte: large rounded nucleus with the first appearance of specific granules (iv) Metamyelocyte: exhibiting a kidney bean shaped nucleus with a mixed cytoplasmic granule population, at this stage in development, subsets lose their ability to proliferate becoming post-mitotic; (v) Band Cell: contains a condensed band shaped nucleus, and the first appearance of cytoplasmic gelatinase granules (vi) Mature Neutrophil: Nuclear constituents further condense forming the characteristic multi-lobed nucleus of peripheral blood neutrophils with the first appearance of cytoplasmic secretory vesicles (vii) Release into the blood stream.

Under steady-state conditions, fully mature neutrophils are released into the circulation at a rate of approximately 5x10<sup>10</sup> - 1x10<sup>11</sup> cells/day [116] with numbers differing depending on age, gender, ethnicity and smoking status [117]. Adult caucasian females have approximately 7.4x10<sup>9</sup> neutrophils/litre and caucasian adult males 7.2x10<sup>9</sup> neutrophils/litre at any one time throughout the day [117]. Once in the circulation, neutrophils were widely thought to have a half-life of approximately 6-10 hours [116,118-122] due to the constitutive expression of the anti-apoptotic protein induced myeloid leukaemia cell differentiation protein-1 (Mcl-1), levels of which decline rapidly when cells are isolated from the blood and show a positive association with neutrophil survival [123]. However, neutrophil half-life has recently come under scrutiny with a new estimate, established using in vivo isotope labelling techniques, putting the half-life at 5.4 days [124]. During an infectious insult and in response exposure to pro-inflammatory cytokines and bacterial products such to as granulocyte/macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), Interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL1 $\beta$ ), Interferon-y (IFNy) and Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [123,125], neutrophil output from the bone marrow increases approximately 10-fold [126] and the typical half-life of a neutrophil increases to 115 hours [125].

A number of factors are involved in the development of HSCs into mature neutrophils including differential expression of transcription factors, including CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBPs) and PU.1 [127], proteins including the small GTPase Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate (Rac2) [128] and soluble factors such as granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), GM-CSF and interleukin-3 (IL3) [129,130]. Of these three factors, G-CSF seems to be the dominant factor in generating mature neutrophils as mice lacking the G-CSF gene (G-CSF<sup>-/-</sup>) exhibit a 73% significant reduction in the number of mature neutrophils in the circulation compared to their wild type (G-CSF<sup>+/+</sup>) counterparts [129]. Regulation of G-CSF levels within the bone marrow is also involved in the resolution of inflammation utilizing a feedback mechanism which also includes Interleukin-23 (IL23), and Interleukin-17 (IL17). Uptake of apoptotic neutrophils by tissue resident macrophages, a

process known as efferocytosis, induces a reduction in the secretion of IL23 by macrophages and DCs and IL17 by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells with an ensuing reduction in bone marrow G-CSF levels [131]. This results in reduced neutrophil release into the circulation and therefore restores homeostasis.

Within the hematopoietic stem cell compartment, a number of age-related changes have been observed. CD34, an adhesion molecule whose expression is gradually lost during development, is used to identify hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells present within the bone marrow and circulation. Numbers of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells in the bone marrow remain unchanged with age [130], however, increasing age negatively correlates with the number of circulating CD34<sup>+</sup> cells [132]. Within the circulation, CD34<sup>+</sup> cells contribute to vascular health due to their endothelial progenitor cell capacity, hence the reduced frequency of these cells associates with increased risk of cardiovascular disease [133].

With increasing age there is also a shift in the homeostatic control of HSC differentiation favouring progenitors of the myeloid lineage at the expense of common lymphoid progenitor cells (CLP) [30,134,135]. This imbalance can be traced back to the genomic level with 70% of lymphoid genes differentially expressed in aged HSCs were found to be down-regulated while 76% of differentially expressed myeloid genes were up-regulated [30]. Modulation in this manner appears not to result from modification of the genes themselves but instead from epigenetic dysregulation [136]. This phenomenon seems to have a greater impact on the adaptive immune response and although it is worth noting, it does not appear to have an effect on the number of late myeloid progenitors in the bone marrow [130,137] or mature neutrophils in the circulation [130,138].

Fully mature neutrophils can be found within the bone marrow, circulation and liver/spleen, with each compartment comprising 15%, 40% and 45% of the total marginated granulocyte pool [139]. If, and when, exposed to an inflammatory signal, neutrophils leave these sites and migrate through tissue to the site of infection where they mediate host defence by phagocytosing, eliminating and preventing further dissemination of pathogenic material.

### 1.3.2 Neutrophil Anti-microbial Functions

Neutrophils have three main mechanisms for killing microbial targets: phagocytosis followed by generation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species; release of degradative granule contents; and extracellular killing via neutrophil extracellular traps. Intracellular mediators of neutrophil anti-microbial functions are fully developed upon release from the bone marrow and are stored throughout the life of a neutrophil ready to be employed as soon as the appropriate stimulus is received thus mediating host defence.

#### 1.3.2.1 Neutrophil Degranulation

Upon egression from the bone marrow, neutrophils contain anti-microbial proteins and proinflammatory mediators utilized during an immune response in addition to a number of surface receptors and membrane proteins all of which are stored in four distinct granule and secretory vesicle subsets: the azurophil (primary), specific (secondary) and gelatinase (tertiary) granules and finally secretory vesicles, named according to their order of appearance during neutrophil development [140]. When the appropriate stimulus is received, granule release, known as degranulation, occurs in a hierarchical manner [141]. Neutrophils isolated from the inflammatory exudate obtained from a blister model of skin inflammation demonstrate 38.1% release of gelatinase, 21.9% of specific and 7% azurophil granule release with complete release of secretory vesicles [142]. Azurophil granules are thought to play a major role in the degradation of phagosomal contents [143] owing to the nature of antimicrobial and cytotoxic proteins such as neutrophil elastase, myeloperoxidase (MPO) and cathepsin G which may account for their limited extracellular release upon stimulation. Granule contents are determined by their presence or absence during the developmental process, which is known as the targeting by timing hypothesis [144]. Azurophil granules are identified by the presence of MPO [145] whereas the presence of gelatinase but absence of lactoferrin denotes gelatinase granules [146] (see Table 1.3). There are also a number of protein markers specific for different granule subsets, for example CD63, CD67 and annexin I which identify the azurophil, specific and gelatinase granules respectively [147-149] while alkaline phosphatase and CD35 (CR1) have been used as markers of secretory vesicles [142].

Neutrophil functionality is mediated by synergistic granule release. For instance, proteins contained within all three granule subtypes are required for efficient production of reactive oxygen species [146]. In addition, mobilisation of secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane is thought to be the source of the adhesion complex CD11b/CD18 (Macrophage -1-antigen, Mac-1) which mediates firm adhesion upon the endothelium and allows extravasation from the circulation. CD11b (stored within the specific and gelatinase granules and the secretory vesicles) is also involved in recognition of complement protein C3bi and therefore mediates phagocytosis of opsonised material.

Acting in unison, granules and their contents are thus able to modify both the neutrophil surface phenotype, and the extracellular environment as well as being critical mediators of anti-microbial functions.

To date, there are few reports regarding the effect of ageing on neutrophil degranulation and the release of proteases. In 1990, MacGregor *et al* [150] found that the proportions of both  $\beta$ -glucuronidase in primary granules or vitamin B-12 binding protein in secondary granules was not affected by increased chronological age; nor did they find any change in the extent to which granules were released either spontaneously i.e. in the resting state, or following stimulation with fMLP [150]. This is supported by Dalboni *et al* [151] who demonstrated maintenance of elastase activity in neutrophils from old donors when compared with those from young donors in response to 10ng/ml IL8 [151].

	Azurophil	Specific	Gelatinase	Secretory
	Granules	Granules	Granules	Vesicles
Membrane	CD63	CD11b/CD18	CD11b/CD18	CD11b/CD18
		Cytochrome b558	Cytochrome b <sub>558</sub>	Cytochrome b558
		fMLP-R	fMLP-R	fMLP-R
		G-protein α-subunit		CD16
		Leukolysin	Leukolysin	Leukolysin
		TNF-R		CD45
Cytosol	α1-antitrypsin	Collagenase	Acetyltransferase	Plasma Proteins
	BPI	Gelatinase	Gelatinase	
	Cathepsins	Lactoferrin		
	Defensins			
	Elastase			
	MPO			
	Proteinase-3			
	Lysozyme	Lysozyme	Lysozyme	

# Table 1.3 Neutrophil Granule Constituents

BPI, Bacterial Permeability Protein; MPO, Myeloperoxidase; fMLP-R, fMLP

Receptor; TNF-R, TNF Receptor;

Adapted from [152]

### 1.3.2.2 Phagocytosis

Phagocytosis is the process by which foreign or altered-self material is recognised and internalised into a membrane bound vesicle via cytoskeletal re-modelling in a receptormediated manner. Following ingestion a complex network of intracellular signalling pathways are activated resulting in the degradation of ingested material [153]. These events include phagosome fusion with lytic granules, assembly of the enzyme nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH oxidase; see the following section for more detail) and production of pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines. Depending on the type of material ingested, the secretory cytokine profile of these cells can be altered i.e. ingestion of pathogenic material initiates production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF $\alpha$  and IL8 [154] whereas ingestion of apoptotic cells induces secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 (TGF $\beta$ 1), Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> [155] commencing the resolution of inflammation.

A diverse repertoire of receptors expressed on the neutrophil surface are capable of stimulating phagocytosis, these include but are not limited to, Fcy Receptors (FCyRII [CD32] and FcyRIII [CD16]), which recognise antibody opsonised material and complement receptors (CR1 [CD35] and CR3 [CD11b]) which recognise complement opsonised material [156,157].

With ageing, a number of groups have observed a reduction in the phagocytic ability of neutrophils to a variety of stimuli including opsonised yeast [158-160]; *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S.aureus*) [161] and *Escherichia coli* (*E.coli*) [138,161].

Potential underlying mechanisms for reduced phagocytic ability in the elderly have been studied with a number of likely candidates put forward. Opsonisation marks material for destruction making phagocytosis more efficient. Major opsonins within the immune system are serum immunoglobulins and complement proteins. Serum concentrations of immunoglobulin-M (IgM) are significantly lowered with age whilst immunoglobulin-G (IgG) and immunoglobulin-A (IgA) concentrations remain unaltered [150]. Serum complement

proteins C3 and C4, show a 19% and 57% increase respectively in the elderly, however, values for both immunoglobulins and complement proteins remain within the normal clinical range [150] and are therefore unlikely to be driving reduced phagocytic function. In addition, surface expression of a number of phagocytic receptors remains unchanged with age including TLR2 and 4 [162], the fMLP receptor [163] and CR3 (CD11b) [138]. However, surface expression of FcγRIII (CD16) is significantly reduced on neutrophils from elderly donors and positively correlates with the observed reduction in phagocytic index [138]. At present, no studies have considered the effects of age on surface expression of other receptor for TLR4 in recognising lipopolysaccharide (LPS)), CD32 or CD35 and therefore defects in phagocytic ability cannot yet be fully attributed to reduced CD16 expression alone. However, phagocytosis of gram-positive bacteria such as *S.aureus*, is highly dependent on Fc receptors [164] and therefore may contribute to the increased incidence of *S.aureus* infection evident in the elderly population [165].

### 1.3.2.3 ROS Production

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) is an umbrella term that refers to a number of free radical oxidising species such as superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ) and hydroxyl species (OH<sup>-</sup>) as well as non-radical oxidising species such as hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) and hypochlorous acid (HOCI) [166]. ROS are produced primarily through the action of the enzyme NADPH oxidase [167], which is assembled on the phagosome membrane during maturation [168]. NADPH oxidase transfers electrons from NADPH onto molecular oxygen to produce the radical  $O_2^-$  in a process known as the respiratory burst. This free radical is then metabolised by superoxide dismutase (SOD) to produce  $H_2O_2$ , which in itself is cytotoxic but can also be further metabolised by MPO, delivered to the phagosome through fusion with primary granules, to produce HOCI. In the basal state, the 5 subunits of NADPH oxidase reside independently, either membrane bound (p22<sup>phox</sup> and cytochrome b<sub>558</sub>, also known as gp91<sup>phox</sup>), or in the

cytosol (p40<sup>phox</sup>, p47<sup>phox</sup> and p67<sup>phox</sup>) and are assembled on the phagosome or plasma membrane along with the small GTPase Rac2 in response to stimulation [169]. In addition, other GTPases such as Arf protein family members, particularly Arf6 have been shown to be required for activation of NADPH oxidase in a phospholipase-D (PLD) dependent manner [170].

Production of ROS are vital for maintaining the anti-microbial defences of neutrophils and macrophages, but also have a role in maintaining homeostasis in the absence of inflammation, acting as second messengers in a number of signalling pathways (such as tyrosine kinase activation [171], NF-κB [172] and Protein Kinase C (PKC) [173] activation) and as electron carriers in the electron transport chain.

The literature on the effect of age on the production of ROS is contradictory. A number of groups have reported a reduction in the levels of  $O_2^-$  produced in response to GM-CSF and fMLP stimulation [174-177] while other groups have reported enhanced ROS production (particularly H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) by neutrophils from elderly donors [178,179]. This discrepancy has been clarified recently with ROS production varying across stimuli, including the response to grampositive or gram-negative bacteria. Neutrophils from elderly donors exhibit a significant reduction in ROS production in response to stimulation with *S.aureus* (grampositive) compared to neutrophils from young donors, however, when stimulated with *E.coli* (gramnegative), neutrophils from old donors demonstrated a maintained ability to produce ROS when compared to young donors [161]. Wenisch *et al* [161] postulated this discrepancy is due to the differential effects of ageing on receptor surface expression and the related signal transduction pathways e.g. the CD14-dependent, calcium-independent pathways involved in ROS production in response to *E.coli* but not *S.aureus* [161].

# 1.3.2.4 Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)

In 2004 Brinkmann *et al* [180] described a novel neutrophil function that was believed to have extracellular anti-microbial properties persisting beyond the typical neutrophil lifespan. This

function was termed Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) and refers to the presence of neutrophil granule and nuclear constituents in an extracellular web-like structure made up of a chromatin backbone studded with cytoplasmic and granule proteins including histones (specifically H2A and H2B), MPO, serine proteases (neutrophil elastase, proteinase 3 and Cathepsin G), bacterial permeability increasing protein (BPI), lactoferrin and calprotectin [180-182]. Not only does the chromatin backbone provide the structural support for these anti-microbial proteins maintaining a high, localised concentration and potentially preventing collateral damage from these proteins, it also is hypothesised to limit microbial spread by physically trapping the bacteria and bringing them into direct contact with the anti-microbial proteins. A number of organisms that have been shown to bind to NETs include S.aureus [180], Streptococcus pneumoniae [183], Salmonella typhimurium [180] and the yeast Candida albicans [184]. NETs have also been shown to have both anti-fungal, mediating protection against fungal hyphae too large to be phagocytosed [184] and anti-viral activity against human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV1) mediating viral capture and subsequent elimination [185]. However, it is possible that the anti-viral activity of NETs is virus specific as NET formation is not required for protection against influenza infection [186].

Owing to their recent discovery, there is limited knowledge on the effect of increasing chronological age on NET production. Using a mouse model of severe skin infection, Tseng *et al* [187] demonstrated a reduced ability of neutrophils from aged mice to produce NETs in response to infectious stimuli with a concomitant increase in bacterial dissemination throughout the host [187]. As the production of reactive oxygen species has been shown to be essential in the formation of NETs [167], and since old age results in a stimuli-dependent reduction in ROS production [161] it is conceivable that NET production would decline with increasing age and may also be stimuli specific.

Of course the efficiency of these anti-microbial functions would be irrelevant should neutrophils be unable to migrate from the blood stream to the site of aggression be that of infection or injury. The ability to migrate, mechanisms controlling directional migration and

the effects of age on this process form the focus of this thesis and shall therefore be discussed in much greater detail than other neutrophil functions

### **1.4 Neutrophil Chemotaxis**

Chemotaxis is the process of directed movement along a chemotactic gradient observed in many areas of cell biology and development including egress of immune cells from the bone marrow, neuronal development in the brain [188], leukocyte homing to the thymus [189], angiogenesis [190], re-epithelialisation mediating wound healing [191], metastasis [192] and immune defence against disease, injury and infection [193].

Chemotaxis begins with extravasation, the process whereby neutrophils leave the blood stream by adhering to and then transmigrating through the vascular endothelium. In order to begin extravasating from the blood stream, the endothelium itself must first become activated. This occurs following exposure to pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF $\alpha$  and IL8 produced by tissue resident macrophages in response to infection [194-196]. This induces the expression of a number of adhesion markers on the endothelial surface e.g. Pand E- Selectin, which bind P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) and E-selectin ligand-1 (ESL-1) respectively on the neutrophil surface inducing transient tethering allowing the neutrophils to roll along the vasculature [197,198]. This allows neutrophil recognition of chemotactic signals inducing neutrophil activation and delivery of  $\beta 1$  and  $\beta 2$  integrins, particularly Mac1 (aMB2; a heterodimer consisting of CD11b and CD18) and leukocyte function associated antigen-1 (LFA1, αLβ2; a heterodimer of CD11a and CD18) stored within the cytoplasmic granules to the cell surface [199,200]. Cellular activation results in a conformational change within β2 integrins [201] allowing recognition of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expressed on the endothelium. Ligation of integrins with endothelial ligands induces firm adhesion and arrest of rolling neutrophils onto the vasculature [199]. Platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1; CD31), CD99 and junctional

adhesion molecule-A (JAM-A) then facilitate homing to cell junctions allowing migration through the endothelium in a process known as diapedesis [202].

Two modes of diapedesis through the endothelium have been demonstrated: paracellular and transcellular [203]. Paracellular migration describes migration through the tight junctions between adjacent endothelial cells while transcellular migration describes migration through a pore an individual endothelial cell [204]. These modes of migration are thought to arise following the formation of 'invadosome-like protrusions', actin-dependent protrusive structures that 'probe' the endothelium finding sites at which diapedesis can occur [204]. Interestingly, vascular permeability does not appear to be affected by either mode of diapedesis due to formation of dome-like structures by endothelial cells encapsulating the migrating neutrophil and therefore preventing increases in vascular permeability [205]. Overall, the mechanisms driving diapedesis remain elusive however, blocking of PECAM-1 using monoclonal antibodies results in neutrophils that are capable of locating endothelial junctions but are unable to initiate diapedesis and are therefore unable to migrate out of the vasculature [206] whilst ICAM-1 has been shown to facilitate diapedesis by forming 'cup-like' structures around migrating cells guiding diapedesis [207,208].

Once through the endothelium neutrophils begin the process of tissue migration also referred to as interstitial migration. Initiation of this process begins with the interaction between a chemoattractant and their receptors on neutrophils. Neutrophils are exquisitely sensitive to gradients of chemotactic molecules demonstrating accurate movement in very shallow gradients – a 2% change in chemoattractant concentration across the length of the cell is capable of inducing robust migration [209]. Various lipid mediators such as Leukotriene-B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>) and platelet activating factor (PAF), complement proteins such as C5a and C3bi, inflammatory cytokines including IL8 and stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF1) and bacterial-derived proteins such as fMLP and LPS are all neutrophil chemoattractants.

Chemotactic cytokines, known as chemokines, are classified into 4 groups based in the position of the first two, highly conserved cysteine (C) residues within the chemokine

structure: CXC, CX<sub>3</sub>C, CC and C where X denotes an amino acid residue other than cysteine [210]. The CXC chemokine IL8 (CXCL8) is a particularly potent chemokine produced in response to inflammation mediating neutrophil extravasation from the blood stream and the initial stages of interstitial migration. Given the complex nature of the immune system, it is entirely plausible that a migrating neutrophil may be surrounded by multiple chemoattractants at any given time and must therefore navigate towards the most appropriate signal. To do this, neutrophils respond to chemoattractants in a hierarchical manner taking preference for 'end-target' chemoattractants over 'intermediary' chemoattractants. Heit et al [211] categorised intermediary chemoattractants e.g. IL8 and LTB<sub>4</sub>, as those that induce extravasation and bring neutrophils into the general vicinity of infection whereas 'end-target' chemoattractants are those produced directly by bacteria or through direct contact of immune components with bacteria e.g. fMLP and C5a and therefore hone directional migration to the site of infection. Therefore, not only do neutrophils respond to chemoattractants in a hierarchical manner [212] but chemoattractants themselves exist in distinct zones throughout the tissue guiding neutrophils directly and accurately to the site of infection or injury [213]. Production in this manner then requires neutrophils to ignore a particular chemoattractant once its source has been reached in order to continue toward the site of infection. This process is known as desensitisation and is achieved through internalisation of the chemoattractant receptor [211] a process involving G-protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) and  $\beta$ -arrestin (reviewed in [214]).

Most chemoattractants, and all thus far identified chemokine receptors, are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) composed of 7-transmembrane domains (3 extracellular and 3 intracellular loops) coupled to heterotrimeric guanine nucleotide binding proteins (G-proteins) at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane [210]. GPCRs constitute the largest superfamily of membrane receptors containing receptors for hormones, inflammatory mediators (both pro- and anti- inflammatory), lipids and calcium ions [215]. Known G-protein coupled chemoattractant receptors include CXCR1 (IL8-Ra) and CXCR2 (IL8-Rb) [210], FPR1 and 2

which recognise formylated peptides such as fMLP, C5a-receptor and BLT1 and 2 ( $LTB_4$  receptors) allowing neutrophils to respond to both intermediary and end-point chemoattractants.

G-proteins consist of 3 subunits  $-\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  that, in the quiescent state, exist as a single heterotrimeric protein with guanosine di-phosphate (GDP) associated to the  $\alpha$  subunit [216]. Interaction of the GPCR with its ligand causes a conformational change allowing the exchange of GDP for GTP (guanosine-tri-phosphate) by the G $\alpha$ -subunit and dissociation from the G<sub>β</sub>y-subunit [216,217]. This allows independent activation of a diverse and complex range of intracellular signalling pathways including PI3Kinase, PLC and small GTPases such as Ras- and Rac- GTPase (reviewed in [218]). Pathways activated by G-protein subunits are shown in **Table 1.4**. Heterogeneity between GPCR and the responses they elicit have been attributed to the combination of G-protein isoforms making up the complete protein. 4 classes of the  $\alpha$  subunit have been identified –  $G\alpha_{i/o}$ ,  $G\alpha_{a}$ ,  $G\alpha_{s}$  and  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  which share 45-80% homogeneity whilst 5  $\beta$ - and 12  $\gamma$ - isoforms have been identified exhibiting 27-75% homegenity and a high rate of post-translational modification [219]. GPCR mediated signalling is antagonised through the intrinsic GTPase activating protein (GAP) activity of the Ga subunit hydrolysing GTP, restoring GDP to the nucleotide binding pocket. This causes the Ga subunit to re-associate with the  $\beta\gamma$  subunit once again rendering the complex inactive (reviewed in [218,219]).

Through coupling of membrane receptors to G-proteins, neutrophils are thus able to respond to a number of stimuli co-ordinating the relevant cellular response that provides both host protection against infections and mediates tissue repair upon injury or damage.

However, in order for effective migration to occur through tissues, we hypothesise that the release of granule-specific proteases during migration remodels the extracellular matrix (ECM) and facilitates recruitment to the site of infection. The major proteases involved in this process are elastase (EC 3.4.21.37), cathepsin G (EC 3.4.21.20) and proteinase 3 (EC 3.4.21.76). These serine proteases are stored within the azurophil granules of neutrophils

and possess both anti-microbial and fungistatic ability [220]. Small amounts of neutrophil elastase have also been observed within mast cells, basophils [221] and tissue resident macrophages [222].

G-protein Subunit	Effect on Activity	Effectors
Gα <sub>s</sub>	Enhances	Adenylyl cyclases
		Src Tyrosine Kinases GTPase of Tubulin
Gα <sub>i</sub>	Reduces	Adenylyl cyclase
		Ca <sup>2+</sup> Channels
	Enhances	Erk Activation
		$K^+$ Channels
		GTPase of Tubulin
		Src Tyrosine Kinases
Gα <sub>q</sub>	Enhances	ΡLCβ
		$K^{+}$ Channels
		Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase
Gα <sub>12/13</sub>	Enhances	PLD
		ΡLCε
		iNOS
		p115 Rho-GEF
		E-cadherin-mediated cell adhesion HSP90
00	<b>-</b> .	
Gβγ	Enhances	
		K Unannels P Pox 1
		SRC Kinases
		GRK membrane recruitment
	Reduces	Adenylyl Cyclase I
	-	Ca <sup>2+</sup> Channels

# Table 1.4 Function of Heterotrimeric G-protein Subunits

ERK, Extracellular Related Kinase; GTP, Guanine-tri-phosphate; PLC, Phospholipase C; PLD, Phospholipase D; iNOS inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase; GEF, Guanine Exchange Factor; HSP, Heat Shock Protein; Pl3Kinase, Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase; GRK, G-protein coupled Receptor Kinase.

Adapted from [218]

#### 1.4.1 Serine Proteases as an aid to Migratory Processes

Upon neutrophil activation, serine proteases are released from the azurophil granules into either the extracellular space, although a proportion of this is retained within the plasma membrane [223-225], or released into the newly formed phagosome [226]. Importantly, serine proteases are also important mediators of non-oxidative host defence and act by facilitating transendothelial migration [223,227,228] and neutrophil detachment during migration [229]. Release of neutrophil elastase at the neutrophil leading edge mediates tissue digestion, allowing cells to move through dense tissue. The action of these proteases has also been associated with the progression of a number of chronic inflammatory diseases. For example, proteinase-3 (PR3) has been implicated in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and anti-neutrophil associated autoantibody (ANCA) associated vasculitis [230] with an increased risk of relapse associated with increased surface expression of PR3 [231]. Elastase has also been implicated in disease pathogenesis, with an active role for this protease (usually acting in conjunction with other proteases) in the progression of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [232-235] and RA [236,237]. Mutations in the gene encoding neutrophil elastase, ELA2, have also been identified in 50% of patients diagnosed with severe congenital neutropenia (SCN), an inborn disorder of granulopoiesis due to arrest in the differentiation of granulocyte precursors, and in all cases of cyclic neutropenia (CN), a less severe form of granulopoiesis. Both SCN and CN leave individuals particularly susceptible to infection and have an increased propensity to develop acute myeloid leukaemia and myelodysplasia [238].

Although release of azurophil granules is relatively limited when compared to secretory vesicles or gelatinase granules, sequential release of single azurophil granules into the extracellular space has been shown to occur during neutrophil migration, each with concomitant protease activity [223,239]. Neutrophil elastase is released from granules at a concentration of 5.33mM [240], a concentration 150-1500 times greater than that of its endogenous inhibitors -  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin ( $\alpha$ 1-AT, 32.8 $\mu$ M) [239], secretory leukocyte peptidase

inhibitor (SLPI, 11µM) [241] and  $\alpha$ 2-macroglobulin ( $\alpha$ 2M, 3.5µM) [242] resulting in an area of obligate tissue damage at the point of release. Away from the point of release, the concentration of elastase decreases exponentially thus allowing inactivation of the protease once the elastase:inhibitor ratio has reached 1:1. At this point, protease activity is abolished by the action of local inhibitors,  $\alpha$ 1AT inhibiting free elastase in an irreversible manner and SLPI reversibly inhibiting membrane bound elastase [225], however this does not arise until a localised area of protease mediated tissue destruction has occurred, a phenomenon termed 'quantum proteolysis'.

Endogenous substrates for these proteases encompasses a number of extracellular matrix components including elastin [243], fibronectin [244] and collagen [245] however out of the three serine proteases, neutrophil elastase is the most potent due its ability to degrade the vast majority of extracellular matrix components (reviewed in [246]). This makes neutrophil elastase a particularly powerful protease at mediating large-scale tissue damage, particularly during interstitial migration. Consequences of matrix degradation are undoubtedly negative when prolonged, for example in the context chronic inflammatory diseases or in the absence of protease inhibitors e.g.  $\alpha$ 1-AT deficiency. However, matrix degradation when adequately regulated, may also facilitate interstitial migration by exposing extracellular matrix components and strengthening host defences. Interstitial migration can occur in the absence of the  $\beta$ 2 integrins [247], with adhesion instead mediated through the action of  $\beta$ 1 integrins such as very late antigen-6 (VLA-6,  $\alpha$ 6 $\beta$ 2) and -9 (VAL-9,  $\alpha$ 9 $\beta$ 2), expression of which is upregulated following neutrophil activation e.g. in response to fMLP and transmigration following interaction with PECAM-1 [247,248].  $\beta$ 1 integrin ligands include a variety of extracellular matrix proteins including laminin [249], collagen [250] and fibronectin [251].

# 1.4.2 Signalling pathways involved in the regulation of migration

In order for migration to occur, neutrophils adopt a polarized phenotype involving the formation of a leading edge and uropod tail as a function of general motility [252]. Within this

morphology, the leading edge demonstrates enhanced sensitivity allowing directional sensing of the chemotactic gradient [253]. There are a significant number of signalling pathways involved in the generation of directional migration however it is important to remember they do not act in isolation and instead exist as a complex signalling network involving both positive and negative regulation, see **Figure 1.3**.

**Figure 1.3** A Diagrammatic Representation of the Complex Network of Signalling Pathways Thought to be involved in the Regulation of Migration to Date



Taken directly from [254]

### <u>1.4.2.1 PI3Kinase</u>

The phosphotidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3Kinase) family consists of conserved enzymes present in mammalian cells that phosphorylate the D3-position of the inositol ring of phosphoinositide lipids. This produces a number of inositol lipid second messengers in response to a number of extracellular signals including cytokines, integrin engagement and FcγR ligation. The PI3Kinase family, through association with pleckstrin homology (PH) domains present in target proteins, recruits a number of signalling molecules to the plasma membrane thus amplifying the signal.

The PI3Kinase family is divided into 3 classes based on their lipid products and the identity of the subunits present in each protein complex. Class I PI3Kinases, the most studied of the PI3Kinase subfamilies, are heterodimeric proteins consisting of both a regulatory and a catalytic subunit which phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol - 4,5 - bisphosphate (PI(4,5)P<sub>2</sub>) to produce phosphatidylinositol - 3,4,5 - triphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>), the only triphosphate inositol lipid present in mammalian species; Class II PI3Kinases exist as monomers and Class III as heterodimers both of which phosphorylate phosphatidylinositol (PI) to form phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate (PI(3)P) (see **Table 1.5**).

Production of multiple lipid products places PI3Kinase at the centre of multiple signalling networks eliciting a role for this enzyme family in a multitude of cellular functions including migration, proliferation, cell survival and endocytosis. Human neutrophils are known to express all of the above mentioned isoforms [255], however, it is members of the class I family that are fundamental to the control of migration mainly due to their ability to be activated by a wide variety of cell surface receptors.

Class I PI3Kinase is sub-divided into class IA and class IB based on the structure of its component subunits: class IA contains 3 isoforms consisting of either a p85 or p55 regulatory subunit coupled to a p110 $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  or  $\delta$  catalytic subunit; the single isoform making up class IB PI3Kinase consists of a p101 regulatory subunit and p110 $\gamma$  catalytic subunit. Class I activation occurs downstream of receptor-ligand interaction on the cell surface via

phosphorylation of the regulatory subunit thus facilitating binding of PIP<sub>2</sub> by the catalytic subunit and its subsequent phosphorylation. In the case of Class IA and Class IB PI3Kinase, these are activated downstream of tyrosine kinase receptors and  $G_{\alpha i}$  –containing GPCRs [256] respectively. However, recent evidence has demonstrated significant cross-talk in the activation both classes through the presence of a Ras binding domain (RBD) in the p110 subunit rendering both class IA and IB sensitive to the GTPase Ras [257]. Ras and G $\beta\gamma$  are now known to act synergistically to control PI3Kinase activation. The structure and function of the PI3Kinase family has been extensively reviewed in number of excellent review articles [255,258-261].

 Table 1.5 PI3Kinase Isoforms in Mammalian Cells [255,258-260]

		Regulatory Subunit	Catalytic Subunit	Product	Activation	Cellular Processes	Localization
Class I	A	p85 or p55	p110 α β δ	PIP <sub>3</sub>	Tyrosine Kinase Receptors (Integrins, FcγR); Ras-GTPase; Insulin Receptor A [262]	Neutrophil Directional Movement [263]	Cytoplasmic then recruited to the plasma membrane upon
	В	p101 or p84	p110 γ	PIP <sub>3</sub>	Gβγ subunit of Gα <sub>i</sub> -proteins; Ras- GTPase; Insulin Receptor-A [262]	Neutrophil Chemokinesis [264]	activation
Class II		None*	C2 α β γ	PI(3)P PIP₃ [265]	TC10-GTPase [266]; Clathrin [267]; Insulin-Receptor-B [265]; Calcium [268]; Chemokines; Integrin Engagement**	LPA-mediated migration [269] , endocytosis	Associated with membrane structures e.g. Clathrin coated vesicles [270]
Class III		p150	hVsp43p	PI(3)P	?	Intracellular trafficking e.g. autophagy [271] and phagosome formation [272]	Intracellular membranes e.g. Golgi & endosomes[273]

interaction with adaptor proteins is thought to regulate activation [274]. \*\*Mechanisms for activation for Class II PI3Kinase remain poorly understood with some current mechanisms being the result of speculation based in the crystal structure of the protein [274]

Following activation, PI3Kinase catalyses the production of PIP<sub>3</sub> which accumulates at the leading edge of migrating cells [275] and further recruits PH – domain containing proteins such as 3-Phosphoinositide-Dependent Protein Kinase-1 (PDK1), GEFs such as P-Rex1, Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) and PKB/Akt [276] which then activate effector proteins such as members of the Rho-GTPase family and the serine/threonine kinase Akt thus propagating the initial signal, eliciting a functional response.

The role of PI3Kinase in controlling migration has been somewhat controversial with some groups reporting PI3Kinase to be an absolute requirement for migratory processes [263,277], while others report only limited involvement of PI3K [264,278]. There is also evidence of migratory processes occurring independently of PI3Kinase [211]. These discrepancies are likely to arise from the experimental model used as well as the type and length of stimulation. By considering chemokinesis (speed) as a separate parameter to chemotaxis (direction), a subtle but discrete role for both PI3Kinase- $\delta$  and  $-\gamma$  as the major PI3Kinase isoforms involved in migratory processes is now widely accepted. This observation may explain the earlier discrepancies observed regarding the involvement of PI3Kinase in migratory processes. PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  has been shown to be the dominant PIP<sub>3</sub> producing isoform at the leading edge during migration, as neutrophils from a PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  deficient mouse produced negligible amounts of PIP<sub>3</sub> in response to chemoattractant stimulation [279,280]. In contrast, PI3Kinase- $\delta$  has been shown to facilitate neutrophil spreading and polarisation across fibronectin-coated surfaces [281]).

PI3Kinase signalling, and therefore PIP<sub>3</sub> production, is regulated through the action of the 3and 5- phosphatases Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog (PTEN) and Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate 5-phosphatase (SHIP1) respectively. These phosphatases are responsible for regulating PI3Kinase and confining PIP<sub>3</sub> to the leading edge through dephosphoryation of PIP<sub>3</sub> producing a further lipid product phosphatidylinositol- 3,4 – bisphosphate (PI(3,4)P<sub>2</sub>) and phosphatidylinositol – 4,5 – bisphosphate (PI(4,5)P<sub>2</sub>). In this manner PI3Kinase activity is antagonised maintaining cellular homeostasis.

### 1.4.2.2 Protein Kinase B (PKB)/Akt

Akt, also known as protein kinase B (PKB), is an ~60kDa serine/threonine kinase that was originally identified as a retroviral oncogene [282] and most well-known for its ability to prolong neutrophil survival in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines [283]. Akt is abundantly expressed in mammalian cells as three highly homologous isoforms Akt-1 (PKB $\alpha$ ), Akt-2 (PKB $\beta$ ) and Akt-3 (PKB $\gamma$ ). Akt1 and Akt2 are the most abundantly expressed isoforms with Akt-3 being solely expressed in the brain and testis where it has been shown to have a role in post-natal brain development [284,285]. Akt has been demonstrated as an essential component of a number of cellular processes including cellular proliferation [286], superoxide generation [287] and migration [288].

During migratory processes, Akt in known to translocate to the leading edge of migrating neutrophils from the cytosol by virtue of its PH domain recognising membrane localised PIP<sub>3</sub> produced by active PI3Kinase [289]. Current studies [290] suggest it is the Akt2 isoform that is recruited in this setting however, conclusive evidence of this is required before definitive conclusions can be drawn. Once at the membrane, Akt is phosphorylated by the action of two independent kinases, PDK1 and mTOR-complex 2 (mTORC2), these phosphorylate Threonine-308 (Thr308) and Serine-473 (Ser473) residues respectively. PDK1 is a kinase that has been shown to be dependent on PIP<sub>3</sub> but unaffected by wortmannin, a broad-spectrum PI3Kinase inhibitor, placing the action of PDK1 on Akt downstream of PI3Kinase [291]. For a long time the identity of the Ser473 kinase, now identified as mTORC2 (mTOR when in a rapamycin-insensitive complex with sin-1 and rictor) [292,293] was unclear and has previously been referred to as PDK2 or hydrophobic motif kinase (HM kinase).

When phosphorylated solely at Thr308, Akt shows partial activation and in this state it is capable of activating mTORC1 (mTOR when complexed with raptor) through phosphorylation of PRAS40, a dominant negative regulator of mTORC1 [294]). Activity in this manner allows Akt-mediated regulation of protein synthesis and cell growth through the action of mTORC1. Phosphorylation of both Ser473 and Thr308 results in full-activation of

Akt increasing the number of Akt phosphorylation targets. These targets include caspase-9 (phosphorylation of which prevents its protease activity [295]); Iκ-B Kinase (IκK) (affecting NF-κB gene transcription [296]); mTOR [297]; p47<sup>phox</sup> (mediating the respiratory burst [287]) and p21 Activated Kinase (PAK1) (influencing migration [298]).

In order to maintain homeostasis, Akt signalling is antagonised through de-phosphorylation of Thr308 by protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) [299], and Ser473 by PH-domain leucine-rich-repeat-containing protein phosphatase 1 or 2 (PHLPP1/2) [300]. This is further controlled by de-phosphorylation of PIP<sub>3</sub> by PTEN/SHIP1 to form PIP<sub>2</sub>.

### 1.4.2.3 Rho-GTPases

The Ras superfamily are a large (with approximately 150 members) conserved family of small (~21kDa) monomeric G-proteins consisting of 5 main groups (Ras, Rho, Rab, Ran and Arf) with Rho-family proteins forming the major branch. These GTPases act as molecular switches regulating a diverse range of cellular process by cycling between an active, Guanosine triphosphate (GTP) -bound and an inactive, guanosine-diphosphate (GDP) bound state. This process is tightly regulated by both guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), which catalyse the exchange of GDP for GTP and thus activate the molecule, and GTPase activating proteins (GAPs), which inactivate the GTPase by exchanging GTP for GDP. Incorporation of prenyl groups (mainly geranylgeranyl pyrophosphates (GGP) and Farnesyl Pyrophosphate (FPP)) during biosynthesis allows the insertion of GTPases into the membrane. This supports activation through the exchange of GDP for GTP, a reaction catalysed by guanine nucleotide exchange factors already present in the membrane. In their GDP, inactive state, GTPases are sequestered in the cytoplasm where they are retained by GDP dissociation inhibitor (GDI) proteins by forming a high-affinity but biologically inert GDI-GTPase complex. GDI proteins provide another checkpoint in GTPase activation by binding to prenyl groups and preventing their interaction with the membrane. In addition, GDI proteins are known to stabilize the binding of Mg<sup>2+</sup>, the dissociation of which is required for

nucleotide exchange. For full activation, GDP-bound GTPases must first dissociate from their GDI, a process that is catalysed by GDI dissociation factors (GDFs) whose identity still remains elusive however a single human GDF has been recently identified, PRA-1 [301]. Following dissociation, the GDP-bound GTPases must translocate to the membrane where, through interaction with GEFs, GDP is exchanged for GTP and thus activating the GTPase allowing interaction with effector molecules. It has been demonstrated that the interaction between the GDP-bound form of Rac-GTPase is modulated by inositol lipids, particularly PIP<sub>2</sub> [302]. This process has been elegantly reviewed elsewhere [303].

In their active conformation, Rho GTPases have been shown to be key regulators of cytoskeletal rearrangement, stress fibre formation and cell-cycle progression and have also been implicated in a number of cellular functions including adhesion, migration, phagocytosis and ROS production, most likely owing to their ability to dynamically control remodelling of the cytoskeleton. Three Rho GTPases are particularly prominent in the control of migration – Ras homolog gene family member A (RhoA), Cell Division Control Protein 42 (Cdc42) and Rac [304].

During migration, Rac and Cdc42 are localized to the leading edge where they are involved in the assembly of the filamentous actin (F-actin) network through recruitment of actin polymers and in maintenance of the leading edge [305]. Rac- and Cdc42-GTPase are activated by GEFs such as P-Rex-1 [306], DOCK1/2 [307] and β-Pix localized in the membrane through association with PIP<sub>3</sub>. Once activated, these GTPases have been shown to modulate cytoskeletal rearrangement through activation of suppressor of cAR (SCAR)/ WASP family Verprolin-homologous protein (WAVE) family members and subsequently the actin nucleating complex actin-related protein 2/3 (Arp2/3) [308,309]. In addition, these proteins have also been shown to inhibit actin de-polymerization through phosphorylation and subsequent inhibition of Cofillin via LIM Kinase (LIMK) [310]. In comparison RhoA-GTPase is found localised to the rear of the cell in the uropod where it mediates tail retraction and dissociation of adhesive complexes [311].

### 1.4.2.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Production of ROS has been shown to occur at the leading edge of migrating neutrophils in an NADPH oxidase dependent manner [312]. The GTPase activating protein GIT2 links GPCR signalling at the surface with recruitment of NADPH oxidase [313] and subsequent ROS production at the leading edge. Chemoattractant-induced ROS production appears to function by amplifying the PIP<sub>3</sub> signal though localized oxidation of PTEN thus suppressing its phosphatase activity [314-316]. Phosphorylation of Akt, itself is reduced in the presence of N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) [317] suggesting a role for redox-mediated feedback in the regulation of migration.

### 1.4.2.5 Actin Cytoskeleton

The actin cytoskeleton is a dense network of actin fibres present within the cytoplasm that acts as a cellular scaffold governing cell shape, intracellular transport, cell division and, in motile cells, membrane protrusion and tail retraction. Protrusion in this manner is driven by polymerization of actin filaments just under the plasma membrane forming one of two basic actin structures: branched filament networks leading to sheet-like protrusions (lamellipodia) or un-branched actin bundles leading to finger-like protrusions (filopodia and pseudopodia) characteristic of the leading edge in motile cells (see **Figure 1.4**). The dense actin network present in the lamellipodia provides the scaffold upon which motility machinery can localize within the leading edge (reviewed extensively in [318]).

Actin structures, once initiated, can continue extending owing to the abundance of monomeric actin within the cytoplasm and are only stopped through the action of capping protein concealing the barbed end of a growing filament [319]. However, for nucleation of new actin filaments, assistance is required from nucleating proteins such as the Arp2/3 complex and the Formin family of proteins including the diaphanous-related formins (DRFs also known as mDia1-3). Arp2/3 is responsible for the formation of branched networks by nucleating actin polymerization at a 70° angle from the sides of pre-existing filaments [320],

while formins act to nucleate un-branched actin filaments [321] creating linear bundles required for membrane spikes and pseudopodia. However, these proteins do not act in isolation, Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome proteins (WASP) family members, PIP<sub>2</sub> and Cdc42 are all required in addition to nucleating proteins to efficiently stimulate actin filament elongation [322].

In order to maintain motility and the supply of monomeric actin in the cytoplasm, actin disassembly must also take place. This occurs through the action of cofillin by dissociating Arp2/3 and its associated branches from actin filaments resulting in debranching of the actin network [323]. This forms a cycle beginning with actin nucleation and depleting cytoplasmic stores of monomeric actin and ending with replenishment of those stores through actin filament dissociation, this cycle is known as the dendritic nucleation model [324] ensuring a constant supply of monomeric actin for actin nucleation and driving the leading edge forward. See **Figure 1.5** 



# Figure 1.4 Actin Structures at the Leading Edge.

Growing actin filaments are found within the leading edge driving forward protrusion of the plasma membrane and generating motility. Actin filaments are found as two main conformations: (A) Lamellipodia, a dense actin network forming sheet-like protrusions and (B) Filopodia, bundles of parallel actin filaments creating finger-like protrusions. *Adapted from* [325].



# Figure 1.5 The Dendritic Nucleation Model.

This model describes the retrograde flow of monomeric actin ensuring an adequate supply for nucleation of new fibers and the subsequent protrusion of the plasma membrane at the leading edge driving cell motility. *Figure taken directly from* [324]

### 1.4.2.6 Other Molecules controlling migration

Although PI3Kinase and the Rho GTPases are widely accepted as mediators of accurate migration, a number of other signalling pathways have been implicated in the process. Mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) family members including ERK, p38 MAPK and Jun N-terminus kinase (JNK) have been shown to regulate migration through interaction with Paxillin, a docking protein that recruits certain proteins to focal adhesion complexes including serine/threonine kinases and GTPases [326] and Spir, a member of the WASP family of proteins, both of which results in reorganisation of the actin cytoskeleton (reviewed in [327]). Although activated downstream of PI3Kinase [328], inhibition of ERK had no effect on neutrophil migration in response to IL8 [329] implying that neutrophil migration is largely independent of MAPK activation.

Genetic silencing of Phospholipase- $D_2$  (PLD<sub>2</sub>), an enzyme involved in phospholipid metabolism in the plasma membrane, has been shown to induce arrest of migration [330]. However mechanisms underlying this involvement remain largely unknown. Peng *et al* showed PLD<sub>2</sub> to contain two Cdc42/Rac Interactive binding (CRIB) domains within its structure allowing direct interaction with Rac-GTPase [331] highlighting a possible mechanism by which PLD<sub>2</sub> could be involved in migration. PLC has also been shown to be important in the regulation of migration through the translation of integrin-dependent signals catalysing PIP<sub>2</sub> to produce inositol-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and DAG, inducing the release of calcium from intracellular stores subsequently enhancing ROS production [332].

In addition, in the presence of PI3Kinase inhibitors murine neutrophils are still able to migrate, albeit with significantly reduced efficiency of migration. This phenomenon has been attributed to PKBR1, a membrane-bound isoform of Akt that is uniformly distributed throughout the cytoplasm but exhibits localised activation by mTORC2 upon detection of a chemotactic gradient [333]. Upon activation PKBR1 acts through as yet undetermined mechanisms to modulate both actin nucleation and disassembly (reviewed in [334]).

### 1.4.3 Pathway integration resulting in co-ordinated control of migration

We are still to fully understand the mechanisms involved in the control of directional migration; until recently directional migration was thought to be under the control of a single linear pathway governing both motility (chemokinesis) and directionality (chemotaxis) giving rise to a compass like model of migration. The role of the compass needle was attributed to PI3Kinase due to the essential localisation of PIP<sub>3</sub> at the leading edge [275]. However, inhibition of PI3K in murine neutrophils causes a reduction in the absolute number of cells responding but does not affect their speed or directionality [335]. This suggests there are additional control mechanisms acting independently of PI3K and that chemokinesis and chemotaxis are independently regulated.

The idea of a complex signalling network existing not only at the leading edge but also throughout the cell is now widely accepted [334]. Integration of concomitant signalling originating at both the leading edge and uropod determine polarity leading to the spatial and temporal orientation of signalling molecules and laying the foundation for a function that is both robust and generic whilst also exhibiting exquisite sensitivity. The extent to which individual elements of this signalling network contribute remains unclear. The process of directional migration can be divided into its three components parts: polarity, motility and directional movement in order to understand the pathways that govern migrational control.

## <u>1.4.3.1 Polarity</u>

Polarisation refers to the morphological changes that occur as a direct consequence of chemoattractant-mediated cellular activation generating a polarised phenotype with a flattened 'leading edge' at the up-gradient edge of the cell and a tail, or uropod, at the down-gradient edge. Concomitantly, intracellular components exhibit their own, interior polarisation generating an internal gradient of signalling molecules causing the formation of distinct domains around the cell periphery.
The leading edge is characterised by the accumulation of F-actin [336] and the localisation of a number of proteins involved in cytoskeletal re-organisation and gradient sensing. These proteins include: PI3Kinase, particularly the p110y isoform [337] and therefore it's lipid product PIP<sub>3</sub>, the actin-nucleating protein Arp2/3 and the small GTPases Rac and Cdc42 which play fundamental roles in both the formation of the leading edge as well as its location and subsequent stability [305]. Addition of a cell-permeable ester of PIP<sub>3</sub>, PIP<sub>3</sub>/AM, to human neutrophils induces cell polarisation with 70% of cells exhibiting a flattened morphology with a contracted tail. In addition, cells treated with PIP<sub>3</sub>/AM show a significant accumulation of Factin at the leading edge and significantly increase their speed of migration [338]. Conversely, the uropod is devoid of these proteins and instead contains proteins such as PIP<sub>2</sub> and RhoA-GTPase (which is not detected at the leading edge). Simultaneous signalling originating from the leading edge and uropod have been shown to antagonize each other's activity [339,340] ensuring signalling networks are compartmentalised, generating and subsequently maintaining a self-organising polarity in response to a chemoattractant gradient. An excellent example of this is the lipid product PIP<sub>3</sub> which has been shown to promote the activity of Rac- and Cdc42-GTPase at the leading edge and RhoA-GTPase in the uropod [341]. In the case of PIP<sub>3</sub>, polarity is further maintained through the presence of the phosphatases PTEN and SHIP1 at the sides of the cell and in the uropod which dephosphorylate PIP<sub>3</sub> to produce PI(4,5)P<sub>2</sub> and PI(3,4)P<sub>2</sub> respectively. Using SHIP1<sup>-/-</sup> and PTEN<sup>-/-</sup> knock-out mice, PTEN appears to be involved in the maintenance of the anteriorposterior PIP<sub>3</sub> gradient and is the main antagonist of PI3Kinase activity whilst SHIP1 is involved in the regulation of PIP<sub>3</sub> production upon cell adhesion preventing the development of a top-down  $PIP_3$  gradient [281]. Membrane composition and integrity have also been shown to be essential in the maintenance of polarity; depletion of cholesterol disturbs membrane organisation and inhibits cell polarisation and migration by preventing the sustained activation of signalling molecules necessary for maintenance of the migratory phenotype [342].

The importance of polarity, both morphologically and internally, in orchestrating migration has been demonstrated using neutrophils deficient in various proteins involved in the process. SHIP1 deficient neutrophils, which are not able to localise PIP<sub>3</sub> to the leading edge, exhibit an extremely flattened and weakly polarised morphology with significantly reduced speed [343], inhibition of RhoA or its downstream effector Rho-associated kinase (ROCK), does not appear to affect motility of the cell body (therefore the leading edge) but prevents detachment of the uropod thereby reducing the overall speed of migration [311]. However, in light of this, polarity does not appear to be a response to a chemotactic gradient *per se* as neutrophils exposed to a uniform stimulus i.e. one that is constant across the length of the cell, still display a polarized morphology [344].

Overall, polarity arises from the action of a localised activator and a global inhibitor, giving rise to the characteristic polarised phenotype and providing the foundation for locomotion and gradient sensing.

#### 1.4.3.2 Motility (Chemokinesis)

In order for a cell to become motile it must first achieve a number of parameters: forward propulsion at the leading edge, retraction at the rear with release of adhesive contacts and maintenance of membrane tension and integrity preventing cell lysis.

Signals involved in the maintenance of polarity have been grouped into 'frontness' and 'backness' signals which are generated at the leading edge and uropod respectively [345]. 'Frontness' signalling refers to the protrusion of the leading edge driven by polymerized F-actin, which generates the power required to force protrusions of the plasma membrane commonly known as pseudopods (finger like projections) and/or lamellipodia (sheet-like projections). 'Backness' signalling, on the other hand, refers to retraction and 'de-adhesion' of the uropod facilitating forward motility. Both of these pathways occur downstream of chemoattractant stimulation but are independently regulated. Frontness signalling is under the control of G<sub>i</sub> coupled GPCRs acting through PI3Kinase, the Rho family GTPases Cdc42

and Rac1 and Arp2/3, which stimulates actin polymerization [346,347], see **Figure 1.6**. 'Backness' signalling occurs downstream of  $G_{12/13}$  coupled GPCRs, activating RhoA and its downstream kinase ROCK, which mediates detachment of the uropod and contraction of myosin fibres [339] generating a centripetal force against which actin filaments can push in order to force protrusions of the membrane at the leading edge, see **Figure 1.7**.

Actin polymerisation occurs at areas of dense PIP<sub>3</sub> accumulation and is driven by the recruitment and activation of Arp2/3 by members of the WASP family, particularly SCAR/WAVE, which is itself dephosphorylated for activity by the small GTPase Rac [348]. The production of PIP<sub>3</sub> in this context has been attributed to the action of the p110 $\gamma$  isoform of PI3Kinase and although this isoform appears to be dispensable for gradient sensing (see subsequent section), it is critical for the initiation of general motility or chemokinesis [264,349]. In addition, a role for Akt but not Cdc42 has also been demonstrated in generating motility [350].

In the uropod, RhoA-GTPase-/ROCK activation occurs following activation of p115Rho GEF by the Gα<sub>12/13</sub> subunit of heterotrimeric G-proteins and results in the activation of the calcium dependent enzyme myosin light chain kinase (MLCK). This enzyme is responsible for the light chain phosphorylation of Myosin II initiating filament contraction and therefore retraction of the uropod. Neutrophils treated with either a myosin inhibitor or a MLCK inhibitor exhibit a dose dependent reduction in chemokinesis due to impaired uropod retraction [351]. ROCK has also been shown to be able to act directly on Myosin II [352] whilst MLCK can also be activated downstream of Ras, Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase Kinase (MEK) and ERK [353]. Rho-GTPase stabilizes actin within actin-myosin bundles through its action on LIMK-2 and Cofillin [354] and enables detachment of adhesive contacts within the uropod [311].

The cell membrane also has a role to play in the regulation of motility. Apart from acting as a physical barrier, separating the interior and exterior of the cell and acting as a signalling platform, the membrane also generates an inward force mechanically restraining actin protrusions [355,356] and contributing to retractions of the uropod [357]. This allows both

49

'frontness' and 'backness' signalling to set the rate of motility: if one of these functions occurs at a slower rate than the other, it becomes the rate-limiting factor in speed of cell movement.

## 1.4.3.3 Directional Sensing (Chemotaxis)

Being able to sense the direction of a chemotactic gradient is the crux of chemotaxis, the process of generating polarity and chemokinesis are redundant without navigation. The exact mechanism of gradient sensing remains elusive, but is likely to involve integrated signalling from multiple pathways.

To date the most appropriate model to accurately describe gradient sensing is proposed by King and Insall in 2009 [254]. Here, the Bifurcation and Bias model suggests that *de novo* synthesis of pseudopods rarely occurs and instead the splitting of existing pseudopods creates 'new' pseudopods in a receptor occupancy dependent manner; the most accurate pseudopods (those that sense the highest chemokine concentration) are maintained while others are retracted. As receptor localisation appears to remain uniform across the plasma membrane during migration e.g. C5a-Receptor (C5aR) [289], (although in steep gradients, a higher concentration of chemoattractant at the leading edge will provide greater sensitivity) the internal gradient of signalling molecules appears to provide the sensitivity required to sense direction.

Production of ROS has been suggested as a mechanism by which cells collapse their less accurate pseudopods as inhibition of NADPH oxidase leads to the formation of multiple, sustained pseudopods within the leading edge [312]. Microtubule stability has also been shown to have a role in selecting and maintaining the accurate pseudopods allowing neutrophils to choose between protrusions to give direction [358]. In addition, murine neutrophils lacking the protein GIT2, the GEF that links GPCR signalling with NADPH oxidase recruitment, exhibit a loss in directional migration [313]. mTORC2 has also been shown to be involved in the generation of directional migration acting through PKBR1 [333].

50

An essential role for PI3Kinase- $\delta$  has been observed in the control of directional migration by selectively amplifying the PIP<sub>3</sub> signal in localised areas of the cell above that of the PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  mediated PIP<sub>3</sub> signal. However, inhibition of PI3Kinase- $\delta$  does not block the synthesis of F-actin or prevent adhesion to the substratum [263]. Furthermore, signalling pathways involved in the molecular control of migration are not unidirectional and there are positive feedback loops existing within the leading edge involving PI3Kinase, PIP<sub>3</sub>, multiple G-proteins including heterotrimeric G-proteins and small GTPases as well as NADPH oxidase/ROS. This governs directional migration, bringing together polarity, movement and direction. For example, PIP<sub>3</sub> has been shown to be able to activate PI3Kinase [338], while Rac- and Cdc42-GTPase have been shown to be able to act upstream of Akt in governing cell motility [350].



## Figure 1.6 Signaling Networks at the Leading Edge of Migrating Neutrophils.

Neutrophil migration is under the control of a dense network of signaling pathways which interconnect to deliver a migratory phenotype that is both robust and sensitive. Signaling at the leading edge originates from activation of surface receptors and results in the polymerization of actin filaments causing protrusion of the leading edge and forward motility. GPCRs; G-protein coupled receptor; R, receptor; PLC $\beta$ , phospholipase C- $\beta$ ; PIP<sub>2</sub>; phosphatidylinositol-2-phosphate; IP<sub>3</sub>, inositol-triphosphate; DAG, Diacylglycerol; PKC, protein kinase-C; ROS, reactive oxygen species; PIP<sub>3</sub>, phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-phosphate; SHIP1, phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate 5 phosphatase; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; PDK1, 3-phosphoinositide dependent kinase-1; GEFs, guanine nucleotide exchange factors; mTORC1, mammalian target of rapamycin complex-2; NADPH oxidase, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase; WASP, Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome proteins; Arp2/3, actin-related protein-2/3; LIMK1, LIM-Kinase-1.



Figure 1.7 Signaling Networks within the Uropod of Migrating Neutrophils.

Retraction of the uropod occurs due to the contraction of myosin light chain mediated though the activation of RhoA and myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) filaments. Uropod signaling originates from interaction of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) coupled to the  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  subunit. GEFs, guanine nucleotide exchange factors; RhoA, RhoA-GTPase; ROCK, Rho-associated Kinase; LIMK2, LIM-Kinase-2; ERK, extracellular-signal-related protein kinase; MEK, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase; Ras, Ras-GTPase

## 1.5 Plasma Membrane Structure

Biological membranes, consisting mainly of phospholipids, such as phosphatidylcholine (PC), glycolipids such as sphingomyelin (SM) and cholesterol, provide a physical barrier distinguishing the cell interior from the extracellular environment. Transport across the lipid membrane is a tightly controlled process made possible by the presence of proteins embedded within the fluid lipid structure.

## 1.5.1 Phospholipids

Phospholipids (PLs) are a major class of membrane lipid. The most common form is composed of a glycerol backbone attached to a phosphorylated alcohol and two esterified fatty acid chains, creating an amphipathic molecule with both a hydrophilic, polar head group and a hydrophobic tail. Once in the bi-layer conformation, PLs are capable of interaction with aqueous media found in the extracellular environment or cellular cytosol whilst simultaneously forming a hydrophobic barrier.

Cellular PL biosynthesis begins with the synthesis of phosphatidate which then reacts successively with DAG and an alcohol (one of which must be activated by cytidine triphosphate [CTP]) in a multi-step process forming the complete PL. Some of the more common PLs found in cell membranes include PC which accounts for 50% of phospholipids in eukaryotic membranes [359], Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), Phosphatidylinositol (PI), Phosphatidylglycerol (PG), Phosphatidylserine (PS) and SM. See **Figure 1.8** for the chemical structure of these molecules.



Figure 1.8 Structure of Common Membrane Lipids.

Chemical structure of lipid species commonly found in eukaryotic membranes. CH, Cholesterol; PS, Phosphatidylserine; PC, Phosphatidylcholine; PI, Phosphatidylinositol; PG, Phosphatidylglycerol; PE, Phosphatidylethanolamine; SM, Sphingomyelin.

The main site of phospholipid biosynthesis is the endoplasmic reticulum; however, synthesis also occurs within the golgi body and mitochondria [359], see Figure 1.9. Newly synthesized phospholipids are used to populate various cellular membranes including but not limited to, the plasma membrane and endosomes. As the cytosol is an aqueous solution, intracellular transport occurs via the endocytic pathway in the form of small membrane bound vesicles produced through budding of the endoplasmic reticulum and/or golgi body, or with the help of transport proteins [359,360]. Upon reaching the plasma membrane, PLs are distributed asymmetrically throughout the structure with SM and PC restricted to the exoplasmic face and PS and PE restricted to the cytosolic leaflet (the leaflet of the bi-layer that interacts with the cytoplasm) [361]. Asymmetry is achieved through the action of membrane-bound lipid translocases, which transport lipids across the lipid bi-layer in both an adenosinetriphosphate (ATP) - dependent and -independent manner. Enzymes responsible for this movement include the P4 subfamily of P-type ATPases such as aminophospholipid translocase, responsible for the restriction of PC and PS to the cytosolic leaflet and Scramblase, a less specific translocase that has been shown to be important in the exposure of PS on the exoplasmic face during apoptosis [362], see Figure 1.10.



Figure 1.9 Differential Membrane Composition of Organelles in the Steady State. Membrane phospholipid (PL) composition is shown as a percentage of total PL in mammals (blue bars) and yeast (light blue bars) with sterol content, expressed as a molar ratio of cholesterol (CHO) or ergosterol (ERG) to PL, is also shown as a measure of membrane sterol content. Sites of synthesis are shown (central panel) for major phospholipids (blue) and organelle recognition and signalling pathways (red). Most lipid synthesis occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and includes synthesis of Phosphatidylcholine (PC), phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), Phosphatidylinositol (PI), phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidic acid (PA), Ceramide (Cer) galactosylceramide (GalCer), cholesterol and ergosterol. The major exceptions are Sphingomyelin (SM) and complex glycosphingolipids (GSLs) which are synthesized in the golgi lumen. Some synthesis of PC also occurs within the golgi. Lipids populating the mitochondrial membrane are synthesized within the organelle. R, remaining lipids; TG, triacylglycerol; PI(3,5)P<sub>2</sub>, CL, cardiolipin; BMP, bis(monoacylglycerol)phosphate); ISL, inositol sphingolipid; Sph, sphingosine; DAG. diacylglycerol; phosphatidylinositol-(3,5)-bisphosphate; PI(4,5)P<sub>2</sub>, phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-PI(3,4,5)P<sub>2</sub>, bisphosphate; phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-triphosphate; PI4P. phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate; S1P, sphingosine-1-phosphate. Taken directly from [359].



Figure 1.10 Membrane Asymmetry in Intracellular Compartments.

(A) Asymmetry within the plasma membrane occurs through P4-ATPase –dependent transport of Phosphatidylserine (PS) and Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to the cytosolic leaflet of the plasma bilayer whilst little transport of sphingomyelin (SM) and phosphatidylcholine (PC) exist confining these species to the outer (or exoplasmic) leaflet (B) Little asymmetry occurs within the endoplasmic reticulum which non-specific transport occurring resulting in near symmetrical distributions across the bilayer (C) Asymmetry across the golgi bilayer is the result of P4-ATPase transport of phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to the cytosolic face. SM is produced on the luminal leaflet and remains there due to the lack of transporters within the membrane structure. *Taken directly from [359].* 

The composition of different phospholipid species within the plasma membrane of neutrophils is characteristic of neutrophils. This is due to the fatty acid structure located at positions sn1 and sn2 of phosphatidylcholine (PC). Characteristically, neutrophils have been shown to be depleted in arachidonoyl-containing PC species common in other cell types instead containing a greater amount of the 1-alkyl-2-acyl species with the fatty acid located at position sn2 to be joined to the head group via an ether- rather than an ester-bond.

The primary role of membrane phospholipids is their barrier function, but they also have a role in cellular metabolism, by releasing large quantities of ATP and are important signalling molecules involved in many signal transduction pathways. The phosholipase-A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) family of enzymes cleave the fatty acid at the sn2 position of many membrane-bound phospholipids producing arachidonic acid and lysophospholipids. Arachidonic acid metabolism leads to the production of pro-inflammatory mediators such leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>), which propagate the inflammatory response and attract more cells to the site of infection [254]. Other phospholipids such as PS have a regulatory role in ROS production [363] and are also essential in the activation of other enzymes such as phospholipase-C (PLC) [363] which is required for the release of calcium ions from the endoplasmic reticulum, an important second messenger in propagating the signalling cascade.

## 1.5.2 Glycolipids

Glycolipids, such as sphingomyelin, are a class of membrane lipids derived from sphingosine that consist of a sphingosine backbone linked to a single saturated fatty acid chain and 1 or more carbohydrate units such as glucose or galactose. It is the presence of the sugar units within the molecule that gives glycolipids their characteristic structure and their asymmetrical distribution across the membrane favouring the luminal leaflet. Orientated in this manner, the carbohydrate moiety functions as a recognition molecule and provides membrane stability. Within the membrane, glycolipids pack together much tighter than phospholipids due to the presence of a fully saturated fatty acid chain which are therefore devoid of the 'kinks'

59

commonly seen in the fatty acid chains of phospholipids, caused by the presence of C=C double bonds. This reduces the mobility of the membrane in glycolipid rich areas and is thought to further concentrate signalling molecules. These areas are known as lipid rafts and will be discussed in subsequent sections.

## 1.5.3 Membrane Cholesterol

Cholesterol is the major sterol species found in vertebrate membranes. Although cholesterol falls within the lipid class of molecules, it has a very unique structure consisting of a fatty acid chain and a hydroxyl group separated by 4-linked hydrocarbon rings providing the bulk to the structure (see **Figure 1.8**). Cholesterol is an important precursor to a number of biologically important substances including bile acids, important for absorption of dietary lipids, and steroid hormones such as testosterone. Within the plasma membrane, cholesterol is known to have an important role in regulating both membrane permeability and fluidity through association with the acyl chains of other membrane lipids [364], particularly glycolipids. Cholesterol is also an integral part to other biological process such as caveolae- and clathrin-dependent endocytosis, the process by which external material in internalized utilizing membrane pits coated with calveolin or clathrin respectively which then bud into the cell from the plasma membrane forming specialized coated vesicles within the cytoplasm [365].

Cholesterol biosynthesis occurs mainly in the liver however, a limited number of other organs, such as the brain, are capable of producing cholesterol [366]. Cholesterol biosynthesis begins with the conversion of 5-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) to Mevalonate by the enzyme HMG-CoA Reductase, the rate-limiting step in cholesterol biosynthesis. Mevalonate is then further metabolised in a multistep process resulting in the production of cholesterol and a number of prenyl groups used in the post-translational modification of small GTPases such as Ras and Rho family members [367]. In addition to hepatic biosynthesis, cholesterol can also be absorbed though the intestine from the diet, however, increased dietary uptake will attenuate *de novo* cholesterol biosynthesis in

the liver through cholesterol-mediated inhibition of HMG-CoA Reductase. This negative feedback loop ensures homeostasis is maintained regulating the availability of cholesterol for incorporation into membranes or for further metabolism.

Due to the amphipathic nature of the cholesterol molecule, cholesterol remains insoluble in the blood and must therefore be transported around the body by carrier proteins known as lipoproteins. Lipoproteins are classified according to the density of the protein: high-density lipoproteins (HDL), intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL) and very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL). These carrier proteins not only solubilise the lipid allowing transport but also contain cell-targeting moieties. Uptake of cholesterol occurs through expression of HDL and LDL receptors on the surface of target cells.

## 1.5.4 Membrane Fluidity and Lipid Rafts

Together, phospholipids, glycolipids and cholesterol are all important molecules in regulating membrane fluidity including the ability of proteins to move laterally within the bi-layer. Both the length of the fatty acid chain, their degree of saturation and cholesterol content contribute to membrane fluidity and subsequently the rate of lateral diffusion within the membrane. Long, saturated fatty acid chains with high level of interaction with cholesterol favours a more rigid membrane whereas short, unsaturated fatty acids with little interaction with cholesterol favours a more fluid state [368].

Overall, membrane fluidity is not thought to be continuous throughout the entire membrane structure. Instead, there exist small (26-70nm) lipid-ordered zones within the more fluid, liquid dis-ordered structure. These liquid-ordered zones, often termed rafts, are detergent insoluble glycolipid and cholesterol rich areas of the membrane that are thought to be present in the cell membranes at all times [369]. Upon stimulation, rafts are thought to aggregate, increasing in size, becoming visible by light microscopy [304] and forming 'large' areas of the membrane within an otherwise fluid structure. Aggregated rafts establish a

platform from which signal transduction can occur, bringing molecules into the correct juxtaposition.

Little work exists on the effects of age on neutrophil membrane composition and fluidity. Larbi *et al* found the cholesterol content of lipid rafts present in the plasma membrane of T cells was significantly increased with age and that membrane fluidity was decreased as a consequence [370] however, Alvarez *et al*, remain the only study to date who consider the effects of age on neutrophil plasma membrane composition. These authors found an age related decrease in the cholesterol: phospholipid ratio in neutrophils, the result of a decrease in free cholesterol and in increase in phospholipid content in neutrophils from rat peritoneum. This also correlated with an observed increase in membrane fluidity [371]. However, this work was carried out in neutrophils isolated from rat peritoneum and therefore further research is required before absolute conclusions can be drawn with regard to human cells.

## 1.6 Effects of Age on Neutrophil Chemotaxis

Age related changes in neutrophil migration have been reported since 1978, however there is still no consensus as to the influence of age on chemokinesis or chemotaxis. A number of groups have reported no effect for age [150,372-374] while an equal number report reduced migratory function with increasing age [162,375-379], see Table 1.6. Of the studies describing no effect for age on neutrophil migration, the average age of older adults was commonly in the late 70s to 80s. Alonzo-Fernandez et al demonstrated migratory dynamics in healthy centenarians that were comparable to those observed in healthy younger adults (aged 25 - 35 years) [378]. It is however conceivable that no age-related changes in migration were observed in these studies due to the successful ageing of participants included in the study. Phair et al used an old cohort aged 65 to 85 years [372], therefore including a more diverse older cohort with respect to ageing. However the young cohort used in this study ranged from 27 – 43 years and although no data currently exists on the effects of age on migratory dynamics across the lifespan, changes may not be observed when young and middle aged groups are combined. In addition, Biasi et al used the SENIEUR protocol to select their older adults [373], a protocol designed in 1984 by Ligthart et al [380] to standardize the health status on older adults being included in gerontological research by distinguishing extremely healthy older adults from those considered to be 'almost healthy' in order to eliminate any co-morbidities. However, this means that the older subjects included in this study were not representative of the general population and therefore results cannot be applied generally.

A number of studies presented found neutrophil migratory dynamics to be significantly reduced with increasing age. This collection of studies includes both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies and includes the effect of ageing in humans and rodents. There are a greater number of studies finding reduced migration with increasing age compared to those observing no

63

differences while also including studies utilising the SENIEUR protocol as well as assessing migration in cohorts with an average age skewed towards older participants.

The majority of the studies observing both no change and significant reductions in migratory dynamics have done so using a modified Boyden chamber. This experimental set-up requires neutrophils placed in an upper chamber to migrate across a filter, which itself could affect migration, towards a chemotactic source placed in a lower chamber. Studies use filters of varying pore sizes (0.8µm-5µm) making conclusive arguments difficult to draw. In addition, the limitation of the Boyden chamber is principally that it assesses chemokinesis and not chemotaxis. Wenisch *et al* are the only group to have considered the effects of ageing on chemokinesis and chemotaxis as separate parameters [161]. In response to fMLP, chemokinesis appeared to be maintained while a trend toward reduced chemotaxis was observed in the elderly. However, this study utilised the under-agarose assay and can only provide rough estimations of cell movement and cannot comment on individual cell migratory behaviour.

As migration relies upon a complex signalling network in order to regulate a process that is both robust and extremely sensitive, it is conceivable that signal transduction itself may be altered as a consequence of increasing age thus compromising migration. Expression of triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 (TREM-1) and TLR2 and TLR4 remain unchanged with age [162]. However in the basal state TREM-1 has been shown to be present in the lipid rafts in the leading edge of neutrophils from elderly donors which cannot be further increased upon stimulation [381], implying dysregulated signal transduction as opposed to altered receptor expression as a mechanism for distorted migratory function in the elderly. This has been further explored by Lipschitz *et al* who demonstrate a significant reduction in the generation of a number of second messengers including IP<sub>3</sub>, DAG and PIP<sub>2</sub> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> in neutrophils from the elderly [163]. In addition, neutrophils from elderly donors exhibit reduced actin polymerisation in response to fMLP stimulation [382]. To date, alterations in signalling pathways have not been causally related to aberrant migratory

64

phenotypes of the healthy elderly. However, neutrophils isolated from patients with COPD, a chronic inflammatory disease common in the elderly population in which neutrophils exhibit aberrant migration has been attributed to aberrant PI3Kinase signalling [383], suggesting that altered neutrophil migration may indeed be a feature of ageing and may be driven by dysregulated signal transduction.

	Author (Year)	Method	<b>Chemotactic Factor</b>	Primed	Young	Old
					n (mean; range)	n (mean; range)
Unchanged	Phair <i>et al</i> (1978)	Modified Boyden Chamber	Insulin Generated	No	20 (27 – 43)	70 (65-88)
			Chemotactic Factor			
	Biasi <i>et al</i> (1996)	Method not Reported	fMLP; Zymosan	No	* 25 (27.7 ± 2.59;	* 25 (76.56 ±
					22 - 34)	7.36; 69 – 100)
	MacGregor et al (1990)	Modified Boyden Chamber with <sup>51</sup> Cr labelling of poutrophile: 5um	Homologous C5a	No	10 (25.5)	10 (78.9)
		filters				
	Wenisch <i>et al</i> (2000)	Under Agarose	fMLP	No	11 (27 ± 5; 21 -	11 (71 ± 7.5; 62 –
					36)	83)
Reduced	Niwa <i>et al</i> (1989)	Under Agarose	10 <sup>-7</sup> M fMLP; 10 <sup>-7</sup> M	No	30 (19 – 48)	
		Boyden; filter size not reported	PAF; ZAP			
	Whyte <i>et al</i> (1993)	Boyden; 5µm and 0.8µm filter	fMLP; 10% ZAP	No	Isolated PMN aged 24 hours in culture	
	Izgüt-Uysal <i>et al</i> (2003) <i>(Rat Model)</i>	Boyden 3µm filter	ZAP	No	20 Rats aged between 2 and 24 months	
	Fulop <i>et al</i> (2004)	Boyden; filter size not reported	GM-CSF; LPS; fMLP	Yes (90min GM- CSF)	Cohort details not reported	
	Alonso-Fernández <i>et al</i> (2008)	Boyden; filter size not reported	10 <sup>-8</sup> M fMLP	No	* 30 (28; 25 – 35)	* 30 (69; 65 – 75)
	Brubaker et al (2003)	In vivo recruitment to site of KC	1100-1000pg KC	In vivo	12 (3-4 mo)	12 (18-20 mo)
	(BALB/c Mouse Model)	injection		inflammatory environment		. ,

## **Table 1.6** Current Literature Examining the Effects of Increasing Chronological Age on Neutrophil Migration

fMLP, f-Met-Leu-Phe; C5a, Complement Protein 5a; KC, keratinocyte chemoattractant; ZAP, zymosan activated plasma, GM-CSF, granulocyte/macrophage-colony stimulating factor; LPS, lipopolysaccharide, PMN, polymorphonuclear neutrophils; mo, months old

\* Utilized SENIEUR Protocol

Details of each study are presented as completely as possible based on information available in each publication

## **1.7 Potential Therapies**

## 1.7.1 Anti - TNFα therapy

Potential interventions to improve aberrant neutrophil migration in the healthy elderly are severely lacking. Recent evidence has shown that Adalimumab, an anti-TNF $\alpha$  monoclonal antibody capable of neutralising TNF $\alpha$  currently used in the treatment of RA, is capable of restoring the migration of neutrophils isolated from the joints of RA patients to that comparable with healthy, disease-free patients [384]. Although this highlights the importance of TNF $\alpha$  in regulating neutrophil chemotaxis and points to a role for inflamm-ageing in driving defective neutrophil migration in older donors, TNF $\alpha$  is an essential cytokine involved in orchestrating the immune response and therefore neutralisation would likely increase the susceptibility of otherwise healthy older adults infectious diseases.

## 1.7.2 Statin Therapy

Statins are a class of drugs commonly prescribed to patients with hypercholesterolemia in order to lower serum cholesterol. This class of drugs includes 5 members, atorvastatin, fluvastatin, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and simvastatin, all of which act on the mevalonate pathway to competitively inhibit HMG-CoA reductase, preventing the conversion of HMG-CoA to Mevalonate, a precursor to cholesterol [385]. This attenuates cholesterol biosynthesis and is associated with a reduction in total serum as well as low-density lipoprotein cholesterol. In 2011, simvastatin was the most commonly prescribed drug in the UK with a total of 41.2 million prescription dispensed throughout the year [386]. In recent years, the pleiotropic effects of statins have received significant attention with statins being able to reduce the risk of developing a number is diseases including dementia [387], lung cancer [388] and cardiovascular disease [389]. Of relevance to this thesis, a number of retrospective cohort studies and meta-analysis have also demonstrated the ability of statins to confer a survival advantage in older adults with pneumonia reducing rates of morbidity and mortality

[390-396]. These benefits are most apparent during the early stages in infection, which coupled with the knowledge that statins do not confer a survival advantage to patients with influenza [397], would suggest that in this situation statins may be acting on the innate immune response and may be able to modulate neutrophil anti-microbial function.

A number of studies have demonstrated the ability of statins to modulate neutrophil migration in both human and animal studies [398-401] by inhibiting the activity of RhoA-GTPase [398], post-translational modification of which occurs downstream of the mevalonate pathway [402]. Statins have also been shown to inhibit both MAPK activity and NF- $\kappa$ B-associated signalling leading to a reduction in the production of inflammatory mediators such as TNF $\alpha$ ; IL-1 $\beta$ ; IL-6 and IL-8 [402]. Levels of CRP have also been shown to be sensitive to modulation by statins [393,403].

Based on current evidence, statins present a likely candidate for therapeutic intervention to modulate migration in the healthy elderly having been shown to affect multiple pathways involved in the regulation of migration a concept that therefore needs further exploration.

# **CHAPTER 2**

## **METHODS**

## 2.1 Participants

Healthy volunteers were recruited from staff and students of the University of Birmingham and staff at Selly Oak and Queen Elizabeth Hospitals, alumni at the University of Birmingham, relatives of patients admitted into the Lung Investigation Unit, Queen Elizabeth Hospital and the Birmingham 1000 Elders Cohort, a research cohort of healthy older people aged over 60 years. To be considered "healthy" subjects were non-smokers, had no active symptoms or physical signs of acute or chronic disease (as assessed by attending physicians) and were medication free. Ethical approval was obtained and all volunteers gave informed consent prior to participation (REC 10/h1211/16) as per GCP guidelines.

Initially, participants were limited to younger (mean age 28 years; range 20-35years) or older (mean age 70 years; range 65-91 years) volunteers, but studies were then expanded to include subjects across a broad age range (from age 20 - 91).

#### 2.2 Neutrophil Isolation

Human neutrophils were isolated from the peripheral blood of healthy donors and separated on a Percoll density gradient (pH 8.5-9.5; Sigma Aldrich) as described previously [138]. Briefly, whole blood was collected into sterile vacutainers coated with Lithium heparin (BD Biosciences) and mixed gently to prevent coagulation. Whole blood was then mixed with 2% Dextran (Amersham Bioscience) in a 6:1 ratio to sediment erythrocytes. The leukocyte fraction was then removed and layered on to a discontinuous Percoll gradient consisting of 56% Percoll overlaid onto 80% Percoll. Gradients were then centrifuged at 220 x g for 20 minutes at room temperature and granulocytes were removed from the interface between 56% and 80% Percoll. Isolated granulocytes were then washed in sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS; Sigma Aldrich) and subsequently re-suspended at 2x10<sup>6</sup>/ml in sterile RPMI-1640 (with sodium bicarbonate and L-glutamine) (Sigma Aldrich). Sample purity was assessed using a commercial Giemsa statining kit (Reastain Quick-Diff Kit, Gentaur Europe) and were routinely  $\geq$  95% neutrophils and neutrophil viability was above 98% as assessed by trypan blue exclusion.

## 2.3 Migratory Dynamics

Migratory parameters were assessed using an Insall Chamber [404] an improved chemotaxis chamber (Weber Scientific International Ltd, Teddington) as described previously [335]. Briefly, Bovine Albumin Fraction V (Sigma Aldrich) was added to a final concentration of 1.125% v/v to freshly isolated neutrophils re-suspended at  $5x10^6$ /ml. Neutrophils were then allowed to adhere to an albumin coated coverslip (22x22mm, Surgipath Medical Industries Inc. Europe) previously cleaned by acid washing ( $0.4M H_2SO_4$ ) for 20 minutes at room temperature. Once neutrophils were adhered, the coverslip was inverted and placed onto an Insall chamber pre-filled with RPMI 1640. RPMI was then replaced with either fresh RPMI or a chemotactic stimulant (see chapter 3 for doses of stimulants used). Gradients were allowed to develop for up to 1 minute prior to assessment of migration.

For investigation of the role of PI3Kinase signalling, neutrophils were pre-incubated in the presence of either the non-selective PI3Kinase inhibitor LY294002 (Selleck, USA 1nM); PI3Kinase p110 $\alpha$  inhibitor (PIK-75, [ChemieTek; CT-PIK75] 7.8nM), PI3Kinase p110 $\beta$  inhibitor (TGX-221 [Selleck Chemicals; S1169] 10nM); PI3Kinase p110 $\gamma$  inhibitor (AS-252424 [Selleck Chemicals; S2671] 33nM); PI3Kinase p110 $\delta$  inhibitor (CAL-101 [Selleck Chemicals; S2226] 65nM). For investigation into the effects of statins on cell migration, cells were pre-treated Simvastatin (Sigma Aldrich; 1nM). All compounds were pre-incubated with neutrophils for 40 minutes prior to loading onto the Insall chamber. All incubation times included 20 minutes in which cells are allowed to adhere to an albumin-coated coverslip. Incubation times selected were based on pilot data collected by Dr. Elizabeth Sapey, prior to initiation of this project.

#### 2.3.1 Chemo-attractant dose responses

To determine the optimum strength of chemotactic signal which would induce the most efficient migration over the 12-minute period, dose response experiments were conducted in the presence of RPMI-1640 alone (negative control) followed by increasing doses of each chemo-attractant (see **Table 2.1**)

Initial migration studies: stimulants selected for use in studies of migration and ageing were 100nM Interleukin 8 (IL8 [rhCXCL8/IL8] R&D Systems); 100nM Growth Related Oncogene  $\alpha$  (GRO $\alpha$  [rhCXCL1/GRO $\alpha$ ] R&D Systems); 10nM N-Formyl-Methionyl-Leucyl-Phenylalanine (fMLP, Sigma Aldrich); 10nM Leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>, Sigma Aldrich) and 1nM complement protein 5a (C5a, Sigma Aldrich).

## 2.3.2 Treatment with PI3Kinase Inhibitors

Concentrations of LY294002, a broad-spectrum PI3Kinase inhibitor, and all isoform specific PI3Kinase inhibitors (PIK75, TGX-221, AS252424 and CAL-101) used during migration studies corresponded to  $IC_{50}$  values (see **Table 2.2**).

#### 2.3.3 Assessing migratory dynamics

Migratory dynamics were assessed using real-time video microscopy using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 microscope with HAL100 camera or a Leica DMI6000B with DFC360FX camera, capturing 36 frames over a 12 minute period with a 20 second delay between frames. Previous work has shown this duration of film provides similar migratory pathway data in comparison to longer filming times (30 minutes). A 20 second delay was optimal for studying migration between frames (personal communication, Dr. Elizabeth Sapey). Analysis was performed using vector analysis and ImageJ software (Wayne Rasband, NIH, Bethesda) on 10 randomly assigned cells per experiment. Cells were randomly selected by dividing image fields into equal segments and one cell tracked from each segment.

Neutrophil migration was assessed measuring 4 different parameters. Firstly, the average speed of movement (or chemokinesis) was measured from the distance travelled between frames in any given direction over time and subsequently expressed as  $\mu$ m/minute. All lengths and distances were initially recorded in units of pixels and converted to  $\mu$ m with reference to the resolution of the digital image itself, and the image magnification using a stage graticule (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, USA).

Secondly, directional migration or chemotaxis, was measured as the average speed of migration in a consistent direction relative to the orientation of the chemotactic gradient, also expressed as  $\mu$ m/minute. Due to the orientation of the stage, the stable chemoattractant gradient was always formed in the y direction [404], therefore, only distance travelled in the y direction over time was included in calculations of chemotaxis.

Thirdly persistence, for each frame the orientation of the cell (as a line from tip to tail) was compared to the previous orientation and calculated by the cosine of the angle between cellular orientations in consecutive frames, expressed with reference to the y direction and expressed as a score between 0 to 1. Cells that tend to move in a straight line, or cells that execute slow changes in direction have a high persistence value (~1); whereas cells that move randomly and rapidly change direction do not (~0).

Finally chemotactic index - the accuracy of directional orientation of each cell relative to the chemotactic gradient throughout the duration of the film, calculated using the cosine of the angle between the cells direction and the orientation of the chemo-attractant gradient at each time from forming a vector analysis of movement. This parameter is expressed in a comparative scale ranging from -1 to 1 where 1 represents movement directly towards the chemo-attractant in all frames and -1 represents movement directly away from the chemo-attractant source in all frames.

73

Chemoattractant	Dose Response (nM)	
Interleukin-8	1. 10. 100. 250. 500	
(IL8 [rhCXCL8/IL8] R&D Systems)	1, 10, 100, 200, 000	
Growth Related Oncogene-α	1. 10. 100. 500	
(GROα [rhCXCL1/GROα] R&D Systems)	1, 10, 100, 000	
N-Formyl-Methionyl-Leucyl-Phenylalanine	0.5.1.10.100.250	
(fMLP; Sigma-Aldrich)	0.0, 1, 10, 100, 200	
Leukotriene-B <sub>4</sub>	0.5.1.10.100.250	
(LTB <sub>4</sub> ; Sigma-Aldrich)	0.0, 1, 10, 100, 200	
Complement Protein 5a	0 5. 1. 10. 100. 250	
(C5a; Sigma-Aldrich)	0.0, 1, 10, 100, 200	

 Table 2.1 Chemoattractant Dose Responses

Doses used to determine the concentration of each

chemoattractant capable of inducing the most efficient migration

Inhibitor	Concentation (nM)
LY294002	1
(Cell Signalling Technology)	1
PIK-75 - p110αinhibitor	7 9
(ChemiTek)	7.0
TGX-221 - p110β inhibitor	10
(Selleck Chemicals)	10
AS-252424 - p110γ inhibitor	33
(Selleck Chemicals)	55
CAL-101 - p110δ inhibitor	65
(Selleck Chemicals)	05

Table 2.2 PI3Kinase Inhibitor Concentrations

PI3Kinase Inhibitor concentrations used in migration studies

## 2.3.4 PI3Kinase Isoform selective Inhibitor cytotoxicity

The PI3Kō inhibitor used in this study is currently in clinical trials to be used as a pharmacological intervention in patients with B cell malignancies due to its ability to induce apoptosis in these cells [405]. We therefore assessed neutrophil viability following incubation with all isoform selective inhibitors used in this study to determine the effects on neutrophil lifespan. Following isolation, neutrophils were incubated with isoform selective inhibitors for 40 minutes at room temperature and were then pelleted (250 x g, 4°, 5 minutes) and resuspended in 1x binding buffer (0.1M HEPES [pH7.4], 1.4M NaCl, 25nM CaCl₂) before incubation with mouse anti-human Annexin-v (1:50 dilution, BD Biosciences), a marker of early apoptosis, for 10 minutes on ice. Sytox Blue (1:8000, Invitrogen, UK), a nuclear stain that is excluded from healthy cells, was then added to the cell suspension and cell viability measured by Flow Cytometry (CyAN, Beckman Coulter) counting 10,000 events to reduce sample variability. Cell viability was determined by the percentage of cells that remained both AnnexinV and Sytox Blue negative following 40-minute incubation with PI3K isoform selective inhibitors.

#### 2.4 ELISA for neutrophil elastase activity

Neutrophil elastase (NE) activity was determined by quantifying the amounts of the elastasespecific fibrinogen breakdown product,  $A\alpha Val^{360}$ , in the plasma from both young and old volunteers.  $A\alpha Val^{360}$  quantification was determined by competition ELISA as described previously [406]. Briefly, rabbit anti-sera raised against the free carboxyl group of  $A\alpha Val^{360}$ was mixed with plasma samples at a 1:2500 dilution and incubated overnight at 4°C. This was then added into a 96-well tissue culture plate pre-coated with neutrophil elastase cleaved fibrinogen. Any free  $A\alpha Val^{360}$  antibody remaining in the antisera binds the degraded fibrinogen and is detected and quantified using a europium-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody. Individual samples were assessed in triplicate with the average result quoted per person to reduce intra-sample variability.

## 2.5 Neutrophil Phagocytosis (pHrodo)

Neutrophil phagocytosis was measured using a commercially available assay and as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, neutrophils were isolated as described in section 2.2 and re-suspended at 1x10<sup>6</sup>/ml in RPMI-1640 medium. 100ul aliquots were then incubated with either Staphylococcus aureus (S.aureus) or Escherichia coli (E.coli) bioparticles conjugated to the fluorescent dye pHrodo (Invitrogen Life Technologies, California, USA), which fluoresces at low pH i.e. once the particles, have been internalised into the phagosome. Un-opsonised particles were added at a final concentration of 0.33mg/ml for either 60, 45 or 30 minutes at 37°C. An equal volume of neutrophils were also stimulated with S.aureus or E.coli bioparticles and kept on ice for 60 minutes as a negative control. Following stimulation samples were washed (250 x g, 4°C, 5 minutes) in 2% cold PBS/BSA, transferred to cytometric tubes for analysis and quantified by flow cytometry (CyAN<sub>ADP</sub>, Beckman Coulter). Data were expressed as a phagocytic index, as described previously [138]: Phagocytic Index = % of phagocytosing neutrophils X mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). Un-opsonised particles were specifically chosen to more closely replicate the pulmonary environment in which non-opsonized phagocytosis predominates as the airways are not a particularly serum-rich environment [407].

## 2.6 Reactive Oxygen Species Production

Neutrophil reactive oxygen species (ROS) production was measured in quiescent or stimulated neutrophils and quantified using a luminol-based assay which detects both extracellular and intracellular free radicals [408]. Freshly isolated neutrophils were resuspended at 1x10<sup>6</sup>/ml in Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS: Gibco Invitrogen; 12.61mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 4.93mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 4.07mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> and Phenol Red Free). 1x10<sup>5</sup> neutrophils were then plated out into 96-well white plates containing 25ul luminol (working concentration 100uM) and 75ul 1x HBSS. Neutrophil were then stimulated with 2.5µM fMLP or 1.25µM IL8 using 25nM PMA a positive control. ROS production was measured at 1 minute intervals for 60

77

minutes using a Berthold luminometer and ROS generation calculated as area under the curve.

## 2.7 Flow Cytometry

## 2.7.1 Antibody Titration

All antibodies used for flow cytometry were titrated to determine a minimum concentration that would saturate expression of all target molecules. **Table 2.3** shows concentrations used for each titration, the maximum concentration used for each antibody titration was that suggested in the manufacturer's instructions. Freshly isolated neutrophils or those in whole blood were stained for target molecules as described in subsequent sections (2.7.2 and 2.7.3). CD63 has been described as an activatory receptor on neutrophils [409], therefore expression was measured in whole blood to avoid artificially high expression levels due to cellular activation during the isolation process.

## 2.7.2 Neutrophil Degranulation

Surface and internal expression of primary granule marker CD63 was measured on neutrophils stained in whole blood following red cell lysis. 100µl whole blood collected in Lithium heparin vacutainers (BD Biosciences) was washed twice (250 x g, 4°C, 5 minutes) in 1%PBS/BSA to remove autologous plasma and re-suspended in 1% PBS/BSA. Samples were then incubated with relevant antibodies for 20 minutes in the dark on ice to allow relevant antibody binding. Post-incubation, samples were washed twice (250 x g, 4°C, 5 minutes) in cold 1% PBS/BSA and then red cells were lysed using FACS lysing solution (BD Biosciences) for 10 minutes at room temperature. Samples were then washed twice (250 x g, 4°C, 5 minutes) in cold 1% PBS/BSA and subsequently fixed and permeabilised using a commercially available kit according to the manufacturers instructions (Fix and Perm, Invitrogen-Life Technologies). During permeabilisation, relevant antibodies were added

simultaneously to facilitate the detection of internal epitopes and incubated for 30minutes in the dark on ice. Samples were then washed twice in cold 1%PBS/BSA and transferred to cytometric tubes for analysis. Neutrophil degranulation was assessed by flow cytometry (Accuri C6, BD Accuri).

Antibodies were sourced as follows: mouse anti-human CD63-PE 1:20 dilution (Invitrogen – Life Technologies, clone #: CLB-gran/12 (CLB-180). Isotype control antibodies were sourced as follows: IgG1-PE (BioLegend, clone #: MOPC-21).

Table 2.3 Antibody Titrations

Antibody	Titration	Selected Dilution
CXCR1	1:100; 1:50; 1:25; 1:17	1:25
CXCR2	1:100; 1:50; 1:25; 1:17; 1:10	1:17
FPR1	1:50; 1:25; 1:12.5; 1:8.3	1:8.3
C5aR	1:50; 1:25; 1:12.5; 1:8.3	1:12.5
BLT1	1:50; 1:25; 1:12.5; 1:8.3	1:8.3
CD63	1:200; 1:100; 1:50; 1:20	1:20

Dilution of all antibodies used to determine a minimum concentration that would saturate expression of all target molecules

#### 2.7.3 Chemokine Receptor Expression

Surface expression of chemo-attractant receptors (CXCR1 [IL8 receptor], CXCR2 [IL8 and GROα receptor], FPR1 [fMLP receptor], C5aR [C5a Receptor] and BLT1 [LTB<sub>4</sub> receptor]) were measured on freshly isolated peripheral blood neutrophils. Neutrophils and all reagents were maintained on ice to reduce receptor down-regulation and/or shedding. 2x10<sup>5</sup> neutrophils were re-suspended in 1% PBS/BSA (Sigma Aldrich) and incubated with relevant FITC-labelled antibodies for 20 minutes in the dark, on ice. Post incubation, samples were washed (250 x g, 4°C, 5 minutes) in 1% cold PBS/BSA and transferred to cytometric tubes for analysis. Receptor expression was determined by flow cytometry (CyAN<sub>ADP</sub>, Beckman Coulter) counting 10,000 events to reduce sample variability.

All antibodies were sourced from R&D systems as follows: Mouse anti-human CXCR1 2µg/ml (clone #: 42075); mouse anti-human CXCR2 3µg/ml (clone #: 48311); mouse anti-human FPR1 3µg/ml (clone #: 350418); mouse anti-human BLT1 3µg/ml (clone #: 203/14F11); mouse anti-human C5aR1 2µg/ml (clone #: 347214). Isotype control antibodies were sourced from Dako as follows: mouse anti-human IgG2a 2µg/ml (clone #: DAK-GO5) and mouse anti-human IgG1 3µg/ml (clone #: DAK-GO1).

## 2.8 Mass Spectrometry

#### 2.8.1 Sample Preparation

1ml aliquots of freshly isolated neutrophils were re-suspended at  $5x10^{6}$ /ml in RPMI-1640. Neutrophils from old donors were also pre-incubated ± 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes at room temperature. All samples were then centrifuged (6000rpm, 5 minutes [MSE, Micro Centaur]) and supernatants aspirated leaving a dry pellet. Pellets were then snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use.

## 2.8.2 Lipid Extraction

Membrane lipids were extracted from whole cell lysates with acidified chloroform and methanol as described previously [410]. Dimyristoyl – phosphatidycholine (DMPC, 2nmoles), Low-substituted Hydroxypropyl Cellulose (LHPC, 0.2nmoles), Dimyristoyl-phosphatidic acid (DMPA, 0.24nmoles), Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylethanolamine (DMPE. 0.8nmoles). Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylglycerol (DMPG, 0.4nmoles) and Dimyristoyl-phosphatidylserine (DMPS, 0.4nmoles) were added as internal standards with values in brackets denoting amounts of each standard added. Briefly, cell pellets were re-suspended in 0.8ml Dulbecco's PBS (Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> free; Gibco) and briefly sonicated to ensure adequate dispersion of the pellet before addition of internal standards in the presence of butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT, 1g/50ml). Lipids were then extracted from cell lysates with the sequential addition of chloroform, methanol, chloroform (1:2:1) and allowed to separate overnight at -20°C. The lipid containing, chloroform-rich fraction was removed and dried under oxygen free nitrogen at 37°C to remove chloroform and the dry samples were stored at -20°C until use.

## 2.8.3 Membrane Lipid Quantification

Membrane lipid content was determined by electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). Samples were reconstituted in 30ul of a solution containing 20% Butanol, 60% Methanol, 16% water and 4% concentrated aqueous ammonia (NH<sub>3(aq)</sub>) and introduced by direct diffusion into a triple quadropole mass spectrometer (Quattro Ultima, Micromass, Manchester, UK) equipped with a nanoflow electrospray ionisation interface. Phospholipid species were selectively detected and quantified from a variety of precursor (P) and neutral loss (NL) scans. Phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) were analysed in positive ionisation from tandem MS/MS precursor scans of the phosphatidylcholine fragment (P184) or neutral loss of the phosphoethanolamine fragment (NL141+) respectively. Phosphatidylinositol (PI) and phosphatidylserine (PS) were quantified directly from the negative ionisation spectrum. Data were processed using Mass Lynx
software (Waters) and analysed using a macro developed at the University of Southampton, as employed in previous studies [411]. The macro enabled spectra to be smoothed, background subtracted and converted into centroid format and exported into individual Excel sample files, which were subsequently imported into the analyser programme. Correction for the 13C isotope was performed prior to calculation of percentage composition and incorporation of labelled phospholipid head groups. Only species of PC, PE, PI and PS that made up >2% of the total molar percentage of the respective phospholipid class are reported for compositional analysis.

As free cholesterol does not ionise well using ESI-MS, it was first derivatised to cholesterol acetate by the action of acetyl chloride as described previously [412] using D6 cholesterol as an internal standard, Cholesterol species were quantified from neutral loss scans of the acetate fragment (NL77).

#### 2.9 SDS-Page and Western blot

1x10<sup>6</sup> aliquots of isolated neutrophils were centrifuged at 1500xg for 2-minutes at 4°C, resuspended in lysis buffer (20mM 3-[N-Morpholino] propanesulfonic acid (MOPS), 50mM NaF, 50nM β-glycerophosphate, 10mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 1% Triton X-100 [Sigma-Aldrich, UK], 1mM 4-(2-Aminoethyl) benzensulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride (AEBSF, Sigma Aldrich), 1mM Dithiothreitol (DTT, Sigma Aldrich) and protease inhibitor cocktail [Sigma Aldrich]) and incubated on ice for 15 minutes, vortexing at 5-minute intervals. Lysates were then mixed 1:1 with 2x SDS-sample buffer (4% Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate (SDS), 0.1M Dithiothreitol, 20% Glycerol, 0.0625M Tris-HCI [pH 6.8], 0.004% bromophenol blue) and boiled for 10 minutes at 100°C. Cell lysates were then stored at -20°C until use. Prior to running the gel, defrosted samples were centrifuged at 3000rpm (MSE, Micro Centaur) for 2 minutes at room temperature.

Cell lysates were loaded onto a 5% stacking gel and 12% resolving gel and separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Lysates and pre-stained molecular weight markers

(GeneFlow Ltd) were run at 140 volts and subsequently transferred onto a 0.45 micron polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Geneflow Ltd) at 450mA for 90 minutes using a wet blotting system (BioRad). Membranes were incubated with 5% bovine serum albumin made up in TBS-Tween (0.1% Tween-20 in 1xTBS [20mM Tris; 150mM NaCI]) for 1 hour at room temperature to prevent non-specific binding of primary antibody. Membranes were then probed with either 1/1000 dilution of rabbit anti-human phospho-PI3K p85 (Tyr485)/p55 (Tyr199) (Cell Signalling Technology) or phospho-Akt (Ser473) XP (Cell Signalling Technology) both diluted in 5% BSA in 1xTBS-Tween overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation. Blots were subsequently washed 3 times in TBS-Tween for 15 minutes before incubation with anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody conjugated to horse-radish peroxidase (HRP) (Dako Cytomation). Following incubation, blots were washed three times in 1xTBS-Tween as before and proteins were visualised using enhanced chemiluminescence (EZ-ECL; Geneflow Ltd) and autoradiography against X-ray film (Amersham Pharmacia). Equal protein loading was assessed by probing blots for  $\beta$ -actin using a mouse anti-human  $\beta$ -actin (Sigma Aldrich) primary antibody followed by anti-mouse HRP secondary antibody (Cell Signalling Technology) or rabbit anti-human Akt (pan) (Cell Signalling Technology) followed by antirabbit HRP secondary antibody (DakoCytomation) using the same protocol.

# 2.10 Retrospective study of hospital outcomes following admission with a diagnosis of community acquired pneumonia to assess whether statins impact upon outcomes.

This study was a retrospective analysis of data for patients admitted to the Queen Elizabeth Hospital Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust, UK with a clinical and radiological diagnosis of community acquired pneumonia occurring between November 2009 and October 2011. Patients were included if they had an acute admission with a diagnosis of pneumonia in accordance with British Thoracic Society guidelines, namely symptoms and signs consistent with an acute lower respiratory tract infection associated with new radiographic shadowing for which there is no other explanation, where the illness is the primary reason for hospital admission and is managed as pneumonia (see **Figure 2.1** for selection procedure). Patients with other acute respiratory presentations diagnosed from medical assessment or chest radiography were excluded from the study. See **Table 2.4** for diagnoses included and excluded from this study.

Patients were classified as being on statin therapy prior to admission if they were prescribed a statin within 24 hours of hospital admission.

#### 2.10.1 Covariates

Using electronic medical records, a range of clinical parameters were also collated to determine potential confounding effects on pneumonia outcomes. In addition to diagnosis, statin therapy and patient outcome, data collected included age, gender, diabetic status, hospital length of stay, admittance onto the intensive care unit (ICU) and ICU length of stay (LoS). Levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) and numbers of circulating white blood cells (WBC) were also recorded to monitor the inflammatory state. Biochemical data collected included, Haemoglobin (Hb), clotting potential (expressed as International Normalized Ratio, INR). Sodium (Na), Potassium (K), Urea (Ur) and Creatinine (Cr) blood levels.

#### 2.10.2 Pneumonia Outcomes and statistical analysis

The primary outcome for this study was defined as all-cause mortality during hospital stay. Patients who recovered and were subsequently discharged from hospital left the study without the occurrence of the primary outcome and therefore constitute censored data.



#### Figure 2.1 Selection Procedure for Retrospective Cohort Study.

Admission into the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham UK between October 2009 and November 2011 were screened according to diagnosis to identify patients admitted with Pneumonia of unspecified of bacterial origin in their starting episode (stages 1-3). Qualifying patients were then split into users and non-users according to statin prescription prior to admission (stage 4)

Inclusion	Exclusion
Pneumonia, unspecified	Pneumothorax
Bacterial Pneumonia, unspecified	Other spontaneous pneumothorax
Other Pneumonia, organism unspecified	Traumatic Pneumothorax
Lobar Pneumonia, unspecified	Traumatic Haemopneumothorax
Hypostatic Pneumonia, unspecified	Pneumocystosis
Bronchopneumonia, Unspecified	Pneumococcal meningitis
Pneumonitis	Influenza with Pneumonia
Pneumonitis due to food and vomit	Viral Pneumonia
Abscess of lung with Pneumonia	Cytomegalovirus Pneumonitis
Pneumonia due to Haemophilus influenzae	Septicemia due to Streptococcus pneumoniae
Pneumonia due to Escherichia coli	HIV disease resulting in Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia
Pneumonia due to Klebsiella pneumoniae	Abscess of lung without Pneumonia
Pneumonia due to Mycoplasma pneumoniae	Hypersensitivity pneumonitis due to unspecified organic
Pneumonia due to Streptococcus pneumoniae	Pneumoconiosis due to asbestos and other mineral fibres
Pneumonia due to other Streptococcus sp.	
Pneumonia due to Staphylococcus sp.	
Pneumonia due to Pseudomonas sp.	
Varicella pneumonia	

 Table 2.4 Inclusion and Exclusion Diagnoses for Retrospective Cohort Study

Inclusion and Exclusion diagnoses for to identify patients admitted into Queen Elizabeth

Hospital with Pneumonia of unspecified or bacterial origin between November 2009 and

October 2011.

The cohort used in this study was stratified into 2 groups - patients who were on statins upon admission into hospital and those who were not. The cohort was then summarised by comparing statin-users to non-users and continuous variables reported as means  $\pm$  standard deviations when variables were normally distributed and as medians and interquartile ranges when variables were non-normally distributed. When considering categorical variables, data were reported as numbers with percentages in parenthesis. Normality was assessed using the Kologmorov-Smirnov test. Statin-users and non-users were compared using Mann-Whitney-U test when variables were continuous and  $\chi^2$ -test for categorical variables.

Logistic regression was used to calculate a predicted probability of death and evaluate the effects of statin therapy on the predicted survival after pneumonia. This was done using an uncorrected model taking into account age and statin therapy in the first instance. This model was then updated to correct for gender, patient diabetic status and plasma levels of CRP. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

#### 2.12 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using PASW v18.0 (Chicago, IL, USA). Data were tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov or Shapiro-Wilk when samples sizes were small. Differences between two independent or paired samples were assessed using either a paired or un-paired T-test and a one-way, factorial or mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare more than two groups when data sets were normally distributed. When data sets did not follow a normal distribution, non–parametric Mann-Whitney-U tests were performed. Differences between categorical variables were assessed using  $\chi^2$  test. Post-hoc analysis was performed using Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons where appropriate. The effects of chronological age on migratory parameters were assessed by linear regression to determine the relationship. Data were subsequently categorized by decade and assessed using a two-way ANOVA controlling for both age and

gender to determine the pattern of the relationship. In all instances, graphs are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) and statistical significant was accepted at p  $\leq$  0.05 unless otherwise stated. Unless otherwise stated all p-values are from a 2-tailed test.

### **CHAPTER 3**

## NEUTROPHIL FUNCTIONS IN THE HEALTHY

## ELDERLY

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Over the past 15 years, ageing research has uncovered numerous differences in immune cell function between young and old donors occurring as a consequence of natural ageing, termed immune-senescence. A significant proportion of this research has focussed on the adaptive arm of the immune response and the immune risk phenotype (IRP) which describes a set of parameters giving rise to an increased risk of mortality in the elderly population [44,413]. In comparison, our understanding of age-related alterations in innate immune function lags behind considerably. Ageing is associated with an increased susceptibility to bacterial infections [9,10,13,15] and reduced outcomes following infective events [20,21] which are suggestive of dysregulation of the innate immune compartment. Neutrophils are vital during the initial immune response to bacterial infection and therefore, these short-lived cells are ideal candidates for investigation into mechanisms driving immune decline associated with increasing age.

The existing literature on neutrophil migration with age is contradictory with reports of both unchanged [150,372-374] and reduced migratory function [375-379] with age. To date, only one study has assessed migration in terms of both speed of migration (chemokinesis) and direction of migration (chemotaxis) as independent parameters, describing maintained chemokinesis and a trend towards reduced chemotaxis in neutrophils isolated from the elderly [161]. However, this study utilised the under agarose assay which can only provide rough estimations of cell movement and cannot comment on individual cell migratory behaviour.

Altered neutrophil migration with age would clearly impact upon efficiency of pathogen removal, but could have consequences beyond this. There is evidence to support the hypothesis that neutrophils utilise proteinases to aid migration [228,239]. Neutrophil proteinases also facilitate cell adhesion and polarisation by interactions with integrins and cell signalling pathways [229]. Aberrant migration could be associated with increased

proteinase release, either as a consequence of cell activation by low grade systemic inflammation or could in fact contribute to increased systemic inflammation in older subjects as more proteinase would be released if the cells migratory pathways were not optimal [414]. If this were true, one would predict that neutrophils from older subjects may express more markers of primary granule degranulation on their surface, and systemically, there may be increased evidence of neutrophil proteinase activity, however, these data have not been collected in an older population.

Studies have suggested that other anti-microbial functions of neutrophils are altered in elderly adults [160,161,174], however, assessment of these functions have been performed by separate researchers, and there are no data to compare key neutrophil functions (migration, phagocytosis and ROS) in the same cohort of individuals. If all functions were suboptimal, this may have a significant impact on the ability of cells to reach and clear bacterial infection.

In this chapter it is hypothesised that neutrophils from elderly donors exhibit aberrant migration and that this would be associated with evidence of enhanced primary granule degranulation and neutrophil proteinase activity. Also where one neutrophil function was compromised with age, all others would be. This hypothesis was tested by the following aims.

1. To clarify the effects of increasing age on neutrophil migration by studying a cohort of healthy adults across the life-span;

2. To compare markers of azurophil granule degranulation and neutrophil elastase activity in *in vivo* in young and old adults;

3. To assess a broad range of neutrophil functions in a cohort of healthy young and old subjects.

#### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Neutrophils respond to chemotactic stimuli in a dose dependent manner

In order to determine the most appropriate concentration of chemokine at which to measure migration of neutrophils, migration of cells isolated from young donors was measured in response to increasing concentrations of Interleukin-8 (IL8); Growth Related Oncogene- $\alpha$  (GRO $\alpha$ ); Complement protein 5a (C5a); Leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> (LTB<sub>4</sub>) and the bacterial peptide N-Formyl-Methionyl-Leucyl-Phenylalanine (fMLP). All concentrations were within the range noted in previous studies of biological secretions in man [415]. See **Table 3.1** for selected doses used in all subsequent migratory assays. Most chemokines tested showed a classic bell shaped response curve and the final concentrations for all subsequent studies were chosen based on the greatest chemotactic response (see **Figure 3.1**).

#### 3.2.2 Neutrophils from older adults show decreased migratory accuracy

In order to assess the effects of increasing age on neutrophil migration, time-lapse video microscopy was used to track migration towards IL8, GRO $\alpha$ , C5a, LTB<sub>4</sub> and fMLP at concentrations as described in **Table 3.1**. Neutrophils were isolated from healthy elderly (age > 65) and young donors (age < 35). Initial analysis of migratory tracks suggested a loss of migratory accuracy in the elderly in response to all chemoattractants tested. **Figure 3.2** A and B show representative images of cell tracks of neutrophils from a young and old subject towards IL8. **Figure 3.2** C and D show composite data for 5 healthy old and young subjects and demonstrate clear differences in migration patterns towards the chemoattractant source (top of figure). Cell tracks towards GRO $\alpha$ , C5a, LTB<sub>4</sub> and fMLP showed similar characteristics (data not shown).

Chemoattractant	Dose Response (nM)	Optimum Dose (nM)
Interleukin-8 (IL8)	1; 10; 100; 250; 500	100
Growth Related Oncocgene-a (GROa)	1; 10; 100; 500	100
Complement Protein 5a (C5a)	0.5; 1; 10; 100; 250	1
Leukotriene B <sub>4</sub> (LTB <sub>4</sub> )	0.5; 1; 10; 100; 250	10

#### **Table 3.1 Chemoattractant Dose Response**

f-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP)

Neutrophil migratory parameters were measured in response to 0.5 - 500nM IL8, GRO $\alpha$ , C5a, LTB<sub>4</sub> or fMLP. The optimum dose of each chemoattractant was selected based on the ability to efficiently stimulate neutrophil migration in comparison to all other doses and used in all subsequent migratory assays.

0.5; 1; 10; 100; 250



Figure 3.1 Neutrophil Chemotactic Index in Response to Increasing Concentrations of IL8 GRO $\alpha$  C5a LTB<sub>4</sub> and fMLP. Neutrophil Chemotactic Index was measured in response to 0.5 – 500nM (A) IL8 (B) GRO $\alpha$  (C) C5a (D) LTB<sub>4</sub> and (E) fMLP. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by repeated measures ANOVA.

\* p<0.05 0.5nM vs. 250nM. Data are mean ± SEM (n=3).



Figure 3.2 Migratory Tracks of Neutrophils isolated from Young and Elderly donors. Images show migratory tracks on a per cell basis following exposure to a chemotactic gradient of 100nM IL8 (greatest at the top of the image). Migratory trajectories of neutrophils from (A) young and (B) old donors were tracked using Image J. Each track begins at the starting position of each respective cell and ends at the final position of the cell following 12 minutes recording. Neutrophil migration was further studied by arranging 5 migratory tracks from (C) young and (D) old donors to show their origins at x = y = 0. The y axis of the tracks represents the direction of the chemotactic gradient and the x axis denotes deviation from a straight line. All images are representative plots of multiple experiments.

## 3.2.3 Chemokinesis is preserved but Chemotaxis is impaired in neutrophils from older adults

Neutrophil migration was then analysed using parameters of chemokinesis (non-directional speed of movement), chemotaxis (directional migration towards the chemoattractant source), directional persistence and chemotactic index. Neutrophils isolated from young and elderly donors demonstrated no difference in their chemokinesis (see **Figure 3.3**): Young vs. Old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: 4.05  $\pm$  0.19 vs. 4.06  $\pm$  0.19, p=0.983; GRO $\alpha$ : 3.73  $\pm$  0.3 vs. 4.02  $\pm$  0.16, p=0.381; C5a: 3.77  $\pm$  0.15 vs. 3.58  $\pm$  0.1, p=0.286; LTB<sub>4</sub>: 3.93  $\pm$  0.26 vs. 3.6  $\pm$  0.12, p=0.191; fMLP: 3.58  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 3.96  $\pm$  0.21, p=0.327. However, chemotaxis was significantly reduced in the elderly when migrating in response to all chemoattractants studied: Young vs. old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8:1.41  $\pm$  0.22 vs. 0.57  $\pm$  0.20 p= 0.014; GRO $\alpha$ : 0.78  $\pm$ 0.19 vs. 0.09  $\pm$  0.18 p=0.02; C5a: 1.24  $\pm$  0.28 vs. 0.26  $\pm$  0.16 p=0.01; LTB<sub>4</sub>: 0.97  $\pm$  0.21 vs. 0.10  $\pm$  0.18 p=0.006; fMLP: 0.84  $\pm$  0.11 vs. 0.29  $\pm$  0.16 p<0.001 (see **Figure 3.3**).

Neutrophils from elderly donors also showed a significant reduction in migratory persistence, equating to a loss of cell orientation in respect to the chemotactic gradient, in response to GRO $\alpha$ , C5a and fMLP: Young vs. old, mean ± SEM; GRO $\alpha$ : 0.44 ± 0.03 vs. 0.24 ± 0.05 p=0.002; C5a: 0.42 ± 0.05 vs. 0.17 ± 0.06 p=0.007; fMLP: 0.49 ± 0.05 vs. 0.27 ± 0.05 p=0.007. Directional persistence was maintained with ageing towards IL8 and LTB<sub>4</sub>: Young vs. Old, mean ± SEM: IL8: 0.37 ± 0.06 vs. 0.37 ± 0.04, p=0.878; LTB<sub>4</sub>: 0.39 ± 0.06 vs. 0.27 ± 0.05, p=0.153 (see **Figure 3.4**).

Chemotactic index, an overall summary of migratory accuracy taking into account all parameters, was significantly reduced in neutrophils isolated from elderly donors compared to those isolated from young donors in response to all chemoattractants studied: Young vs. old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: 0.27  $\pm$  0.05 vs. 0.08  $\pm$  0.04 p=0.011; GRO $\alpha$ : 0.22  $\pm$  0.05 vs. 0.04  $\pm$  0.04 p<0.001; C5a: 0.26  $\pm$  0.06 vs. 0.04  $\pm$  0.04 p=0.008; LTB<sub>4</sub>: 0.23  $\pm$  0.05 vs. 0.01  $\pm$  0.04 p=0.001; fMLP: 0.18  $\pm$  0.04 vs. 0.04  $\pm$  0.01 p=0.004 (**Figure 3.4**).



Figure 3.3 Neutrophil Chemokinesis and Chemotaxis in Response to IL8, GRO $\alpha$ , C5a, LTB<sub>4</sub> and fMLP. Chemokinesis and Chemotaxis of neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) in response to shallow gradients of (A) 100nM IL8; (B) 100nM GRO $\alpha$ ; (C) 1nM C5a; (D) 10nM LTB<sub>4</sub> and (E) 10nM fMLP. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test) and statistical significance measured using an independent samples T-Test. \*p<0.05 young vs. old. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).



Figure 3.4 Neutrophil Persistence and Chemotactic Index in Response to IL8, GRO $\alpha$ , C5a, LTB<sub>4</sub> and fMLP. Persistence (frequency of directional change) and Chemotactic Index (overall summary of migration) of neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) in response to shallow gradients of (A) 100nM IL8; (B) 100nM GRO $\alpha$ ; (C) 1nM C5a; (D) 10nM LTB<sub>4</sub> and (E) 10nM fMLP. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test) and statistical significance measured using an independent samples T-Test. \*p<0.05 young vs. old. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).

#### 3.2.4 Neutrophil migratory accuracy correlates with increasing age

The results above demonstrated reduced migratory accuracy in the healthy elderly (aged > 65) compared to those under the age of 35 years. It is therefore not clear whether a reduction in migratory accuracy is a late consequence of ageing, perhaps due to impending pathology, or occurs gradually during adulthood and is a biomarker of the ageing process. To assess migration across the life-course, migratory accuracy of neutrophils isolated from donors aged between 20 and 89 years old was determined. Donors were grouped according to decade with 10 participants in each group. See **Table 3.2** for subject demographics in this cohort.

Neutrophils isolated from 70 healthy donors (non-smokers with no clinical evidence of pathology and medication free) were migrated towards IL8 (100nM). When migratory parameters were plotted by age (see **Figures 3.5** and **3.6**) there was a significant relationship between increasing chronological age and chemotaxis ( $F_{(1,68)}$ = 28.32;  $\beta$  = -0.542; p<0.001) and chemotactic index ( $F_{(1,68)}$ = 46.42;  $\beta$  = -0.637; p<0.001). By applying a model of linear regression, these data show that ageing accounts for 28.4% (R<sup>2</sup>=0.284) of the observed reduction in neutrophil chemotaxis and 39.7% (R<sup>2</sup>=0.397) of the reduction in chemotactic index. There was no significant relationship between age and either chemokinesis or persistence, which was preserved across decennials.

n		Age (years)	Gender (male)	
		mean ± SEM	n (%)	
Total	70	55 ± 2.4	35 (50)	
By Decade				
20-29	10	26.7 ± 0.4	5 (50)	
30-39	10	$34.0 \pm 0.6$	5 (50)	
40-49	10	$44.4 \pm 0.8$	5 (50)	
50-59	10	55.0 ± 0.9	5 (50)	
60-69	10	66.4 ± 0.5	5 (50)	
70-79	10	75.9 ± 0.9	5 (50)	
80-89	10	81.8 ± 0.6	5 (50)	

Table 3.2 Cohort Demographics



**Figure 3.5 Relationship between Age and Neutrophil Chemokinesis and Chemotaxis.** (A) Chemokinesis and (B) Chemotaxis of neutrophils isolated from donors aged between 20 and 89 years in response to shallow gradients of 100nM IL8. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by linear regression with significance accepted at \* p<0.05.



Figure 3.6 Relationship between Age and Neutrophil Persistence and Chemotactic Index. (A) Persistence and (B) Chemotactic Index of neutrophils isolated from donors aged between 20 and 89 years in response to shallow gradients of 100nM IL8. All data sets are normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by linear regression with significance accepted at \* p<0.05.

#### 3.2.5 Loss of migratory accuracy from 60 years of age

These data are a cross sectional sample of neutrophil function at one time point in each individual, and cannot be used to extrapolate what happens to an individuals neutrophil functions over time. However, they demonstrate a clear reduction in neutrophil migration with advancing age in a significant number of people. When migratory parameters were grouped according to decennial, there was a significant decline in chemotaxis and chemotactic index from the sixth decennial: Chemotaxis mean  $\pm$  SEM; comparing 20-29 years to 60-60 years:  $1.78 \pm 0.19$  vs.  $0.53 \pm 0.22$  p=0.006; comparing 20-29 years to 70-79 years:  $1.78 \pm 0.19$  vs.  $0.41 \pm 0.12$  p=0.002; Chemotactic Index mean  $\pm$  SEM; comparing 20-29 years to 60-69 years:  $0.36 \pm 0.04$  vs.  $0.09 \pm 0.04$  p=0.001; comparing 20-29 years to 70-79 years:  $0.36 \pm 0.04$  vs.  $0.13 \pm 0.04$  vs.  $0.05 \pm 0.02$  p<0.001; comparing 20-29 years to 80-89 years:  $0.36 \pm 0.04$  vs.  $0.13 \pm 0.05$  p=0.002 (see Figure 3.7).

## 3.2.6 Neutrophils from older adults exhibit increased expression of granule specific markers

To assess the extent to which neutrophils from older adults had mobilised their primary (Azurophil) granules, surface expression of CD63 (Granulophysin), a marker of Azurophil granule fusion with the plasma membrane was measured [147,416]. CD63 is also considered to be a marker of neutrophil activation [147] therefore, to minimise the extent to which neutrophils were artificially activated, expression of CD63 was measured in whole blood as described in chapter 2, **section 2.7.2**. Neutrophils from healthy older adults expressed significantly more CD63 on their surface compared to neutrophils isolated from young adults (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 3218.56  $\pm$  562.41 vs. 4364.61  $\pm$  258.41 p= 0.044). There was no difference in the level of CD63 stored internally (see **Figure 3.8**).



Figure 3.7 Neutrophil Migration across the Lifespan. (A) Chemotaxis and (B) Chemotactic Index of neutrophils isolated from donors aged between 20 and 89 years in response to shallow gradients of 100nM IL8. All data sets are normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test) and statistical significance measured by two-way ANOVA controlling for age and gender. There was no effect for gender on migratory parameters. \*p<0.05 vs. 20yrs; # p<0.05 vs. 30yrs;  $\phi$  p<0.05 vs. 40yrs. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).



Figure 3.8 Neutrophil Degranulation in cells from the Healthy Elderly.

(A) Surface and (B) Internal expression (mean fluorescence intensity, MFI) of the primary granule marker CD63 on neutrophils isolated from young (filled circles) and old (open circles) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. \* p<0.05 young vs. old. Bar denotes the mean for each group.

#### 3.2.7 Increased Neutrophil Elastase activity with age

Neutrophil elastase cleaves fibrinogen leaving a stable by-product, termed A $\alpha$  Val<sup>360</sup>, which can be measured in plasma. Plasma levels of A $\alpha$ Val<sup>360</sup> were measured as a footprint of neutrophil elastase activity in 10 healthy young and old donors. There was a significant increase in the concentration of A $\alpha$ Val<sup>360</sup> in the plasma of old adults when compared with plasma from young adults (Young vs. old, mean ± SEM; 10.18 ± 0.87 vs. 25.92 ± 3.45 p=0.002) indicating increased neutrophil elastase release and activity in the healthy elderly (see **Figure 3.9**).

#### 3.2.8 Neutrophil Phagocytosis of S.aureus but not E.coli is affected by increasing age

Data generated so far suggest that neutrophil migration is sub-optimal in older subjects. To assess whether all functions were equally compromised, migration, phagocytosis and ROS production were assessed in a cohort of healthy old people (aged > 65) where neutrophil migratory function was known to be reduced (n= 8) and a cohort of healthy young adults (age < 35) where migratory function was known to be preserved (n=8). The phagocytic capacity of neutrophils isolated from both young and old donors was measured in response to Staphylococcus aureus (S.aureus) or Escherichia coli (E.coli). Neutrophils were co-incubated for 30, 45 or 60 minutes and phagocytic capacity expressed as the phagocytic index (PI) calculated as the percentage of neutrophils capable of phagocytosing bacteria multiplied by the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). When compared to neutrophils isolated from young donors, the PI of neutrophils isolated from old donors in response to S.aureus showed a significant reduction at all time points (young vs. old, mean  $\pm$ SEM; 30 minutes: 73.03  $\pm$  9.2 vs.  $39.04 \pm 11.8$ ; p=0.019; 45 minutes:  $100.6 \pm 11.3$  vs.  $60.8 \pm 15.8$ ; p= 0.029; 60 minutes:  $139.9 \pm 13.8$  vs.  $86.7 \pm 20.7$ , p= 0.025). There was no difference observed in the phagocytic index of neutrophils from young and old donors following co-incubation with E.coli (see Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.9 Neutrophil Elastase Activity in Neutrophils Isolated from Young and Elderly donors. Concentration of the neutrophil-elastase specific fibrinogen breakdown product  $A\alpha Val^{360}$  in plasma collected from young (filled circles) and elderly (open circles) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. \*p<0.05 young vs. old. Bar denotes the mean for each group (n=10).



Figure 3.10 Neutrophil Phagocytosis of *S.aureus* and *E.coli*. Phagocytic Index of neutrophils isolated from young (filled circles) and old (open circles) in response to (A) *Staphylococcus aureus* or (B) *Escherichia coli* for 30, 45 or 60 minutes. All data sets are normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test) and statistical significance measured by repeated measures ANOVA. \*p<0.05 young vs. old. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=8).

#### 3.2.9 Neutrophil Superoxide Production is not affected by increasing age

The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) was measured in both quiescent and activated (fMLP or IL8 stimulated) neutrophils isolated from both young and old donors. PMA was used as a positive control. There was no significant difference in the amount of ROS produced either in the basal state or in response to 2.5µM fMLP, 1.25µM IL8 or 25nM PMA by neutrophils from either young or old donors (see **Table 3.3**).

In summary, aberrant migration in old subjects was associated with reduced phagocytosis to the gram positive pathogen *S.aureus*, but not to the gram negative pathogen *E.coli*, while reactive oxygen species was preserved with age.

	AUC (x1000)			
	Unstimuated	fMLP	IL8	PMA
Young	46.5 ± 9.7	169.7 ± 15.4	49.7 ± 10.2	312.7 ± 28.5
Old	45.8 ± 5.4	184.2 ± 38.3	62.8 ± 7.3	337.0 ± 40.6

 Table 3.3 Neutrophil Reactive Oxygen Species Production.

Neutrophils isolated from young and elderly donors and either unstimulated or stimulated with 2.5 $\mu$ M fMLP, 1.25 $\mu$ M IL8 or 25nM PMA in the presence of 100 $\mu$ M luminol to measure the production of reactive oxygen species. There were no significant differences between groups. Data are mean ± SEM (n=8). AUC: Area under the curve.

#### 3.3 Discussion

Neutrophil migration is the process by which neutrophils migrate through tissue towards the site of infection guided by sequential chemoattractant gradients consisting of cytokines, lipids, complement and bacterial proteins. Upon reaching the site of infection, neutrophils mediate bacterial clearance and degradation utilizing a variety of anti-microbial functions. Within the elderly population rates of both morbidity and mortality due to bacterial infections are significantly increased when compared to the younger population [165,417,418]. As neutrophils are the first cell to be recruited to the site of infection, the aim of this chapter was to accurately assess the effects of increasing age on neutrophil function with a particular focus on neutrophil migration. A number of studies have attempted to define the effects of increasing chronological age on neutrophil migration [150,373,376,379], however no consensus has been achieved. This study is therefore the first to provide a detailed analysis of migratory parameters of neutrophils isolated from healthy older adults when compared to those isolated from younger, gender matched controls and considered some of the physiological consequences of the changes observed.

Neutrophils isolated from healthy adults  $\geq$  60 years of age exhibited maintained chemokinesis but exhibit a significant reduction in chemotaxis and chemotactic index (overall accuracy) when migrating towards optimum concentrations of a number of physiologically relevant chemoattractants. Wenisch *et al*, the only report to date that has considered chemokinesis as an independent parameter to chemotaxis, reported maintained speed with a trend towards reduced directional migration in the elderly [161] supporting the findings presented here. However, due to the methodology used, direct comparisons cannot not be drawn. Discrepancies between work presented here and other published work reporting either no change or a reduction in neutrophil migration with age are also likely to be due to the methodology used. Most studies use a Boyden Chamber to assess migration, which does not allow for chemokinesis to be studied independently of chemotaxis and the results gained are influenced by the pore size of the filter which can vary between studies.

Data presented here are able to expand on the effect of age on neutrophil migration demonstrating a similar pattern of reduction in response to chemoattractants from different levels of the hierarchy e.g. intermediary chemoattractants (IL8 and  $LTB_4$ ) and end-point chemoattractants (C5a and fMLP). Cross sectional analysis of migration across the life span demonstrated a significant correlation between age and both chemotaxis and chemotactic index with maximal velocity being achieved between 20 and 30 years of age and thereafter exhibiting a gradual decline in function, becoming significantly compromised from 60 years and onwards. It is noteworthy that this initial decline in migratory parameters coincides with the age at which hormone changes such as the adrenopause, a gradual decline in serum levels of the steroid hormone dehydroepiandrosterone-sulphate (DHEAS), become physiologically significant by 60-70 years of age resulting serum levels being reduced to 20-30% of those observed in younger cohorts [58]. However, DHEAS has been shown to have conflicting effects on neutrophil function; it enhances neutrophil superoxide generation in vitro through activation of Protein Kinase-C<sub>β</sub> (PKC<sub>β</sub>) [419], but inhibits the migration of peripheral blood neutrophils although the mechanism of action remains unknown as this effect was shown to be independent of Akt, PKC, p38 and ERK, the classical regulators of migration [420]. This suggests that adrenopause is unlikely to be a driving factor behind reduced migratory accuracy with increasing age.

The analysis shown here suggests that increasing chronological age can only account for 28.4% of the reduction seen in chemotaxis and 39.7% of the reduction seen in chemotactic index. It is likely, therefore that other age-related changes must also influence migratory accuracy. Inflamm-ageing for example may affect cellular function by inducing a state in which neutrophils exhibit chronic low-level activation and are perhaps desensitized to chemokine stimulation as a result. Complement proteins present in the plasma of aged rats have also been shown to reduce migration of neutrophils isolated from young donors [421]. However, a link between these factors and an age-related reduction in neutrophil migration still remains to be proven and was not considered here.

Immune function has been shown to be an essential factor in increased longevity through the study of centenarian immune function. Alonso-Fernandez *et al* demonstrated neutrophil chemotaxis, phagocytosis and superoxide generation of neutrophils isolated from centenarians to be at a level comparable to that of a younger cohort (age 25 – 35 years) [378]. This suggests that those people who preserve their immune function are more likely to achieve extreme longevity. As shown in **Figure 3.7**, neutrophil chemotaxis progressively declines until the 8<sup>th</sup> decade after which the curve becomes more U-shaped. It may be that those people who have reached their 8<sup>th</sup> decade are those that exhibited a reduced level of immune-senescence in earlier life and are therefore the most likely to become centenarians. Only prospective longitudinal studies can determine how neutrophil functions decline with age and how this impacts on health. However, it may possible to compare an individual's 'immunological age' to that of a healthy cohort, in order to provide an indication as to how well their immune system is fairing against physiological changes that occur with increasing chronological age.

The natural ageing process has been causally related to a decline in organ function including the kidneys [422], liver [423] and lungs [424]. Specifically, decline in respiratory function has been shown to correlate with the systemic inflammatory burden in a dose-dependent manner [424] and it has been hypothesised that neutrophil infiltration may be a contributing factor. Certainly, neutrophils contain sufficient damaging proteins to cause tissue damage if released extracellularly, and neutrophil proteinases have been shown to cause significant cell and tissue damage *in vitro* and animal studies. Aberrant migration in the elderly may further exacerbate this situation due to the internal polarisation and exocytosis of serine proteases such as neutrophil elastase (NE) during migratory processes [223] leaving behind an area of obligate tissue damage [239]. Work presented here would support this hypothesis as surface expression of the azurophil granule specific marker, CD63 and plasma concentrations of the NE-specific fibrinogen breakdown product AaVal<sup>360</sup> were raised in the elderly indicating an augmented release of neutrophil elastase and evidence of its activity.

Coupled to aberrant migration, increased neutrophil elastase release has the potential to severely compromise organ function, particularly in the lungs where function relies upon the elastic nature of elastin, the main substrate for NE. This is demonstrated in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) where plasma concentrations of AaVal<sup>360</sup> correlate with disease progression and severity of emphysema [232].

Work presented here, although demonstrative of aberrant migration in the elderly with consequences for tissue integrity, included volunteers who were considered to be healthy i.e. medication free and having no inflammatory diseases or experiencing any infections. However *in vivo*, neutrophil migration occurs in response to infection or injury in the tissues with a concomitant increase in soluble inflammatory mediators favouring a pro-inflammatory micro-environment. It would be important to establish whether age-associated aberrant neutrophil migration was preserved or whether it was corrected during inflammatory insult, as this would have implications for the relevance of the described neutrophil phenotype in vivo. To investigate this, inflammation was compared during an acute episode of Streptococcus pneumoniae related community acquired pneumonia between young and old patients. Old patients (age > 65years) had significantly higher levels of inflammatory mediators and a greater sputum neutrophil count however, the bacterial load was also over 10 times greater than that observed in young patients (age < 35years) (see **Table 3.4**). This suggests that infiltrating neutrophils were either unable to efficiently phagocytose bacteria or exhibited delayed in arrival at the site of infection thus allowing a greater opportunity for substantial bacterial replication and infiltration. Neutrophil migration was also measured in these patients both during pneumonia infection and following recovery. Neutrophils isolated from young donors showed enhanced chemokinesis and chemotaxis during infection when compared to health, however this increase in function was absent in neutrophils isolated from old donors with chemotaxis exhibiting a significant reduction rather than an increase (Figure 3.11) (personal communication by Dr Elizabeth Sapey). These data suggest aberrant neutrophil functions are not corrected during heightened inflammation, are associated with worsening

inflammatory and infective profiles and therefore may be an important predictor of poor outcome and thus a target for therapeutic intervention.

Due to the number, age range, health status and array of stimuli used, we have demonstrated a robust, generic migratory phenotype that is a feature of natural immunesenescence and may be a contributing factor to increased rates of morbidity and mortality observed in the elderly population.

In addition to migration, both phagocytosis and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been reported to exhibit an age related functional decline in response to specific stimuli [161]. The data presented here suggest that if migration is impaired, phagocytosis of gram positive (but not gram negative) bacteria is also reduced, without an effect on ROS generation. The data for ROS generation were gained utilising pro-inflammatory mediators and not bacteria. Niwa *et al* also found no difference in ROS generation to the same chemoattractants [375] but interestingly, Wenisch *et al* demonstrated a significant reduction in ROS response to *S.aureus* stimulation but not *E.coli* [161], again suggesting a differential effect between gram positive and negative stimuli.

	Age < 35	Age > 65
n	5	5
Streptococcus pneumoniae in Sputum	5	5
Bacterial Load (Sputum; cfu/ml); Median (IQR)	6x10 <sup>8</sup> (3-8)	8x10 <sup>9</sup> (5-10) *
Neutrophil Count/ml (Sputum); Median (IQR)	15x10 <sup>6</sup> (11-25)	23x10 <sup>6</sup> (14-30) *
IL8 (Sputum); nM (IQR)	33.9 (17-46)	60 (43-64) *
LTB₄ (Sputum); nM (IQR)	47.3 (14-72)	74.1 (18-84) *
TNFα (Sputum); pM (IQR)	15.6 (10-28)	40.3 (24-51) *
IL1β (Sputum); pM (IQR)	17.2 (9-22)	40.1 (22-63) *
CRP (Plasma); mg/dl (lQR)	67 (21-98)	102 (52-139) *
Neutrophil Count/ml (blood); Median (IQR)	16.9x10 <sup>6</sup> (12-23)	17.1x10 <sup>6</sup> (11-24)
$A\alpha Val^{360}$ (Plasma); nM ± SD	2.3 ± 0.3	4.1 ± 0.4 *

Inflammatory response of 5 young and 5 elderly patients admitted into QEHB with

pneumonia infection. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov

Test) and statistical significance measured using an independent samples T-test.

\*p<0.05 young vs. old.

IQR, Interquartile Range; IL8, Interleukin-8;  $LTB_4$ , Leukotriene- $B_4$ ; TNF $\alpha$ , Tumor

Necrosis Factor- $\alpha$ ; IL1 $\beta$ , Interleukin-1 $\beta$ ; CRP, C-Reactive Protein; SD, Standard

Deviation.

\*Table provided by Dr. Elizabeth Sapey



Figure 3.11 Neutrophil Migration in Response to IL8 during Pneumonia Infection.

(A) Chemokinesis (speed of migration), (B) Chemotaxis (direction of migration) and (C) Chemotactic Index (accuracy) of neutrophils isolated from both young and old donors during pneumonia infection (dark grey bars) and following recovery (light grey bars). Migration was measured in response to shallow gradients of 100nM IL8. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test) and statistical significance measured using a factorial mixed ANOVA. \*p<0.05 health vs. disease. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=5).

\* Data provided by Dr. Elizabeth Sapey
This stimuli-specific response may reflect the nature of the response required when these stimuli are received in vivo. For example, exposure to IL8 would normally occur during the initial stages of migration where ROS production would be required to facilitate migration, whereas exposure to S.aureus would naturally occur at the site of infection where large-scale ROS production would be required to eliminate pathogenic material at the site of infection. In order to gain a more accurate picture of ageing and ROS production, stimuli should encompass a number of both particulate (e.g. S.aureus) and soluble (e.g. IL8, fMLP) stimuli, measured in both primed and un-primed neutrophils to more accurately represent the inflammatory environment and should use multiple chemiluminescent substrates in order to detect both intra- and extra-cellular ROS [425,426] and the different radical species produced. However, this is the first report where neutrophil functions have been studied in the same individuals where aberrant migration is coupled with poor phagocytosis of grampositive bacteria. These findings represent significant impairments in vital innate host immunity which could contribute to the poorer responses seen to acute infection in the elderly, together describing the decline in the anti-bacterial capacity of from elderly donors neutrophils, both in travelling to and at the site of infection. This also provides a potential mechanism by which older adults exhibit increased susceptibility gram-positive infections such as pneumonia [21] and bacterial sepsis [427].

Here it is proposed that aberrant migration in the healthy elderly results in increased collateral damage and delayed arrival at the site of infection, potentially allowing invading bacteria a greater opportunity for host infiltration. This might contribute to the increased rates of morbidity and mortality observed in the elderly population. The cross sectional data suggest that the decline in migration might progress gradually over time and that loss of function is due to the accumulation of changes during the ageing process rather than a single catastrophic event.

Mechanisms driving this process remain unclear, however, in order to improve healthspan (the amount of time the average person can expect to spend in good health); a clearer

understanding of the mechanisms regulating neutrophil migration must be obtained. These data support the concept that the neutrophil is an immunotherapeutic target in both acute infections and chronic disease, however in order to ensure an adequate immune response remains, it would be important to normalise and not neutralise neutrophil function.

### **CHAPTER 4**

# MECHANISMS OF ALTERED NEUTROPHIL

### **MIGRATION WITH AGEING**

#### 4.1 Introduction

Chapter 3 demonstrated a robust aberrant migratory phenotype in neutrophils isolated from old donors specifically, a reduced migratory accuracy with maintained speed of migration. This may result in delayed arrival at the site of infection and be a major contributing factor to the increased rates of morbidity and mortality associated with bacterial infections in the elderly population.

When a cell receives an external stimulus, it must first transmit this signal across the plasma membrane in order to evoke a cellular response, which in the case of cell migration would involve rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton and modulation of adhesive contacts on the cell surface [428]. The first stage of this response is the binding of the stimulus to its complementary receptors on the cell surface e.g. IL8 binding to CXCR1 and/or CXCR2 inducing 'outside-in' with concomitant 'inside-out' signalling inducing increases in integrin avidity on the surface [429]. This then initiates an internal signalling cascade either through recruitment of cellular signalling molecules to the plasma membrane or through interaction with the cytoskeleton inducing rearrangement, all of which results in a functional cellular response. As previously mentioned, signalling pathways involved in neutrophil directional migration are only partially understood, however signalling molecules such as phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3Kinase) [430], Akt/PKB [431], mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) [432] and members of the Rho-GTPase family [305] have all been heavily implicated in the regulation of migration. In order to identify the mechanisms driving aberrant neutrophil migration in the elderly and potentially intervene to improve innate immunity in the aged, the effects of increasing age on signalling pathways must be better understood.

It was hypothesised that aberrant migration would not be caused by differential expression of chemoattractant receptors, as migration to a broad range of chemokines was affected by ageing, and would instead be driven by dysregulated cell signalling through PI3Kinase,

particularly the class 1 isoforms  $\gamma$  and  $\delta.$  This hypothesis would be tested by the following aims:

1. To assess chemokine receptor expression on the surface of quiescent neutrophils isolated from young and old adults;

2. To measure the membrane phospholipid content of neutrophils isolated from young and old donors;

3. To compare PI3Kinase and Akt activity in neutrophils isolated from young and old donors;

4. To determine the effect of PI3Kinase inhibition on neutrophil migration using both broadspectrum and isoform selective inhibitors.

#### 4.2 Results

#### 4.2.1 Effects of age on Surface Expression of Chemoattractant Receptors

To assess any age-related defects in the proximal step of signal transduction, surface expression of receptors for the chemoattractants used in chapter 3 were measured on quiescent neutrophils isolated from healthy young (n = 20) and healthy old (n = 20) donors. Surface expression of CXCR1 (Young vs. old MFI  $\pm$  SEM 109.8  $\pm$  8.2 vs. 66.9  $\pm$  9.7; p=0.001) and CXCR2 (Young vs. old MFI  $\pm$  SEM; 68.4  $\pm$  5.7 vs. 49.01  $\pm$  7.8; p=0.025) was found to be significantly reduced on quiescent neutrophils isolated from old donors compared to young donors. However, there was no significant difference in surface expression of C5aR, BLT1 or FPR1 in neutrophils isolated from old donors (see **Figure 4.1**).



**Figure 4.1 Surface Expression of Chemoattractant Receptors on Quiescent Neutrophils.** Expression of (A) CXCR1, (B) CXCR2, (C) C5aR, (D) BLT1 and (E) FPR1 on the surface of quiescent peripheral blood neutrophils isolated from young (filled circles) and elderly (open circles) donors. Data sets were nonnormally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test), statistical significance was assessed via Mann-Whitney U test. Bar denotes the mean for each group (n=21).

#### 4.2.2 Ageing does not alter phospholipid composition of the plasma membrane

Alterations in the composition of phospholipids within the plasma membrane, particularly those with long fatty-acid chains, has been suggested as a possible mechanism by which age-related alterations in signal transduction may occur [162]. This may be due to reductions in membrane fluidity and therefore the ability of receptors to co-localize. This chapter therefore assessed the proportions of phosphatidylcholine (PC); phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylinositol (PI) present in the membrane of quiescent neutrophils isolated from young and old donors. This work was done in collaboration with Professor Anthony D. Postle, Southampton Centre for Biomedical Research, NIHR Respiratory Biomedical Research Unit, University Hospitals Southampton, UK.

Neutrophils isolated from old donors showed a significant reduction in the proportion of total PS species present in the membrane (young vs. old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 12.03  $\pm$  0.6 vs. 9.73  $\pm$  0.6, p=0.009) while total proportions of total PC, PE and PI species remained unchanged with age (see **Figure 4.2**).

Individual phosphatidylcholine (PC) species showed minor alterations with age: PC16:0/22:6 and PC18:0/22:6 were significantly reduced (young vs. old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; PC16:0/22:6: 0.9  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 0.5  $\pm$  0.06, p=0.037; PC18:0/22:6: 0.8  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 0.4  $\pm$  0.05, p=0.05). There were no age related alterations in the proportions of individual PE, PS and PI species (**Figures 4.3** - **4.6**).



Figure 4.2 Plasma Membrane Phospholipid Composition

Percentage of Phosphatidylcholine (PC), Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), Phosphatidylserine (PS) and Phosphatidylinositol (PI) present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (clear bars) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance testing by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10). \*p < 0.05 young vs. old.



Figure 4.3 Composition of Phosphatidylcholine species in the Plasma Membrane

Percentage of Phosphatidylcholine (PC) species present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (clear bars) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance was assessed by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10). \*p < 0.05 young vs. old.



Figure 4.4 Composition of Phosphatidylethanolamine species in the Plasma Membrane

Percentage of Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) species present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (clear bars) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10).



Figure 4.5 Composition of Phosphatidylserine species in the Plasma Membrane

Percentage of Phosphatidylserine (PS) species present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (clear bars) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance testing by independent samples T-test. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).



Figure 4.6 Composition of Phosphatidylinositol species in the Plasma Membrane. Percentage of Phosphatidylinositol (PI) species present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (clear bars) donors. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance testing by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10).

#### 4.2.3 PI3Kinase is constitutively active in Neutrophils from older adults

The effects of increasing chronological age were also assessed on signal transduction pathways known to be involved in migration. PI3Kinase is thought to be a major pathway involved in the control of directional migration generating an internal gradient of the inositol lipid PIP<sub>3</sub>, concentrated at the leading edge of migrating cells [275]. In order to assess the effects of age on PI3Kinase activity, neutrophil lysates from young and old donors were probed for the phosphorylated form of the Class IA regulatory subunit p85 in the presence or absence of IL8. Phosphorylation was determined via western blot using  $\beta$ -actin as a loading control and subsequently quantified by densitometry.

Neutrophils from young adults demonstrated low-level activation in the basal state followed by a transient increase in p85 phosphorylation (peaking at 1 minute) in response to IL8. In contrast, neutrophils from older adults demonstrated constitutive, basal activation of PI3Kinase that was not increased further by stimulation with IL8 (see **Figure 4.7**).

#### 4.2.4 Dysregulated PI3Kinase activation has differential effects on Akt activity

To determine the extent to which dysregulated PI3Kinase activity extended downstream, Akt/PKB activity was measured by phosphorylation of Serine473 (Ser473) in neutrophil lysates from both young (n = 3) and older (n = 3) adults. Akt plays a central role in multiple cellular responses in addition to the control of migration and can therefore be activated by numerous cellular signalling pathways. Neutrophils isolated from young and old donors showed little or no phosphorylation at Ser473 in the basal state but exhibited differential activation when stimulated with IL8 for 1 minute and 2 minutes which was lost by 5 minutes (see **Figure 4.8**).



Figure 4.7 PI3Kinase Activity with IL8 Stimulation in Neutrophils from Young and Old donors. Peripheral blood neutrophils isolated from (A) young and (B) old donors were stimulated with 100nM IL8 for the times indicated and PI3Kinase activation measured by the phosphorylation of the regulatory subunit p85.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a loading control. (C) Levels of phosphoPI3Kinase were quantified by densitometry and expressed as a ratio of phosphorylated PI3Kinase (pPI3K): $\beta$ actin in neutrophils from both young (black bars) and old (white bars) donors. Images in (A) and (B) are representative of multiple independent experiments (3 young and 4 old) which are presented in (C) as mean ± SEM.



**Figure 4.8 Akt Activity in response to IL8 in Neutrophils from Young and Old donors.** Peripheral blood neutrophils isolated from (A) young and (B) old donors were stimulated with 100nM IL8 for the times indicated and Akt activation measured by the phosphorylation of Ser473. Total Akt was used as a loading control. (C) Phosphorylation of Ser473 was quantified by densitometry and expressed as a ratio of phosphorylated Akt (pAkt):total Akt (tAkt) in neutrophils from both young (black bars) and old (white bars) donors. Images in (A) and (B) are representative of 3 independent experiments which are presented in (C) as mean ± SEM. Statistical significance was measured by independent t-test.

#### 4.2.5 Dysregulated PI3Kinase activity contributes to aberrant migration

To confirm a role for constitutive PI3Kinase activity in the manifestation of aberrant migration in neutrophils from elderly donors, neutrophils from both young and old donors were preincubated with 1µM LY294002 a broad-spectrum PI3Kinase inhibitor prior to measuring migratory parameters in response to IL8.

Pre-treatment of neutrophils from young donors with LY294002 significantly reduced chemokinesis (untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 4.9  $\pm$  0.3 vs. 3.3  $\pm$  0.5 µm/min; p=0.002), chemotaxis (untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 2.0  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 0.8  $\pm$  0.3 µm/min; p=0.001) and chemotactic index (untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.4  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.1  $\pm$  0.03 µm/min; p=0.008). However, when neutrophils isolated from old donors were used LY294002 had no effect on chemokinesis but significantly improved both chemotaxis (untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 1.1  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 1.7  $\pm$  0.1 µm/min; p=0.01) and chemotactic index (untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 1.1  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 1.7  $\pm$  0.1 µm/min; p=0.01) and chemotactic index (untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.2  $\pm$  0.02 vs. 0.4  $\pm$  0.02 µm/min; p-0.03) to levels observed in young cells (see **Figure 4.9**). These data support the proposal that constitutive PI3Kinase signalling in neutrophils from old donors is involved in the generation of an 'old migratory' phenotype.



Figure 4.9 The effect of LY294002 on Neutrophil Migration.

Peripheral neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) donors were incubated in the absence or presence of 1 $\mu$ M LY294002 and (A) chemokinesis, (B) chemotaxis and (C) chemotactic index were measured in response to 100nM IL8. All data sets were normally distributed and statistical significance measured by repeated measures ANOVA. \* p<0.05 young vs. old;  $\Phi$  p<0.05 young untreated vs. treated; # p<0.05 old untreated vs. treated. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).

## 4.2.6 Inhibition of PI3Kinase p110 $\gamma$ and $\delta$ isoforms restores migratory accuracy in neutrophils from older adults

Class I PI3Kinase consists of 4 different isoforms of the p110 catalytic subunit, ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$ ) all of which are expressed in human neutrophils and involved in migratory processes [255]. Therefore, to further elucidate the role of specific PI3Kinase isoforms in aberrant neutrophil migration, migratory studies were repeated in the presence or absence of inhibitors selective for each isoform: p110 $\alpha$  PIK-75 (7.8nM); p110 $\beta$  TGX-221 (10nM); p110 $\gamma$  AS-252424 (33nM) and p110 $\delta$  CAL-101 (65nM); all concentration used correspond to IC<sub>50</sub> values to ensure inhibitor selectivity.

Inhibition of p110 $\alpha$  or p110 $\beta$  in neutrophils isolated from young donors resulted in a significant reduction in all migratory parameters: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; p110 $\alpha$  inhibitor: chemokinesis: 5.4 ± 0.3 vs. 4.1 ± 0.4 p=0.002; chemotaxis: 3.3 ± 0.3 vs. 1.5 ± 0.4 p<0.001; persistence: 0.5 ± 0.06 vs. 0.35 ± 0.05 p=0.012; and chemotactic index: 0.5 ± 0.06 vs. 0.3 ± 0.05 p=0.011; p110 $\beta$  inhibitor: chemokinesis: 5.4 ± 0.3 vs. 3.4 ± 0.3 p<0.001; chemotaxis: 3.3 ± 0.3 vs. 0.7 ± 0.2 p<0.001; persistence: 0.5 ± 0.06 vs. 0.2 ± 0.06 p=0.001; chemotactic index: 0.5 ± 0.06 vs. 0.1 ± 0.04 p=0.001 (see **Figure 4.10**). A significant reduction in chemokinesis was also seen in cells isolated from old donors: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; p110 $\alpha$  inhibitor: 4.6 ± 0.4 vs. 3.6 ± 0.5 p= 0.035; p110 $\beta$  inhibitor: 4.6 ± 0.4 vs. 3.6 ± 0.5 p= 0.035; p110 $\beta$  inhibitor: 4.6 ± 0.4 vs. 3.6 ± 0.4 p=0.044. However, chemotaxis, persistence and chemotactic index were unaffected by inhibition of either isoform (see **Figure 4.10**).

In contrast, inhibition of p110 $\gamma$  had no effect on chemokinesis but significantly reduced: chemotaxis: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; 2.9 ± 0.3 vs. 1.1 ± 0.2 p=0.002; persistence: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; 0.5 ± 0.05 vs. 0.3 ± 0.05 p=0.001; and the chemotactic index: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; 0.5 ± 0.05 vs. 0.2 ± 0.04 p=0.001 of cells isolated from young adults (see **Figure 4.11**). However in cells isolated from older adults, inhibition p110 $\gamma$  was able to partially restore migratory accuracy by improving chemotactic index: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; 0.2 ± 0.04 vs. 0.4 ± 0.05 p=0.01 whilst preserving

chemokinesis, chemotaxis and persistence (see **Figure 4.11**). A similar effect was seen upon inhibition of p110 $\delta$  which restored both chemotaxis: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; 1.2 ± 0.2 vs. 2.7 ± 0.3 p=0.001, and the chemotactic index: untreated vs. treated, mean ± SEM; 0.2 ± 0.04 vs. 0.6 ± 0.04 p<0.001 (see **Figure 4.11**) of cells isolated from older adults to levels comparable with those isolated from their young counterparts. In young cells, inhibition of p110 $\delta$  resulted in a significant reduction in all migratory parameters (see **Figure 4.11**).

Due to the widespread reductions seen in migratory parameters following inhibition of p110 isoforms, especially in cells isolated from young donors, the percentage of viable neutrophils remaining following inhibition with PI3Kinase isoform selective inhibitors (as determined by the percentage of cells remaining annexinV and Sytox negative following incubation) were measured to ensure the inhibitors used during migratory studies were not toxic.

Following a 40-minute incubation with isoform selective PI3Kinase inhibitors, the number of viable cells was unchanged when compared to untreated cells (see **Figure 4.12**).



Figure 4.10 Effect of PI3Kinase p110  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  selective inhibitors on Neutrophil Migration. Peripheral neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) donors were pre-incubated in the absence or presence of PI3Kinase inhibitors selective for the p110 $\alpha$  (PIK-75, 7.8nM) or p110 $\beta$  (TGX-221, 10nM) catalytic subunit of class I PI3Kinase and (A) chemokinesis, (B) chemotaxis, (C) persistence and (D) chemotactic index measured in response to 100nM IL8. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by factorial repeated measures ANOVA. \* p<0.05 young vs. old;  $\phi$  p<0.05 young untreated vs. treated; # p<0.05 old untreated vs. treated. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).



Figure 4.11 Effect of PI3Kinase p110  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  selective inhibitors on Neutrophil Migration. Peripheral neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) donors were pre-incubated ± PI3Kinase inhibitors selective for the p110 $\gamma$  (AS-252424, 33nM) or p110 $\delta$  (CAL-101, 65nM) catalytic subunit of class I PI3Kinase and (A) chemokinesis, (B) chemotaxis, (C) persistence and (D) chemotactic index measured in response to 100nM IL8. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by factorial repeated measures ANOVA. \* p<0.05 young vs. old;  $\phi$  p<0.05 young untreated vs. treated; # p<0.05 old untreated vs. treated. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).



Selective Inhibitors. Percentage of viable neutrophils isolated from (A) young and (B) old donors following 45 minute incubation with isoform selective PI3Kinase inhibitors. Cell viability was determined as those that remain both Annexin V and Sytox negative following incubation  $\pm$  PI3Kinase inhibitors. Bar denotes the mean for each group (n=5).

#### 4.3 Discussion

Mechanisms driving neutrophil migration are no longer thought to exist downstream of a single linear pathway and instead occur through the complex interaction of multiple pathways when in the correct spatial and temporal orientation [254]. The aim of this chapter was to elucidate any age-related alterations in receptor expression, membrane composition and/or in the PI3Kinase/Akt signalling pathway that may be involved in the generation of the 'old-migratory phenotype' observed in chapter 3. The data show constitutive basal activation of Class I PI3Kinase, which is insensitive to further stimulation in the neutrophils of elderly donors but did not confirm data reported in rat neutrophils of a change in membrane fluidity with ageing [371]. Furthermore inhibition on PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and PI3Kinase- $\delta$  was able to correct the defects in migratory behaviour in the neutrophils from old donors.

Detection of a chemotactic gradient through GPCRs is the first stage in responding to a chemotactic gradient. Surface expression of CXCR1 (IL8 Receptor A) and CXCR2 (IL8 Receptor B which also ligates GROα, neutrophil activating peptide-2 (NAP2) and epithelial neutrophil activating protein-78 (ENA-78)) showed a significant reduction with increasing age. Neutralisation of CXCR1 has been shown to severely impair neutrophil migration [433] while inhibition of CXCR2 abrogates the age-associated increase in pulmonary inflammation following burn injury [434]. IL8 is considered to be an intermediary chemokine [211] therefore reduced expression of both IL8 receptors may impair migration during the early stages of recruitment. However, this discrepancy is unlikely to be the underlying cause of the aberrant migration observed here as the 'old-migratory phenotype' was also present when migrating towards C5a, fMLP and LTB<sub>4</sub> which signal independently of CXCR1 and CXCR2. This suggests a generic dysregulation of signal transduction downstream of receptor-ligand interactions as opposed to altered receptor specific signalling or expression.

Within the literature, few reports exist on the effects of age on neutrophil membrane composition and fluidity. Alvarez *et al* reported an age-related increase in the phospholipid

content of rat peritoneal neutrophils [371] while Ponnappan *et al* showed that increasing age did not affect the fatty acid composition of membrane phospholipids in human lymphocytes [435].To date these reports remain the only published work investigating the effects of ageing on membrane lipid composition. Here small but statistically significant changes in both the proportion of membrane phospholipid species and in individual phospholipid species were detected in neutrophils from old donors. The discrepancies with published work are likely due to the intrinsic differences between rat and human neutrophils or could also arise from the fact that here peripheral blood neutrophils were assessed, whereas Alvarez *et al* used peritoneal cells which would be activated. However, the changes observed in phospholipid species in membrane fluidity and subsequently aberrant migration with ageing. The significant reductions in phosphatidylserine (PS), a phospholipid essential in the recognition apoptotic neutrophils, though this has not been tested here.

All chemoattractants utilized in this study signal through GPCRs with a common downstream event being the activation of class I PI3Kinase isoforms [436]. Work presented here demonstrated a constitutive activation of PI3Kinse in the basal state of neutrophils isolated from healthy elderly donors which could not be further activated following stimulation with IL8. PI3Kinase signalling is a significant contributor to the regulation of migratory processes acting as both an initiator and amplifier of the PIP<sub>3</sub> response during inflammation. Inflammageing may be a contributing factor to the sustained PI3Kinase activity observed with ageing, with heightened inflammatory mediators, such as IL8 itself [437], leading to basal activation and desensitisation of immune cells. Indeed exposure to chemokines can result in internalisation of their receptor [211], which could explain the reduced CXCR1 and 2 seen in neutrophils from old donors.

Interestingly, inhibition of PI3Kinase-γ reduces mortality in a murine model of bacterial sepsis, partly by reducing the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) [438]. This

thesis is the first study to demonstrate dysregulated PI3Kinase during natural ageing [439]. Although not directly related, mutations in the gene encoding PI3Kinase are a common feature in a number of cancers including glioblastomas (27% of cases), gastric (25%), breast (8%) and lung (4%) cancers which are causally related to aberrant migration, a requirement for invasive migration and metastasis [440].

Increased basal PI3Kinase activity did not directly translate into a downstream signal, at least not through Akt phosphorylation which was not raised in the basal state. At early time points after stimulation with IL8 Akt phosphorylation was significantly higher in the elderly than in the young however; this was not sustained over time. There are a number of possible reasons for this, firstly, phosphorylation of the p85 subunit may not represent a concomitant increase in the levels of membrane localised PIP<sub>3</sub>, the p85 regulatory subunit controls the activity of class IA isoforms ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\delta$ ) while PI3Kinase- $\gamma$ , which is under the control of a p101 regulatory subunit, constitutes the dominant PIP<sub>3</sub> producing isoform at the leading edge [279,280]. However the ability of inhibitors of both PI3Kinase  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  to correct the aged migratory phenotype do not support this proposal.

Secondly, sustained, dysregulated PI3Kinase activity may not be sufficient to induce sustained up regulation of Akt activity. Additional levels of regulation exist for both PIP<sub>3</sub> and Akt independent of PI3Kinase in the form of PTEN and SHIP1 for PIP<sub>3</sub> [281] and PP2A [299] and PHLPP1/2 [300] for Akt. This possibility was not investigated here but the differential activity of either PIP<sub>3</sub> or Akt regulators in neutrophils from old vs. young donors should be included in future research. In the literature, there are a number of animal models demonstrating the importance of PI3Kinase and PIP<sub>3</sub> phosphatases in the control of directional migration. Dictyostelium discoideum lacking PTEN demonstrate preserved chemokinesis but reduced chemotaxis [441]; knockout of PTEN in Zebrafish results in reduced accuracy of migration, a phenotype that is amenable to correction by LY294002, a broad-spectrum PI3Kinase inhibitor [442] and finally, by using a green fluorescent protein

(GFP) construct specific for the PH domain of Akt, in the absence of SHIP1, Akt exhibits limited translocation to the leading edge of migrating murine neutrophils [343]. These models suggest that the balance between PI3Kinase and PTEN/SHIP1 activity in the regulation of PIP<sub>3</sub> production and localisation is essential in the co-ordination of chemotaxis and could be altered with ageing. This is supported by data presented here demonstrating a causal relationship between PI3Kinase activity and the generation of the 'old migratory' phenotype through inhibition of PI3Kinase using LY294002.

Thirdly, it is possible that the constitutive activation of PI3Kinase presented here does not result in irregular PIP<sub>3</sub> production per se (potentially due to compensation by PI3Kinase-y and/or PTEN/SHIP1), and instead this activity results in inappropriate localisation of PIP<sub>3</sub>. Here directional migration was partly restored through inhibition of PI3Kinase-y while inhibition of PI3Kinase-δ was able to recover migratory parameters in old donor neutrophils to levels comparable with the young. It is well documented within the literature the importance of these isoforms in the regulation of chemokinesis and chemotaxis [256,264,278]. Here it is proposed that 50% inhibition of these isoforms (the concentration used was in the  $IC_{50}$  range) during migratory processes is sufficient to normalize  $PIP_3$ production reducing the background 'noise', allowing greater amplification of the PIP<sub>3</sub> signal upon activation of PI3Kinase- $\delta$  and better orientating the cell along the chemotactic gradient. This is supported by work carried out by Boulven et al who reported a biphasic PIP<sub>3</sub> response when stimulated with fMLP and attributed the early peak to the action of PI3Kinase-y and the later peak to an unidentified Class IA PI3Kinase isoform [278]. The data shown here would support the notion that the other Class IA isoform involved is in fact PI3Kinase-δ.

Restoring neutrophil migration through inhibition of PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and  $-\delta$  isoforms will reduce both collateral damage caused by aberrant migration and pathological inflammation thus improving clinical outcomes during infection. Aberrant signalling as a consequence of increasing age may be a function of inflamm-ageing but restoring these pathways may

prevent the concurrent amplification of inflammation thus restoring immune homeostasis and rebuilding neutrophil functions.

### **CHAPTER 5**

### SIMVASTATIN AND NEUTROPHIL MIGRATION

#### **5.1 Introduction**

So far the data in this thesis have established an 'old-migratory phenotype' exhibiting reduced migratory accuracy with maintained speed of migration in neutrophils from old healthy donors. This phenotype is causally related to constitutive PI3Kinase signalling and can be corrected by inhibition of either PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  or  $-\delta$  isoforms highlighting a mechanism by which therapeutic intervention may be possible.

Development of new drugs, from conception to clinical use, can take up to 20 years however in this study, it was decided to look for treatments which had the potential to impact upon immune-senescence in the short term. The influence of statins, specifically simvastatin, on neutrophil migration in the healthy elderly was selected as this drug is widely prescribed to treat high serum cholesterol. Importantly, a number of studies have also shown multiple members of the statin family to have pleiotropic effects independent of their cholesterol lowering abilities, particularly in conferring a survival advantage in older adults with pneumonia [390-396]. In addition, the inhibition of HMG-CoA Reductase by statins also leads to reduced prenylation of small GTPases such as Rho and Rac, inhibiting their function [398,443,444]. As Rac lies downstream of PI3Kinase it was possible that inhibiting this pathway with statins would have the same effect as a PI3Kinase inhibitor.

Considering these data, it was hypothesised that statins would be able to correct the migratory deficit in older adults and thus increase innate immunity. This hypothesis was tested by the following aims:

To evaluate the effects of statins on pneumonia outcomes in a retrospective cohort study;
 To assess the effects of simvastatin *in vitro* on the migration of neutrophils isolated from young and old donors;

3. To identify a mechanism by which statins may act to influence neutrophil migratory dynamics in the healthy elderly.

#### 5.2 Results

#### 5.2.1 Statin Therapy prior to admission to hospital improves Pneumonia outcomes

To confirm published work on the effects of statin therapy on pneumonia outcomes, patients admitted into the Queen Elizabeth Hospital between November 2009 and October 2011 with pneumonia of a bacterial or unspecified origin as their starting episode, were grouped according to statin therapy and outcomes assessed based on their age, gender, inflammatory- and diabetic - status with the clinical endpoint being death.

Of the 2068 patients admitted into QEHB with pneumonia, 634 were taking a statin upon admission and 1434 were not. Clinical data relating to white blood cell (WBC) count, Haemoglobin, C-reactive Protein (CRP), Haemoglobin (Hb), Creatinine (Cr) and Diabetic status was also collated from the hospital database and stratified according to statin therapy. Patients taking statins prior to admission into hospital had a significantly longer hospital stay than non-users (statin user vs. statin free, mean  $\pm$  SD; 13.5  $\pm$  15.2 vs. 8.7  $\pm$  12.7 days, p<0.001), but were also more likely to survive (statin user vs. statin free, %; 83.1 vs. 75.5, p<0.001). Patients taking statins prior to admission were also significantly older (statin user vs. statin free, mean  $\pm$  SD, 75.66  $\pm$  11.7 vs. 69.2  $\pm$  20.1, p<0.001), more likely to be admitted onto ITU during their hospital stay (statin user vs. statin free, %; 10.6 vs. 7.1, p=0.008) and more likely to be diabetic (statin user vs. statin free, %; 36.4 vs. 12.1, p<0.001). In addition, those on statin therapy prior to admission had higher levels of circulating potassium, urea and creatinine but lower levels of haemoglobin and sodium than those not on a statin. Although differences between these two groups are statistically significant they are not considered to be clinically significant and are therefore unlikely to impact on patient outcome. There was no difference in CRP or numbers of circulating WBC between the two groups (see Table 5.1).

1	0			
	Statin User	Statin Free	n (%)	p value
n (%)	634 (30.7)	1434 (69.3)	2068	
Age, mean ± SD (years)	75.66 ± 11.7	69.2 ± 20.1		<0.001
Gender, n (%)				
Male	356 (56.2)	691 (48.2)	1047 (50.6)	0.001
Female	278 (43.8)	743 (51.8)	1021 (49.3)	
Patient Outcome, n (%)				
Survived	527 (83.1)	1083 (75.5)	1610 (77.9)	<0.001
Died	107 (16.9)	351 (24.5)	458 (22.2)	
Diabetic, n (%)				
Yes	231 (36.4)	173 (12.1)	404 (19.6)	<0.001
No	403 (63.6)	1259 (87.9)	1662 (80.4)	
Hospital Length of Stay, mean ± SD (days)	13.5 ± 15.2	8.7 ± 12.7		<0.001
Admittance onto ICU, n (%)				
Yes	67 (10.6)	102 (7.1)	169 (8.1)	0.008
No	567 (89.4)	1332 (92.9)	1899 (91.8)	
ICU Length of Stay, mean $\pm$ SD (days)	8.6 ± 10.3	7.7 ± 8.86		0.483
CRP, median (IQR)	93 (34 - 211)	102 (43-215.25)	1801	0.188
Haemoglobin, median (IQR)	11.9 (10.7-13.3)	12.6 (11.1-14)	1572	<0.001
WBC, median (IQR)	12.8 (9.3-16.5)	12.6 (8.9-16.9)	1573	0.709
INR, median (IQR)	1.1 (1-1.3)	1.1 (1-1.3)	1270	0.907
Sodium, median (IQR)	138 (134-141)	139 (136-142)	1505	<0.001
Potassium, median (IQR)	4.2 (3.8-4.7)	4.1 (3.7-4.6)	1510	0.005
Urea, median (IQR)	8.5 (6.1-12.3)	7.3 (4.9-11.3)	1683	<0.001
Creatinine, median (IQR)	102 (70-176)	83 (61-134)	715	<0.001

Table 5.1 Cohort characteristics split according to Statin treatment

Characteristics of patients admitted into the Queen Elizabeth hospital with pneumonia of unspecified or bacterial origin in their starting episode. ICU, Intensive Care Unit; IQR, Interquartile Range; CRP, C-reactive Protein; WBC, White Blood Cell Count; INR, International Normalized Ratio. Mann-Whitney U-test was conducted for continuous variables and  $\chi^2$ -test for categorical variables

Utilizing logistic regression, it was possible to assess the predicted probability of death (PPoD) from pneumonia, controlling for age and gender, demonstrating a significant positive relationship between age and PPoD (see **Figure 5.1**). The unadjusted Odds Ratio (OR) for death from pneumonia was 1.045, meaning for every 1 year increment in age, the probability of death increases by 4.5% (p<0.001). However when on a statin prior to admission, the OR is reduced to 0.525 (p<0.001) (model 1). There was also a significant effect for gender on this model while diabetic status had no effect on PPoD (p=0.946) (model 2; see **Table 5.2**). This model was then further expanded to take into account the inflammatory burden, represented by plasma CRP levels (model 3). Taking CRP into account (in addition to age, statin therapy and gender), the OR increased by 0.7 to 1.744 (p<0.001). In this model, gender no longer had a significant effect on the PPoD. This is represented graphically in **Figure 5.2** where PPoD is shown as a function of plasma CRP levels in patients aged 79 years, an age bracket chosen to give the greatest spread of data between the groups.



**Figure 5.1 Relationship between Predicted Probability of death from Pneumonia and Increasing Chronological Age.** The relationship between predicted probability of death from Pneumonia and increasing chronological age stratified according to statin usage prior to admission (not taking a statin, black lines; taking a statin, grey lines) and gender (male, circles; female, triangles). Relationships were assessed by linear regression controlling for age, statin therapy, gender and diabetic status.

 Table 5.2 Relationship between Predicted Probability of Death from Pneumonia

		ß	9 F	n	OR	95% CI for OR	
		Ч	<b>3.</b> L	Р		Lower	Upper
Model 1	Age	.044	.004	<0.001	1.045	1.037	1.053
	Statin User	645	.126	<0.001	.525	.410	.671
Model 2	Age	.045	.004	<0.001	1.046	1.038	1.054
	Statin User	652	.130	<0.001	.521	.404	.672
	Gender	.222	.112	.047	1.248	1.003	1.554
	Diabetes	055	.146	.707	.946	.710	1.261
Model 3	Age	.052	.005	<0.001	1.053	1.044	1.063
	Statin User	679	.137	<0.001	.507	.388	.644
	Gender	.145	.123	.240	1.156	.908	1.472
	CRP	.556	.126	<0.001	1.744	1.450	2.233

and Increasing Chronological Age

Values were obtained from logistic regression models. Model 1 was adjusted for Statin Therapy; Model 2 was adjusted for Statin Therapy, Gender and Diabetic status; Model 3 was adjusted for Statin Therapy, Gender and C-reactive Protein (CRP), diabetes was removed from this model as it has no significant effect in model 2.

S.E, Standard Error; OR, Odds Ratio



**Figure 5.2** Relationship between Predicted Probability of death from Pneumonia and **C-reactive Protein at 79 years old.** The relationship between predicted probability of death from Pneumonia and increasing levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) at 79 years old stratified according to statin therapy prior to admission (not taking a statin, black lines; taking a statin, grey lines) and gender (male, circles; female, triangles). Relationships were assessed by linear regression controlling for CRP, age, statin therapy and gender. \*p<0.05 statin free vs. statin given
#### 5.2.2 Simvastatin restores directional migration of neutrophils from older adults

To begin establishing a causative relationship between statin therapy and pneumonia outcomes, migratory parameters were measured on freshly isolated peripheral blood neutrophils from both young and old donors in the presence or absence of 1nM simvastatin, a plasma concentration equivalent to clinical clinically prescribed doses. Migratory studies were repeated using the Insall chamber, imaged using real-time video microscopy and cell tracked using ImageJ in response to 100nM IL8 and 10nM fMLP.

Neutrophils isolated from, young (n=10) and elderly (n=10) donors demonstrated maintained chemokinesis and persistence in response to IL8 and fMLP as reported in chapter 3. Both chemotaxis and chemotactic index were significantly reduced in neutrophils isolated from elderly donors when compared to those isolated from young donors (young vs. old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: chemotaxis 1.7  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 0.4  $\pm$  0.2 p<0.001; chemotactic index 0.4  $\pm$  0.04 vs. 0.1  $\pm$  0.04 p<0.001; fMLP: chemotaxis 1.7  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 0.9  $\pm$  0.2 p=0.008; chemotactic index: 0.4  $\pm$  0.04 vs. 0.1  $\pm$  0.04 vs. 0.1  $\pm$  0.03 p<0.001). Pre-incubation with 1nM simvastatin had no effect on migratory parameters of neutrophils isolated from young donors but significantly improved both the chemotaxis and chemotactic index of neutrophils isolated from old donors in response to both IL8 and fMLP (old untreated vs. treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: chemotaxis 0.4  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 2.2  $\pm$  0.1 p<0.001; chemotactic index: 0.09  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.5  $\pm$  0.04 p<0.001; fMLP: chemotaxis 0.9  $\pm$  0.2 vs. 1.8  $\pm$  0.2 p=0.005; chemotactic index 0.1  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.4  $\pm$  0.03 p=0.001 ) restoring these parameters to levels comparable to neutrophils isolated from young donors (see **Figures 5.3** and **5.4**).





Peripheral neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) were pre-incubated for 40 minutes with 1nM Simvastatin and (A) chemokinesis (B) chemotaxis (C) persistence and (D) chemotactic index measured in response to 100nM IL8. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by factorial repeated measures ANOVA. \*p<0.05 young vs. old; # p<0.05 old untreated vs. treated. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).





Peripheral neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (white bars) were pre-incubated for 40 minutes with 1nM Simvastatin and (A) chemokinesis (B) chemotaxis (C) persistence and (D) chemotactic index measured in response to 10nM fMLP. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance measured by factorial repeated measures ANOVA. \*p<0.05 young vs. old;  $\phi$  p<0.05 young untreated vs. treated; # p<0.05 old untreated vs. treated. Data are mean ± SEM (n=10).

#### 5.2.3 Simvastatin does not alter phospholipid composition of the plasma membrane

In order to ascertain a potential mechanism by which simvastatin was able to modulate neutrophil migration, the membrane phospholipid composition of neutrophils isolated from old donors pre-incubated for 40 minutes with 1nM simvastatin prior to lipid extraction was assessed. Compared to neutrophil isolated from older adults not pre-treated with simvastatin, there was no significant difference in the proportion of total PC, PE, PS and PI species in the plasma membrane (see **Figure 5.5**). Comparing individual phospholipid species, there were also no significant differences in the composition of PC, PS or PI species however, the proportion of PE 18:0p/18:2 in the membrane of neutrophils from older adults pre-treated with simvastatin was significantly reduced (old untreated vs. old treated, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 8.43  $\pm$  0.43 vs. 7.36  $\pm$  0.68, p=0.05) (see **Figures 5.6 to 5.9**). This work was done in collaboration with Professor Anthony D. Postle, Southampton Centre for Biomedical Research.



Figure 5.5 Effect of Simvastatin on Plasma Membrane Phospholipid Composition.

Percentage of Phosphatidylcholine (PC), Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), Phosphatidylserine (PS) and Phosphatidylinositol (PI) present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from old donors and pre-treated with (hashed bars) and without (clear bars) 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes prior to measurement. All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10).



Figure 5.6 Effect of Simvastatin on Composition of Phosphatidylcholine Species

Percentage of Phosphatidylcholine (PC) species present in the plasma membrane of were measured in human neutrophils isolated from old donors (clear bars) a proportion of which were treated with 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes prior to measurement (hashed bars). All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10).



Figure 5.7 Effect of Simvastatin on Composition of Phosphatidylethanolamine Species.

Percentage of Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) species present in the plasma membrane of were measured in human neutrophils isolated from old donors (clear bars) a proportion of which were treated with 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes prior to measurement (hashed bars). All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10). \*p<0.05 untreated vs. treated.



Figure 5.8 Effect of Simvastatin on Composition of Phosphatidylserine Species.

Percentage of Phosphatidylserine (PS) species present in the plasma membrane of were measured in human neutrophils isolated from old donors (clear bars) a proportion of which were treated with 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes prior to measurement (hashed bars). All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples T-test. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10).



Figure 5.9 Effect of Simvastatin on Composition of Phosphatidylinositol Species.

Percentage of Phosphatidylinositol (PI) species present in the plasma membrane of were measured in human neutrophils isolated from old donors (clear bars) a proportion of which were treated with 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes prior to measurement (hashed bars). All data sets were normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and statistical significance assessed by independent samples Ttest. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10).

# 5.2.4 Membrane Cholesterol:PC Ratio is not altered by increasing age or Simvastatin treatment

Cholesterol is the major sterol species found within membranes and is known to play a significant role in influencing membrane fluidity through interactions with the fatty acid tails of membrane phospholipids thereby preventing lateral movement and inducing a more rigid membrane structure [368]. Serum cholesterol is known to increase with age however, little is known about the effects of age on membrane cholesterol content. Although it was felt unlikely that pre-incubation with 1nM simvastatin for 40 minutes would significantly alter membrane composition, statin therapy has been shown to modulate cholesterol levels of synaptosomal plasma membranes within the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease ultimately altering membrane micro-domains and affecting membrane fluidity [445]. This possibility was therefore examined.

Neutrophils isolated from old donors showed a significant increase in membrane content of both cholesterol and PC when compared to young donors (young vs. old, mean  $\pm$  SEM; cholesterol:  $1.1 \pm 0.2$  vs.  $1.8 \pm 0.2$  p=0.019; PC:  $5.2 \pm 0.5$  vs.  $7.8 \pm 0.9$ , p=0.012) resulting in an unchanged cholesterol: PC ratio. Pre-incubation of neutrophils from old donors with 1nM simvastatin had no effect on either membrane cholesterol or PC content nor on the ratio of cholesterol:PC (see **Figure 5.10**).



Figure 5.10 Composition of free Cholesterol and Phosphatidylcholine species in the Plasma Membrane. Proportion of (A) Cholesterol and (B) Phosphatidylcholine (PC) and (C) ratio of cholesterol: PC species present in the plasma membrane of human neutrophils isolated from young (black bars) and old (clear bars) donors. Neutrophils isolated from old donors were also pre-incubated with 1nM Simvastatin for 40 minutes (hashed bars) prior to measurement. All data sets follow normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=10). \*p < 0.05 old vs. young.

#### 5.3 Discussion

Statins have been shown to have pleiotropic effects beyond their ability to lower serum cholesterol conferring a survival advantage to patients with pneumonia [390-396]. However their specific mechanisms of action remain elusive although effects on the innate immune system have been indirectly implicated. The aim of this chapter was to investigate the effects of simvastatin on the migratory dynamics of neutrophils isolated from young and old donors and identify any potential mechanisms by which this may occur. The data confirm previously published work documenting the ability of statins to confer a survival advantage during infection [390-396] and demonstrate for the first time how migration in the elderly but not the young is sensitive to modulation by simvastatin.

Statins have been shown to modulate the function of small GTPases known to be essential in mediating a number of neutrophil anti-microbial functions including phagocytosis, ROS production and migration due to their capacity to dynamically re-model the cytoskeleton [446]. In the case of migration, addition of C3 exo-enzyme, a specific inhibitor for Rho proteins, significantly impairs the ability of THP-1 monocytes to migrate towards monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP1) [401]. Statins are able to mediate this effect on small GTPases by preventing their isoprenylation [401,447] through inhibition of the enzyme 3hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase, the rate-limiting step in the mevalonate pathway. In the absence of a prenyl group (either farnesyl pyrophosphate (FPP) or geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGP)), small GTPases cannot be inserted into the membrane thereby preventing interaction with activatory molecules and inducing functional inactivity [447].

In recent years, the pleiotropic effect of statins have received significant attention with statins being suggested to reduce the risk of a number of diseases including dementia [387], lung cancer [388] and cardiovascular disease [389]. Stains have also been recently recognized as having anti-inflammatory properties through modulation of cytokine secretion [448] and prevention of endothelial dysfunction [449]. Although the observation is well documented, the

mechanism by which statins confer a survival advantage during pneumonia infection remains unclear. It was hypothesised that this may be due to the improvement of neutrophil function, strengthening defences previously weakened by natural ageing.

A number of previous studies have demonstrated the ability of statins to reduce neutrophil migratory efficiency in both human and animal studies [398-400], however these authors used statin concentrations 1,000 – 10,000 times that which would be considered therapeutically relevant. Data presented here indicate the ability of simvastatin, when used at therapeutic concentrations, to act directly on neutrophils in such a way as to reverse the age-associated decline in neutrophil migratory accuracy.

Statins are most well known for their ability to lower serum cholesterol which itself is known to increase with during ageing [450], however little is known on the effects of statins on membrane composition and therefore their ability to alter membrane fluidity. To date, no reports exist on the ability of statins to modulate neutrophil membrane phospholipid composition. Here the data show no change in the proportion of phospholipids in the membrane following pre-incubation of neutrophils from older adults with 1nM simvastatin with the exception of PE 18:0p/18:2. However the observed reduction on this single species is unlikely to constitute the mechanism by which statins modulate improvements in neutrophil migration especially as this phospholipid would not be considered to have a particularly long fatty acid chain and therefore its ability to alter membrane fluidity would be severely limited. The data also show a significant increase in the amount of cholesterol present in lipid extracts from neutrophils isolated from older adults. However the amount of phosphatidylcholine (PC), the most abundant phospholipid in eukaryote membranes [359], also showed a significant increase with age resulting in a cholesterol:PC ratio that was not affected by ageing. Pre-incubation of neutrophils from older adults with 1nM simvastatin prior to lipid extraction did not appear to have any effect on membrane composition and is therefore not a contributing factor to the ability of simvastatin to modulate neutrophil migration in the elderly.

167

It is proposed that restoring neutrophil migration through the action of simvastatin may have the potential to impact upon immune senescence in the short term reducing both pathological inflammation and the rates of morbidity and mortality from bacterial infections observed in the elderly population.

### **CHAPTER 6**

## CAN SIMVASTATIN IMPROVE NEUTROPHIL FUNCTIONS IN THE HEALTHY ELDERLY?

#### 6.1 Introduction

The data so far have demonstrated a robust aberrant migratory phenotype in the healthy elderly which was restored in *in vitro* studies through inhibition of class I PI3Kinase isoforms, specifically PI3Kinase  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$ , or through inhibition of the mevalonate pathway by treatment with simvastatin. Inhibition of either of these pathways may be particularly effective at improving innate immunity and thus reducing the rates of morbidity and mortality associated with infection. PI3Kinase- $\delta$  isoform inhibitors have been used in clinical trials of patients chronic lymphoid leukaemia for lymphoid malignancies with some suggestion of efficacy [451], however these trials have reported a number a grade 3 (severe) adverse events including pneumonia and neutropenia [452] which may limit clinical use, particularly in the elderly population. In contrast, Statins, a class of drugs widely prescribed to treat hypercholesterolemia, are safe in most patients and relatively well tolerated. This makes them an attractive intervention to improve neutrophil function in the elderly.

Existing population-based retrospective studies already suggest statin therapy may improve innate immune function *in vivo* as well as *in vitro* as reduced rates of morbidity and mortality from bacterial pneumonia have been observed in elderly patients when on statin therapy prior to admission into hospital [393,395,396]. However, *in vivo* pleiotropic effects of statins, specifically on neutrophil anti-microbial functions with advancing age, are yet to be elucidated.

Based on data presented in chapter 5, it was hypothesised that *in vivo* simvastatin therapy in older adults would restore neutrophil anti-microbial functions to levels comparable to the young. This hypothesis was tested by carrying out a double-blind placebo controlled trial investigating the effects of 80mg/day Simvastatin on neutrophil anti-microbial functions. The primary outcome was neutrophil chemotaxis in response to IL8 and fMLP. Secondary outcomes were other neutrophil migratory parameters (chemokinesis, persistence and chemotactic index, percentage cells adhering, migrating and time to initiation of migration),

neutrophil phagocytosis of *S.aureus* and *E.coli* bioparticles, reactive oxygen species production in response to IL8 and fMLP, patient safety and drug tolerability.

Work presented in this chapter was completed in partnership with Dr. Jaimin Patel, under the clinical supervision of Dr Elizabeth Sapey and Dr David Thickett, University Hospital Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

#### 6.2 Methods

In order to assess the effect of statin treatment on neutrophil function *in vivo*, a randomised double blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study was used to assess whether a daily dose of 80mg Simvastatin taken orally for two weeks was sufficient to correct any age-related defects in neutrophil functions namely migration, phagocytosis and superoxide production.

#### 6.2.1 Study Design

Power analysis suggested that a sample size of 20 was adequate. 22 healthy older (age > 60) volunteers were recruited into the study to allow for non-completion and were randomised to receive either a matched placebo or 80mg Simvastatin daily for 2 weeks in a cross–over, double-blinded, placebo controlled trial. This followed a two week wash out period (chosen to allow a new population of blood neutrophils to be released) and then subjects received the alternative treatment, again in a double blinded fashion. Simvastatin and placebo were both manufactured by Bilcare Ltd to GMP standards and the trial received ethical approval, Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) approval and was sponsored by the University of Birmingham in accordance with national regulations for Clinical Trials of an investigational medicinal product [453]. Neither medical nor laboratory staff involved in the trial were aware of the identity of the drug being taken until all analysis was competed and the trial database unblinded. All assays were performed by a single analyst.

Subjects were recruited from the 1000 Elders Cohort, a research cohort of healthy older people and written informed consent was obtained (REC 11/SC/0356). Subjects attended the Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility (WTCRF) for 4 visits over a 6-8 week period.

**Visit 1**: Subject eligibility for the study was assessed by fulfilment of all inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria (see **Table 6.1**). In order to assess liver function (LTFs), thyroid function (TFTs), creatine kinase (CK), urea and electrolyte levels (U&Es), and baseline cholesterol a peripheral blood sample was collected from each participant. Results were

reviewed by the trial physicians (Sapey and Thickett) to ensure all criteria were met and there were no contraindications to inclusion.

**Visit 2**: Inclusion and exclusion criteria were reassessed and patients were randomised to receive either placebo or simvastatin. A 35ml peripheral blood sample was collected from each subject to measure neutrophil function (migration, phagocytosis and superoxide production) immediately prior to simvastatin/placebo administration.

**Visit 3:** Following completion of the first 2 weeks of therapy, subjects returned to the WTCRF where a 35ml blood sample was collected to allow measurement of neutrophil function (migration, phagocytosis and superoxide production) and assessment of relevant health parameters (clinical review, LFTs, TFTs, U&Es, CK and full blood count) following simvastatin or placebo administration to ensure there were no adverse effects of the treatment. Cholesterol levels were assessed but were not made available to trial personnel. Subjects were then prescribed the alternative treatment (80mg Simvastatin or placebo) and asked to begin taking these tablets in 14 days time to allow a 2 week wash out period.

**Visit 4**: After completion of the second treatment, subjects returned to the WTCRF where their health status and cholesterol levels were assessed as before, and a 35ml blood sample was collected to measure neutrophil function following the second set of treatment. Subjects were asked to return all medication packaging and a treatment diary to prove compliance.

|--|

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria			
1. Age ≥ 60 years	1. Unable to provide written consent			
<ol> <li>Mentally competent to participate</li> <li>Able to provide written informed consent</li> <li>MRC dyspnoea scale &lt; 2</li> <li>Normal Lung Function (FEV1 &gt; 80% predicted, FVC &gt; 80% predicted, normal TLC, normal KCO)</li> <li>Normal peripheral oxygenation (assessed by pulse oximetry with oxygen saturation above 92%)</li> </ol>	2. History of significant chronic illness including Diabetes, COPD, Asthma, TB, Bronchiectasis, Malignancy, Auto immune disease and Cardiovascular Disease			
	<ol> <li>Clinical evidence of acute viral or bacterial</li> <li>Any regular therapies</li> <li>Pregnancy (requirement for a negative</li> </ol>			
8. No medical evidence of acute infection or chronic illness	6. Any contradictions for statin therapy			
9. Normal liver and kidney function as assessed by peripheral blood liver function, urea, creatine kinase, thyroid function tests and urinary dipstick				

MRC, Medical Research Council; FEV, Forced Expiratory Volume; FVC, Forced

Vital Capacity; TLC, Total Lung Capacity; KCO, Gas Transfer Coefficient; COPD,

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; TB, Tuberculosis

#### 6.2.2 Measurement of Neutrophil Function

Neutrophil migration was measured as described in section 2.3 in response to 100nM IL8 and 10nM fMLP; phagocytosis was measured as described in section 2.5 and superoxide production was measured as described in section 2.6.

Additional migratory parameters were determined as described below:

Neutrophil adherence (%): the number of adherent cells present within the field of view divided by the total number of cells in the field x100.

Proportion of migrating cells (%): the number of migrating cells present within the field of view divided by the number of adhered cells in the field x 100

Time to first movement (seconds): average time taken to migrate 5µm (half the average body length of a polarised cell) and presented in 20s intervals due to time delay between frames.

#### 6.2.3 Rational for choice of drug and dose

The *in vitro* data collected had suggested a positive effect on neutrophil migration with simvastatin, but other classes of statins have not been tested. It was therefore decided to utilise simvastatin. Although there is a large amount of data suggesting statins may be beneficial in animal models of infection and acute lung injury, only a single study has compared 2 doses of simvastatin (5 or 20 mg/kg given intraperitoneally 24 hours before and concomitantly with the injury to induce lung injury) and only the higher dose was effective in attenuating lung injury [454]. In a double-blind placebo-controlled study, Steiner *et al* exposed healthy volunteers to low dose intravenous endotoxin, which produces a detectable systemic inflammatory and pro-coagulant response without adverse effect [455]. Simvastatin 80mg for 4 days before endotoxin challenge inhibited these processes [455]. No other clinical studies have been published demonstrating that a lower dose is effective. Furthermore, in a study where 2265 patients following an acute coronary syndrome were randomised to receive 80 mg simvastatin, myopathy (CK >10 times the upper limit of normal associated

with muscle symptoms) occurred in only 0.4% and rhabdomyolysis (CK > 10000 units/L with or without muscle symptoms) in 0.13% after 24 months treatment [456].

14 days therapy had been selected based on two factors. Firstly, 80mg Simvastatin once daily achieves steady-state plasma concentrations, as demonstrated by a study of healthy volunteers (with no reported adverse events in this healthy group) [457]. Secondly, 14 days will allow all circulating neutrophils to be exposed to the simvastatin, based on studies of average neutrophil maturation and lifespan of approximately 11 days [124].

In light of these data, it was proposed that Simvastatin 80mg was the only choice where both *in vitro* studies and clinical data supported efficacy while maintaining an acceptable safety profile.

#### 6.3 Results

To assess the in vivo effects of simvastatin on neutrophil function, 20 healthy volunteers aged over 60 years (range 60-94 years) were recruited to the study and given either placebo or 80mg/day simvastatin for two weeks after which neutrophils were isolated from whole blood. The trial was unblinded following all data analysis in an "intention to treat" manner. Demographics and health status at enrolment of all patients who completed the trial are shown in **Table 6.2**. During the study, there were no serious adverse events (SAE). Adverse events (AE) consisted of 1 subject who developed a migraine whilst on placebo (although this patient reported a medical history of migraines) and 2 subjects who developed generalised aches whilst on the statin however none of these patients felt these side-effects were severe enough to withdraw from the trial, with all patients successfully completing the study protocol. 1 additional patient presented with a raised Creatine Kinase (CK) after taking the statin however, this was asymptomatic and did not result in this patient withdrawing from the trial. Upon consulting their GP, their CK levels had returned to baseline two weeks after completing the study protocol. 1 patient developed a chest infection whilst taking the placebo and subsequently withdrew from the trial before taking the statin, with one further patient withdrawing from the trial due to reports of negative side-effects of simvastatin appearing in the media during the course of the trial. 19 out of the 20 patients included in the study took the full statin course, with only 1 patient failing to take 1 tablet during the middle of the statin course.

	Health Status at
	Enrollment
n completed (total)	20 (23)
Age, mean (range), years	71.9 (60-94)
Gender, n (%)	
Male	9 (43)
Female	12 (57)
Smoker	
Never	13
Ex, n (PYH)	6 (21.5)
Current, n (PYH)	2 (21.5)
FEV1 , mean ± SD (L)	$2.67 \pm 0.7$
FEV1pp, mean ± SD (L)	115.5 ± 19.1
FVC, mean ± SD (L)	3.573 ± 0.8
FVCpp, mean ± SD (L)	123.25 ± 21.9
Ratio , mean ± SD	74.7 ± 9.1
BMI, mean ± SD	26.04 ± 3.7
Heart Rate, median (IQR) bpm	67 (64.5-72.0)
Blood Pressure, median (IQR) mmHg	
Systolic	142 (132-149)
Diastolic	82 (74-90.5)
Oxygen Sats, median (IQR) %	97 (96-98)
Urea, median (IQR) mmol/L	5.3 (4.4-6.5)
Creatinine, median (IQR) µmol/L	79 (69.5-80.5)
eGFR, median (IQR) ml/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	78 (66-85.5)
Bilirubin, median (IQR) µmol/L	8 (7-10)
Alkaline Phosphatase, median (IQR) IU/L	70 (60-78.5)
Alanine Transferase, median (IQR) IU/L	17 (15-22)
TSH, median (IQR) mU/L	1.9 (1.1-3.7)
FreeT4, median (IQR) pmol/L	15 (14.1-16.8)
Creatine Kinase, median (IQR) IU/L	80 (59.5-134.5)

 Table 5.2 Subject Characteristics upon Enrolment

Demographics and health status of study participants at visit 1. Participant health status was determined on the basis of lung function and biochemical blood tests and assessed by medical staff at the QE hospital. Upon determination of health status, qualifying participants were then enrolled into the trail and subsequent visits arranged. PYH, Pack year history; FEV1, Forced Expiratory Volume; FVC, Forced Vital Capacity; pp, percentage predicted; BMI, Body Mass Index; IQR, Interquartile Range; eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; TSH, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone.

#### 6.3.1 80mg/day Statin Therapy does not affect the health status of older adults

Throughout the trial, the health status of each volunteer was monitored to ensure there were no adverse side effects related to statin administration. There was no significant change in parameters used to quantify health status following prescription of 80mg/day simvastatin compared to placebo. See **Table 6.3**.

#### 6.3.2 Statin administration reduced serum cholesterol

To ensure tablets taken during this trial had therapeutic value, serum cholesterol was measured at baseline and after taking both placebo and statin as a marker of compliance. Serum cholesterol values remained unchanged following placebo but were significantly reduced following statin administration (baseline vs. placebo, median (IQR); 5.7 (5.2-6.4) vs. 5.8 (5.1-6.1) mmol/L p=0.1; baseline vs. statin, median (IQR); 5.7 (5.2-6.4) vs. 3.8 (3.6-4.4) mmol/L p<0.001). See **Figure 6.1**.

	Deseline	Placebo	Statin –	p value		
	Baseline			ΒvΡ	ΒvS	ΡvS
Heart Rate, median (IQR) bpm	67 (64.5-72.0)	73 (65-78)	72 (65.3-79.8)	0.023	0.025	1.000
Blood Pressure, median (IQR) mmHg						
Systolic	142 (132-149)	136 (122-145)	139.5 (127.8-144.8)	0.155	1.000	0.758
Diastolic	82 (74-90.5)	81 (73.5-85)	77 (68-82)	0.757	0.214	1.000
Oxygen Sats, median (IQR) %	97 (96-98)	97 (97-98)	97.5 (96-98)	0.254	0.429	1.000
Urea, median (IQR) mmol/L	5.3 (4.4-6.5)	5.7 (5.1-6.2)	5.6 (4.9-6.8)	1.000	0.902	1.000
Creatinine, median (IQR) µmol/L	79 (69.5-80.5)	74.5 (64-81.3)	74.5 (68.5-80)	1.000	1.000	0.668
eGFR, median (IQR) ml/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	78 (66-85.5)	80.5 (68-89)	79 (66.3-86.8)	0.845	1.000	0.614
Bilirubin, median (IQR) µmol/L	8 (7-10)	7 (6.5-10)	7 (2.3-10.8)	1.000	1.000	1.000
Alkaline Phosphatase, median (IQR) IU/L	70 (60-78.5)	74 (58.5-83.50	69.5 (56.8-79.5)	0.427	1.000	0.314
Alanine Transferase, median (IQR) IU/L	17 (15-22)	17 (13-21)	17 (15-21.5)	1.000	1.000	0.942
TSH, median (IQR) mU/L	1.9 (1.1-3.7)	1.9 (0.9-5.3)	1.81 (1.1-6.2)	0.889	1.000	1.000
FreeT4, median (IQR) pmol/L	15 (14.1-16.8)	15.5 (12.9-17.2)	15.9 (13-16.5)	1.000	1.000	1.000
Creatine Kinase, median (IQR) IU/L	80 (59.5-134.5)	78 (56.5-104)	74.5 (64.8-115.25)	1.000	0.928	0.909

**Table 6.3** Health status of Study Participants throughout the Trial Protocol

Participant health status was determined on the basis of biochemical blood tests and assessed and monitored though out the trial

by medical staff at the QE hospital. Upon determination of health status, qualifying participants were then enrolled into the trail and subsequent visits arranged. IQR, Interquartile Range, eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate, TSH, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone.



Figure 6.1 Serum Cholesterol levels Throughout Trial Protocol

Serum Cholesterol was measured at baseline and following prescription of both placebo and simvastatin to confirm compliance with trial protocol. Data sets were normally distributed and significance assessed by repeated measured ANOVA. \*p<0.05 baseline vs. simvastatin;  $\phi$  p<0.05 placebo vs. simvastatin, Data sets are from 20 independent experiments with bar showing the mean for each group.

#### 6.3.3 In vivo statin therapy restores neutrophil migration in the healthy elderly

Neutrophil migration was measured in response to 100nM IL8 and 10nM fMLP at baseline and following prescription of placebo or 80mg/day simvastatin for two weeks. Statistical significance was measured using the Wilcoxon Signed-Rank test and p values manually adjusted for Bonferroni correction and therefore significance was accepted at  $p \le 0.017$  with the exception of neutrophil persistence which was normally distributed and therefore assessed using a repeated measured ANOVA with significance accepted at p < 0.05.

Following a two week prescription of 80mg/day of simvastatin, chemokinesis was reduced in the basal state (in the presence of buffer alone) compared to baseline (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 2.92  $\pm$  0.1 vs. 2.6  $\pm$  0.1, p = 0.16) but not when compared to placebo (placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 2.78  $\pm$  0.15 vs. 2.6  $\pm$  0.12, p = 0.184). In the presence of IL8, chemokinesis following simvastatin treatment was unaffected when compared to both baseline and placebo values (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 1L8: 4.05  $\pm$  0.13 vs. 3.94  $\pm$  0.17 p = 0.297; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 4.06  $\pm$  0.13 vs. 3.94  $\pm$  0.17, p = 0.221). Chemokinesis towards fMLP was also unaffected by simvastatin therapy when compared to baseline (baseline vs. statin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 4.12  $\pm$  0.12 vs. 3.71  $\pm$  0.18, p = 0.025) or placebo (4.06  $\pm$  0.15 vs. 3.71  $\pm$  0.18, p = 0.091) (see **Figure 6.2**).

Chemotaxis was unaffected by simvastatin treatment in the basal state (mean  $\pm$  SEM; baseline vs. simvastatin, 0.19  $\pm$  0.07 vs. 0.21  $\pm$  0.07, p = 0.174; placebo vs. simvastatin, 4.06  $\pm$  0.13 vs. 3.93  $\pm$  0.17, p = 0.184). There was a trend towards increased chemotaxis with statin therapy when migrating towards IL8 (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.96  $\pm$  0.13 – 1.28  $\pm$  0.16, p = 0.020; placebo vs. baseline, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.86  $\pm$  0.17 vs. 1.28  $\pm$  0.16, p = 0.022). Migration towards fMLP was significantly increased when compared to both baseline and placebo values (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.766  $\pm$  0.15 vs. 1.09  $\pm$  0.09, p = 0.013; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 0.55  $\pm$  0.13 vs. 1.09  $\pm$  0.09, p =

0.001). There was no significant difference in chemotaxis following placebo treatment compared to baseline (see **Figure 6.3**).



Figure 6.2 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Chemokinesis in response to IL8 or fMLP. Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Chemokinesis was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP. Data sets were non-normally distributed and statistical significance assessed by Wilcoxon-Signed Rank Test with significance accepted at p<0.017 to adjust for Bonferroni correction. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline; #p<0.017 compared to placebo





Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Chemotaxis was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP. Data sets were non-normally distributed and statistical significance assessed by Wilcoxon-Signed Rank Test with significance accepted at p<0.017 to adjust for Bonferroni correction. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline; #p<0.017 compared to placebo

Persistence, a measure of cell orientation toward the chemotactic gradient, was unaffected in the basal state following simvastatin treatment (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.24  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.25  $\pm$  0.02, p = 1.000; placebo vs. statin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 0.17  $\pm$  0.02 vs. 0.25  $\pm$  0.02, p = 0.213). In response to a gradient of IL8, persistence was significantly increased following simvastatin treatment when compared to baseline (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.26  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.41  $\pm$  0.04) but not when compared to placebo (placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.26  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.41  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.41  $\pm$  0.04, p = 0.106). Persistence toward fMLP was unaffected by statin therapy when compared to baseline (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.25  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.30  $\pm$  0.03 p = 0.983). Following placebo treatment, persistence was unaffected in the basal state and when migrating towards IL8 but was significantly increased when compared to baseline and following simvastatin therapy when migrating towards IL8 but was significantly increased when compared to baseline and following simvastatin therapy when migrating toward fMLP (baseline vs. placebo, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.25  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.4  $\pm$  0.02, p = 0.001; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.4  $\pm$  0.02 vs. 0.29  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.4  $\pm$  0.02, p = 0.001; placebo vs.

In the basal state, the chemotactic index (CI), an overall measure of migratory accuracy, was unaffected by simvastatin therapy. When migrating towards IL8, CI was significantly increased when compared to placebo (placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 0.16  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.24  $\pm$  0.03, p = 0.007) but not when compared to baseline (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.15  $\pm$  0.02 vs. 0.23  $\pm$  0.03, p = 0.091). In response to fMLP, CI was significantly increased following simvastatin treatment when compared to both baseline and placebo (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.12  $\pm$  0.02 vs. 0.20  $\pm$  0.03, p = 0.015; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.09  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 0.20  $\pm$  0.03, p = 0.001). There was no significant difference following placebo treatment compared to baseline (see **Figure 6.5**).



Figure 6.4 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Persistence in Response to IL8 or fMLP. Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Persistence was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP. Data was normally distributed and significance assessed by repeated-measured ANOVA with significance accepted at p<0.05. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline;  $\Phi$  p<0.017 compared to statin



Figure 6.5 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Chemotactic Index in response to IL8 or fMLP. Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Chemotactic index was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP. Data sets were non-normally distributed and statistical significance assessed by Wilcoxon-Signed Rank Test with significance accepted at p<0.017 to adjust for Bonferroni correction. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline; #p<0.017 compared to placebo

Additional parameters pertaining to neutrophil migration were also collated, namely percentage of cell adhered to the coverslip (% adherent), the percentage of those adherent cells that initiated migration (% migration) and the time to first movement defined as the average time taken to migrate five micrometres (chosen to represent half the average body length of a polarised cell).

In the basal state, the proportion of adherent cells was significantly reduced following placebo treatment compared to baseline (baseline vs. placebo, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 79.15  $\pm$  1.57 vs. 73.35  $\pm$  1.88, p <0.001) and further reduced following simvastatin therapy (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 79.15  $\pm$  1.57 vs. 67.25  $\pm$  2.81, p < 0.001; placebo vs. simvastatin 73.35  $\pm$  1.88 vs. 67.25  $\pm$  2.81, p = 0.017). In the presence of IL8, % adherent cells was significantly reduced following simvastatin therapy when compared to both baseline and following placebo therapy (baseline vs. placebo, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 90.85  $\pm$  1.06 vs. 73.4  $\pm$  1.79, p < 0.001; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 89.1  $\pm$  1.36 vs. 73.4  $\pm$  1.79, p < 0.001). In response to fMLP, % adherent cells was unchanged when compared to baseline (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 85.63  $\pm$  2.27 vs. 82.8  $\pm$  1.70, p = 0.097) while there was a trend towards reduced adherence following statin therapy compared to placebo (placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 87.45  $\pm$  1.7 vs. 82.8  $\pm$  1.70, p = 0.029). There was no effect on % adherence following placebo treatment when exposed to either IL8 or fMLP (see **Figure 6.6**).



Figure 6.6 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Adherence when Migrating towards IL8 and fMLP. Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Adherence was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP. Data sets were non-normally distributed and statistical significance assessed by Wilcoxon-Signed Rank Test with significance accepted at p<0.017 to adjust for Bonferroni correction. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline; #p<0.017 compared to placebo
The proportion of cells migrating (% migration) was unaffected by simvastatin in the basal state when compared to baseline or placebo (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 26.9  $\pm$  1.34 vs. 23.65  $\pm$  1.60, p = 0.105; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 22.3  $\pm$  1.85 vs. 23.65  $\pm$  1.60, p = 1.000). When migrating towards IL8, the proportion of migrating neutrophils was significantly increased following simvastatin therapy compared to baseline (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 48.35  $\pm$  1.57 vs. 65.6  $\pm$  4.48, p = 0.002) but not compared to placebo (placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 74.45  $\pm$  3.94 vs. 65.6  $\pm$  4.48, p = 0.882). In response to fMLP, the proportion of migrating cells was significantly increased following simvastatin therapy due to both baseline and placebo (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 56.7  $\pm$  1.82 vs. 47.33  $\pm$  1.68, p < 0.001; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM,; 56.35  $\pm$  1.52 vs. 47.33  $\pm$  1.68, p < 0.002). Following placebo treatment, the proportion of migrating cells was significantly increased to baseline (baseline vs. placebo, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 48.35  $\pm$  1.56 vs. 74.45  $\pm$  3.94, p < 0.001) but unaffected in the basal state or when migrating towards fMLP (see **Figure 6.7**).

In the basal state, the time to first movement was unaffected by simvastatin treatment when compared to both baseline and following placebo (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 114  $\pm$  4.83 vs. 121  $\pm$  3.40, p = 0.086; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 122  $\pm$  4.32 vs. 121  $\pm$  3.40, p = 448). When migrating towards IL8 and fMLP, this was significantly increased following simvastatin therapy when compared to both baseline and placebo (baseline vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: 95  $\pm$  3.51 vs. 113  $\pm$  3.33, p = 0.003; fMLP: 87.37  $\pm$  2.74 vs. 110  $\pm$  4.35, p < 0.001; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: 95  $\pm$  3.51 vs. 113  $\pm$  3.33, p = 0.003; fMLP: 87.37  $\pm$  2.74 vs. 110  $\pm$  4.35, p < 0.001; placebo vs. simvastatin, mean  $\pm$  SEM; IL8: 92  $\pm$  2.25 vs. 113.  $\pm$  3.33, p < 0.001; fMLP: 89  $\pm$  2.70 vs. 110  $\pm$  4.35, p = 0.003). There was no effect on the time to first movement following placebo treatment when exposed to either IL8 or fMLP or in the basal state (see **Figure 6.8**).



Figure 6.7 Effect of Simvastatin on Percentage of Migrating Neutrophil in response to IL8 and fMLP. Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Proportion of migrating neutrophils was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP. Data was normally distributed and significance assessed by repeated-measured ANOVA with significance accepted at p<0.05. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline; #p<0.017 compared to placebo



Figure 6.8 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Time to First Movement in response to IL8 and fMLP. Migration of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. Initiation Time was measured in response to 100nM IL8 or 10nM fMLP Data sets were non-normally distributed and statistical significance assessed by Wilcoxon-Signed Rank Test with significance accepted at p<0.017 to adjust for Bonferroni correction. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20). \*p<0.017 compared to baseline; #p<0.017 compared to placebo

# 6.3.4 In vivo statin therapy has no effect on neutrophil phagocytosis in the healthy elderly

Neutrophil phagocytosis was measured in response to *S.aureus* and *E.coli* bioparticles at baseline and following prescription of placebo or simvastatin and the phagocytic index (PI) calculated. Changes in Phagocytic Index (mean  $\pm$  SEM) between treatment groups are presented in **Figure 6.9**.

There was no significant difference following statin prescription compared to baseline at any time point nor was there any difference between baseline and placebo at any time point. There was a significant effect for placebo treatment at 30 minutes when compared to statin treatment (placebo vs. statin, mean  $\pm$  SEM, 54.09  $\pm$  9.04 vs. 31.56  $\pm$  6.39, p=0.046); this effect was lost at later time points.

Upon co-incubation with *E.coli* bioparticles for 30-minutes, there was a significant increase in the phagocytic capacity of neutrophils isolated following placebo prescription when compared to baseline (Baseline vs. placebo, mean  $\pm$  SEM; 19.2  $\pm$  4.3 vs. 33.21  $\pm$  4.5, p=0.042). There was no difference observed in the phagocytic capacity of neutrophils in response to *E.coli* bioparticles at any subsequent time points or following prescription of 80mg/day simvastatin (see **Figure 6.9**).



Figure 6.9 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil Phagocytosis of *S.aureus* and *E.coli*.

Phagocytic Index of neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black circles) and after prescription of placebo (black triangles) or 80mg/day simvastatin (black diamonds) for two weeks. Phagocytosis was measured in response to (A) *Staphylococcus aureus* and (B) *Escherichia coli* for 30, 45 or 60 minutes. All data sets are normally distributed and statistical significance measured by repeated measured ANOVA with significance accepted at p<0.05.  $\Phi$ p<0.05 Placebo vs. Statin; \*p<0.05 Baseline vs. Placebo. Data are mean ± SEM (n=20). Pl: Phagocytic Index.

#### 6.3.5 In vivo statin therapy has no effect on ROS production in the healthy elderly

Production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) was measured by neutrophils isolated from healthy elderly donors at baseline and following placebo or simvastatin therapy using PMA as a positive control. There was a significant increase in the amount of ROS produced in response to  $2.5\mu$ M fMLP and 25nM PMA but not 1.25nM IL8 when compared to unstimulated neutrophils (unstimulated vs. stimulated, mean ± SEM; fMLP:  $47.75 \pm 6.84 - 191.168 \pm 41.43$ , p= 0.009; PMA:  $47.75 \pm 6.84 - 342.84 \pm 51.75$ , p < 0.001). There was however, no significant difference in the amount of ROS generated by neutrophils isolated from donors following prescription of placebo or simvastatin for two weeks compared to baseline or placebo (see **Figure 6.10**).

In summary, a daily dose of 80mg Simvastatin for two weeks, improved neutrophil chemotaxis, reduced neutrophil adherence to albumin, reduced the percentage of cells that migrate but increased the time taken to initiate movement. In addition, 80mg/day Simvastatin did impact upon phagocytosis or ROS production.



Figure 6.10 Effect of Simvastatin on Neutrophil ROS Production in Response to fMLP, PMA and IL8.

Production of Reactive Oxygen species (ROS) by neutrophils isolated from old donors at baseline (black bars) and after prescription of placebo (hashed bars) or 80mg/day simvastatin (white bars) for two weeks. ROS production was measured in response to  $2.5\mu$ M fMLP, 25nM PMA or  $1.25\mu$ M IL8 in the presence of  $100\mu$ M luminol. Data are mean ± SEM (n=20). AUC: area under the curve.

#### 6.4 Discussion

Statins are a family of drugs widely prescribed in the general population to lower serum cholesterol. Simvastatin, the most commonly prescribed member of this family, is relatively well tolerated, safe to prescribe and inexpensive to manufacture as it is off patent. The previous chapter demonstrated the *in vitro* ability of simvastatin to restore aberrant neutrophil migration in neutrophils from the healthy elderly to levels comparable to that seen in young donors. This medication was therefore used in a clinical trial as a potential intervention to overcome immune-senescence in the healthy elderly population. The data demonstrate for the first time the ability of simvastatin to improve neutrophil migration but not ROS production in response to both intermediate (IL8) and end-point (fMLP) chemoattractants, or unopsonised phagocytosis of *S.aureus* or *E.coli* bioparticles in a small cohort of older adults. Little work exists on the in vivo effects of simvastatin of neutrophil function in the healthy elderly with this report forming the most complete assessment to date. The primary endpoint of this trial was the improvement of neutrophil chemotaxis in response to IL8 and fMLP. A number of secondary endpoints were also modified by simvastatin including neutrophil chemokinesis, persistence and chemotactic index along with percentage adherence, percentage cells migrating and time to first movement. Other secondary end-points were not improved including phagocytosis and ROS production. Overall, prescription of simvastatin improved migratory dynamics without negatively impacting on other neutrophil functions and would therefore appear to be a safe intervention with which to improve neutrophil migration in older adults.

The only other clinical trial to date investigating the effects statins on neutrophil migration found migration to be reduced following a two week prescription of 40mg atorvastatin [458], while data presented here describe a beneficial effect of simvastatin on neutrophil migration in the healthy elderly. Comparisons between these two studies should however be drawn with caution for a number of reasons: firstly, different statins were used. It is currently unclear

whether actions on cell behaviour are a class effect or limited to certain statins. Secondly the statins used were at different doses. Although within the clinical range, the concentration of simvastatin used in this thesis was 80mg/day whereas atorvastatin was used at 40mg/day, the mid-range dose. Mita et al have suggested differential effects across the statin family: in an open-label prospective crossover trial, pravastatin was found to have a more favourable effect on pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell function compared to Atorvastatin in patients with type-2 diabetes [459]. This suggests that different statins have the ability to differentially regulate cell function perhaps owing to their different chemical structures and doses used. Secondly, studies performed by Kinsella et al measured neutrophil function in 15 male healthy volunteers who ranged from 25 – 60 years [458], therefore utilizing a different cohort in both age and gender compared to studies presented here. Thirdly, discrepancies in methodology may explain the differences observed; Kinsella et al quantified neutrophil migration in response to 10nM fMLP using a modified Boyden chamber assay in which neutrophils migrated across a human pulmonary artery endothelial cell (HPAEC) monolayer grown on a transwell filter, as compared to albumin coated glass coverslips used in our studies. The former method does not allow for chemokinesis to be measured independently of chemotaxis as defined in this study and in our studies it was only the latter that was improved by simvastatin.

Mechanisms underlying the ability of simvastatin to modulate neutrophil migration remain unknown, however modulation of adhesive contacts may provide some explanation. Cellular adhesion to the substratum constitutes a major component of forward movement by providing traction and driving cellular motility during migratory processes. Here it was demonstrated that there was a reduced percentage of adherent cells following simvastatin therapy, both in the basal state and in response to IL8. Weitz-Schmidt *et al* reported a novel binding site within the structure of the  $\beta$ 2 integrin LFA1 to which simvastatin and lovastatin have been shown to bind subsequently preventing integrin activation [460]. In the model used in this study, neutrophils migrate across albumin-coated surfaces (a surrogate for ICAM-1) utilizing  $\beta$ 2 integrins for traction, a process which is therefore susceptible to

modulation by simvastatin and lovastatin through allosteric binding to  $\beta$ 2 integrins. Whether or how this could contribute to improved directional migration is unclear.

The time to first movement was also significantly increased while the % of migrating cells was reduced in response to IL8 and fMLP following statin therapy. This suggests that in the presence of statins, as well as improving migratory accuracy (evidenced by increased chemotaxis and chemotactic index), statins are also able to improve the efficiency with which neutrophils from old donors respond i.e. fewer cells respond to a chemotactic gradient but of those that do, migration occurs more accurately. This may be a result of simvastatin reducing baseline activation (demonstrated as a reduced chemokinesis in the basal state) allowing greater amplification of activatory signals upon meeting an inflammatory stimulus i.e. a chemokine gradient. Within the context of infection and inflammation, this may correct the hypothesised "delayed arrival" at the site of infection driven by poor accuracy, and also reduce the increased 'bystander' tissue damage postulated to occur in the elderly, by reducing "wandering" and ultimately improving patient outcomes.

In some instances, data presented in this study also shows a significant effect following prescription of placebo for two weeks. Reasons underlying this are unclear however it may stem from the experimental design used as 50% of participants received the placebo after previously taking simvastatin for two weeks. Although a two week wash-out period was deemed to be sufficient time to allow for complete renewal on neutrophils within the bone marrow, it is plausible that some neutrophils exposed to the statin during treatment 1 still remained and were contributing to migratory dynamics when measured following placebo prescription. Based on data collected here, we are unable to conclusively test this hypothesis due to the small number of subjects randomised to the group which received the statin first.

# **CHAPTER 7**

DISCUSSION

### 7.1 Ageing and neutrophil migration

We are currently living through a demographic shift in the population, with the proportion of those aged over 65 years soon to outnumber those aged under 16 years for the first time in history [2]. However, although we, as a population, are living longer, we are not living healthier with increments in health-span lagging significantly behind increments in lifespan [5]. This severely compromises the quality of life of older adults with an increased incidence of infectious diseases and chronic inflammatory conditions [9,10,15,26], both associated with poorer clinical outcomes and ultimately increasing burdens on the provision of hospital and community based healthcare.

Natural ageing is accompanied by wide spread immune senescence evident within both the adaptive and innate compartments of the immune response (reviewed in [137,414]). Adaptive immune senescence is widely documented encompassing observations of a reduced vaccine response [63-65], including a lesser ability to produce a protective antibody titer [66], an inverted CD4<sup>+</sup>:CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell ratio [33] and a reduced output of naïve T cells from the thymus (reviewed in [461]).

In comparison, our knowledge of innate immune senescence is not as well advanced in particular with reference to neutrophil senescence. The effects of age on neutrophil migration, the process by which these cells migrate out of the blood toward to site of infection, was first investigated in 1978 [372] however in the intervening 35 years, no clear picture has emerged. Here a body of data describe a robust 'old-migratory' phenotype in healthy older adults, characterised by a maintained speed of migration but with reduced directional speed and overall accuracy of migration [439]. This phenotype was characteristic of neutrophils from older adults over the age of 60 years, was present in response to a number of physiological chemoattractants encompassing multiple stages of the inflammatory response and is therefore not stimuli specific. Related data suggested this defect does not

"correct" during infective episodes, data presented here (and provided by Dr. Elizabeth Sapey) showed worsening migration towards IL8 during pneumonia infection in older adults.

#### 7.2 Reduced Neutrophil chemotaxis and health

The age-related reduction in chemotactic accuracy could have implications both when older people are uninfected and during acute infective events. Poor migratory accuracy could limit an effective response to invading bacteria, but may also be associated with increased bystander tissue damage. While there remains debate as to whether neutrophils need to utilise neutrophil elastase to migrate [462,463], there is clear evidence to suggest elastase is released upon migration [223,239,464]. There is also evidence to support an area of obligate tissue damage directly next to neutrophils following neutrophil elastase release [239]. The 'old-migratory' phenotype presented here may lead to increased "wandering" during interstitial migration, if this were the case, and elastase were released throughout the extended migratory period, then increased tissue damage would occur as a result of the circuitous route of migration.

While this thesis has no direct evidence to support this proposal, the data provide indirect evidence which is in keeping with this hypothesis. Neutrophils from healthy elderly donors with no clinical symptoms or signs of acute or chronic infection exhibited increased expression of CD63, an azurophil specific granule specific marker on their surface with concomitant increases in the concentrations of the neutrophil elastase-specific fibrinogen breakdown product  $A\alpha Val^{360}$  in the plasma. CD63 was measured on neutrophils using a protocol to minimize experimental activation, and the increased expression is consistent with mobilisation of primary granules to the cell surface and degranulation in the basal state in the elderly.  $A\alpha Val^{360}$  is a well-validated systemic footprint of elastase activity [406] and since there is no evidence of there being more circulating neutrophils with old age [130] and the propensity for apoptosis of neutrophils from the elderly is increased in the basal state (as

measured in this study) [465] we propose that this equates to more elastase being released per cell, although this would need to be confirmed. Altered neutrophil migration may also have implications in health, as transient movements into tissue as the cells circulate will generate tissue damage and an inflammatory response. Therefore the reduced chemotactic accuracy could contribute to inflamm-ageing.

Alternatively, inflamm-ageing may be a driver of neutrophil senescence and not a consequence. Although adults included in this study were considered healthy, a typical "western" lifestyle with low physical activity, a calorie-rich but nutrient-poor diet and endemic obesity may impact on results. In 2011, 25.9% of women and 23.6% of men in England were considered to be obese (a body mass index >  $30 \text{kg/m}^2$ ) and 35.8% of women and 35.5% of men in the United States [466]. Obesity has been reported to be associated with increased systemic inflammation (Inflamm-ageing), particularly TNFα and IL6 [467,468] secreted by an abnormal accumulation of macrophages present within white adipose tissue, the magnitude of which is proportional to adipocyte size and body index [468]. Inflamm-ageing may affect cellular function by inducing a state in which immune cells, in this case neutrophils, are exposed to chronic low level activation reducing their ability to respond to activatory signals during infection, thereby compromising function. There are few studies of neutrophil function with age in populations where obesity is less endemic. In Japan, where only 2.3% of men and 3.4% of women were considered to be obese in 2000 [466] and the proportions of centenarians equates to 53/100,000 of the population [469], neutrophil immune-senescence has not been associated with BMI (although none of the participants in the relevant study were obese), but instead correlated with stressful life events [470]. Psychological stress has also been associated with systemic inflammation and subsequent immune-senescence [471], once again supporting the hypothesis that inflammation drives immune dysfunction, perhaps including the 'old-migratory' phenotype. It would be informative to repeat these studies in elderly adults from communities with extended longevity and less 'negative' lifestyle practices (such as traditional Japanese diet consisting mainly of fish and protein

[472] and low psychological stress to try and determine if alterations in neutrophil behaviour are an intrinsic, unalterable process of ageing of whether environmental factors are key. In addition, this thesis only tested neutrophil functions in a cohort of healthy older adults on a single occasion. Although there was a negative relationship between neutrophil directional migration and accuracy of migration with increasing age, we can only hypothesise that neutrophil function declines within an individual over time due to the cross-sectional nature of the study. It would be of value to prospectively and longitudinally measure neutrophil function in healthy older adults to see if a decline in migratory dynamics occurs as they age.

#### 7.3 Potential technical study limitations

The chosen migratory assay has enabled us to adequately differentiate between chemokinesis and chemotaxis revealing differences that up until now have remained largely elusive. However, there are limitations associated with our methods. Firstly any protocol utilised to isolate neutrophils will result in a degree of neutrophil activation, although Percoll (as used in this thesis) has been shown to induce minimum neutrophil activation [473]. There is a clear difference between migratory dynamics of "older" and "younger" cells which were prepared using the same technique, reducing the possibility of cellular activation as a driving factor behind the 'old-migratory' phenotype. Secondly, the study used an albumin coated surface to overcome hydrostatic forces of glass alone, which in itself may impact on results. Albumin is a surrogate for ICAM-1 [474] an adhesion marker highly expressed on the endothelium facilitating extravasation from the blood stream and also on fibroblasts present within the interstitium upon initiation of inflammation [475-477]. ICAM-1 is recognised by LFA-1/Mac-1 expressed on the neutrophil surface however, neutrophils lacking CD18 are still capable of migration (albeit with a 50% reduction in efficiency [478]) implying migration can occur independently of CD18 ligation with ICAM-1. Neutrophils are also thought to utilise VCAM-1 (which is bound by VLA-4, [478]) to provide traction during migratory processes. It would therefore be of value to repeat initial migration studies using different surfaces to determine a role for ICAM-1 and/or CD18 in the development of the 'old-migratory' phenotype as observed here. Thirdly, this assay utilises shallow gradients and migratory measurements are taken in 2D. This is not physiological and does not replicate the complexity inherent within a neutrophils journey from the blood to areas of infected or inflamed tissue. A more physiological *in vitro* model would be to establish a 3D system where cells transmigrate through endothelium, into a collagen based gel (forming the interstitum).

#### 7.4 Mechanisms of reduced chemotaxis with age

Following the initial observation of reduced chemotaxis in old donor cells, this thesis went on to investigate potential mechanisms which may underlie this migratory defect. Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3Kinase) and its lipid product phosphatidylinositol - 3,4,5 - triphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) are important components of the signalling network present within the leading edge of migrating cells. PI3Kinase-dependent PIP<sub>3</sub> production is confined to the leading edge [346] where it initiates a signalling cascade resulting in the localised assembly of F-actin protrusions driving the forward motility of the plasma membrane [315] through recruitment and activation of a number of downstream effectors including small-GTPases, WASP family members and actin nucleating proteins (reviewed in [479]).

The data presented here demonstrated constitutive, basal activation of PI3Kinase in neutrophils isolated from old donors while, in those isolated from young donors this activity was transient. The antibody utilised has the advantage of measuring PI3Kinase regulatory subunit phosphorylation, and thus is a surrogate of kinase activity. However, it only measures Class IA activity (p85) and therefore it is not possible to comment on Class IB activity; studies of the p110 subunit would be needed in order to clarify this. In addition,

increased PI3Kinase activity might not have influenced migration, and alternative elements involved in directional migration could be the key effectors.

To explore this and try to confirm the importance of dysregulated PI3Kinase, the study utilised isoform selective inhibitors and repeated the migratory assays. PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  is the main isoform responsible for PIP<sub>3</sub> production at the leading edge in response to GPCR stimulation, while PI3Kinase- $\delta$  is responsible for the localised production in response to tyrosine kinase receptor stimulation [256]. The data demonstrated PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and  $-\delta$  to be the most relevant isoforms in the generation of the 'old-migratory' phenotype with inhibition of these isoforms able to restore migratory parameters of neutrophils isolated from old donors to levels comparable to those observed in neutrophils isolated from young donors [439]. Crucially inhibition of the phosphatase SHIP which regulates PI3Kinase phosphorylation and activity, further reduces neutrophil chemotactic accuracy in "old" cells (personal communication, Dr. Elizabeth Sapey), further supporting the suggestion that aberrant migration is driven by constitutive activation of the PI3Kinase pathway.

The mechanisms driving up-regulation of PI3Kinase activity remain to be determined. Activation of PI3Kinase was measured through phosphorylation of the p85 regulatory subunit which is responsible for the regulation of PI3Kinase- $\alpha$ , - $\beta$  and - $\delta$  isoforms, while PI3Kinase- $\gamma$ is under the control of a p101 regulatory subunit [480]. The ability of PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  selective inhibitors to restore migratory dynamics as well as the  $\delta$  isoform inhibitor would suggest this isoform is also dysregulated as a consequence of natural ageing. Dysregulation of class IA PI3Kinase could suggest dysregulated integrin signalling with increasing age as these isoforms are activated downstream of tyrosine kinase receptors including members of the integrin family [481]. However, inhibition of SHP-1, a tyrosine kinase specific protein phosphatase, does not alter the migratory phenotype of older adults (Dr. Adam Usher, personal communication). Class IB PI3Kinase is under the control of the G $\beta\gamma$  subunit of GPCRs [280], the activity of which may be influenced by an increased pro-inflammatory

micro-environment (a result of inflamm-ageing) leading to sustained GPCR activation and subsequent aberrant signal transduction (see **Figure 7.1**). The apparent combined dysregulation of PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and  $-\overline{o}$  isoforms may have a number of explanations. Firstly, in the model used here, both PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and  $-\overline{o}$  isoforms are activated due to the adhesive nature of the assay (via integrins) and exposure to pro-inflammatory chemokine gradients respectively. Secondly, there is emerging evidence of redundancy within the class 1A and 1B isoforms, with different isoforms sharing activity streams previously considered to be separate [482,483]. Finally, although inhibitors used in this thesis are selective for the different isoforms of PI3Kinase, it is unclear whether they are also isoform specific. Measuring migratory dynamics and PI3Kinase activity of young neutrophils pre-incubated with plasma or serum from elderly donors may reveal environmental factors influencing PI3Kinase activity (and by extension the migratory phenotype). This would also determine if the phenotype observed here is a consequence of intrinsic age-related alterations or is modulated thought environmental factors.

GPCRs  $( \square \square )$ Integrins С Α GPCRs Integrins β FcγRs K)U β Ras v FcyRs ßγ Ras ν Syk Syk PLCB PLCB PIP<sub>2</sub> ►IP<sub>2</sub> + DAG PIP<sub>2</sub> IP<sub>2</sub> + DAG p110γ ----▶ p110 α/β/δ p110γ ----► p110 α/β/δ PKC RasGRP4 Ca2+ PDK1 Ca<sup>2+</sup> РКС RasGRP4 PDK1 PIP<sub>3</sub> PIP<sub>2</sub> mTORC2 ROS PIP<sub>2</sub> PIP<sub>3</sub> GIT2 mTORC2 ROS Ser473 GIT2 SHIP1/PTEN Ser473 SHIP1/PTEN (Akt) GEFs Akt GEFs NADPH Oxidase NADPH Oxidase P-Rex1 DOCK1 β-Pix ARAP3/6 P-Rex1 DOCK1 β-Pix ARAP3/6 **ROS Production ROS Production** RhoA RhoA Rac Cdc42 Activatory Cdc42 Rac Positive Feed-back WASP WAVE WASP WAVE Inhibitory ΡΑΚα ----> LIMK1 ΡΑΚα → LIMK1 Arp2/3 Arp2/3 Cofillin Cofillir Actin Actin Actin Actin Polymerization De-polymerization Polymerization De-polymerization **Chemotactic Gradient Chemotactic Gradient** Β D  $\square$  PIP<sub>3</sub> SHIP1 PTEN

Chronic pro-inflammatory microenvironment

#### Figure 7.1 Proposed Age-Related Alterations in Leading Edge Signalling.

Homeostatic signalling pathways within the leading edge of neutrophils isolated from young donors (A) lead to compartmentalized PIP<sub>3</sub> at the leading edge (B), however, within the elderly (C), inflamm-ageing (chronic pro-inflammatory micro-environment) leads to sustained stimulation of GPCRs resulting in basal PI3K activity and enhanced PIP<sub>3</sub> production which is no longer compartmentalised within the leading edge (D) thus affecting the spatial and temporal localization of down-stream signalling molecules ultimately compromising actin nucleation. Part (B) and (D) adapted from [281]. 209

#### 7.5 Correcting the age-related decline in chemotaxis

If increased PI3Kinase activity were to be a consequence of the altered micro-environment i.e. inflamm-ageing, interventions aimed at reducing systemic inflammation could be effective in improving neutrophil migration. For example increasing physical activity may be effective as exercise is known to reduce inflammation [484,485], reducing BMI could also help as adipose tissue is a major source of inflammatory cytokines [486]. Interestingly, by stratifying 200 older adults according to their levels of physical activity, the migratory dynamics of those who were in the lowest decile for physical activity were significantly lower than those who were the most physically active (David Bartlett, personal communication). This suggests modulation of physical activity may improve migratory outcomes, although lifestyle interventions are notoriously difficult to implement with poor levels of compliance.

The alternative to this is pharmacological intervention, however drug development can take anywhere up to 20 years from conception to treatment therefore the use of PI3Kinase inhibitors may take many years to implement. Such drugs may also be expensive and not suitable for long term use. In contrast the data reported here showed the beneficial effects of simvastatin on neutrophil migratory function. In recent years statins have received a great deal of attention due to their pleiotropic, anti-inflammatory properties that occur outside of their ability to lower serum cholesterol for example, in a number of retrospective cohort studies and meta-analyses, statins have been show to confer a survival advantage to bacterial pneumonia patients when taking a statin prior to admission [390-396]. Work published by other groups have previously demonstrated the ability of statins to modulate neutrophil migration in younger cohorts [398] however, work presented here is the first in which statins have been shown to restore migration in a cohort made up exclusively of older adults (age  $\geq$  60 years). Mechanisms driving this phenomenon have been previously attributed to the inactivation of GTPases by inhibiting their isoprenylation and subsequent insertion into the membrane [398]. This study did not test this mechanism but did not support changes in either the phospholipid composition or cholesterol content of the plasma membrane as contributory factors to statin-mediated modulation of migratory dynamics.

Stains are a class of drugs relatively well tolerated within the population that are widely prescribed to treat hypercholesterolemia or reduce cardiovascular risk. The ability of simvastatin to restore neutrophil migration in the healthy elderly was shown here both in vitro and in vivo. Restoration of neutrophil migration in the elderly by simvastatin, potentially through inhibition of RhoA [398], downstream of PI3Kinase-y and  $-\delta$  isoforms could imply broader dysregulation of signalling pathways involved in the control of migration (see Figure 7.1A), or even other neutrophil functions which rely upon small GTPases. Upstream of PI3Kinase is the small GTPase Ras to which all isoforms containing a p110 catalytic subunit (i.e. all class I isoforms) are sensitive and the action of which is essential for full activation of both p110γ and p110δ isoforms [256,487,488]. Statins would also inhibit Ras function and this could explain their beneficial effect on migration. In addition, the small GTPases, RhoA, Rac and Cdc42 which are classically thought to exist downstream of PI3Kinase, are also capable of positive feedback onto PI3Kinase activity (see Figure 7.1A). As the inhibitory activity of statins is generic to all isoprenylated proteins, simvastatin may be able to simultaneously affect both Rho-family-GTPases and PI3Kinase/Akt signalling. One surprising aspect of the results in this context was that other neutrophil functions affected by ageing, specifically phagocytosis, were not improved by the stain intervention. As phagocytosis also involves small GTPases [489,490] it was anticipated that this would also be improved. However, the decline in phagocytosis with age appears to be due largely to reduced CD16 expression [138] and thus affecting signalling events may not overcome this issue. Determination of small GTPase activity before and after statin treatment of neutrophils from old donors would significantly enhance our understanding of the mechanism driving the pleiotropic effects of statins and the age-related defect in migration. Such studies were

attempted during the latter stages of the thesis, but significant variability was found in the data making firm conclusions difficult to draw.

In addition to the inhibition of small-GTPases, there are a number of additional potential mechanisms through which statins may act. Endothelial dysfunction is a common feature of natural ageing [491], a process in which there is a systemic imbalance between vasodilating agents, such as nitric oxide, and vasoconstricting agents, such as endothelin -1, thus favouring the vasoconstricting state [449]. This results in a pro-inflammatory environment characterised by reduced nitric oxide (NO) generation, up-regulation of adhesion molecules such as V-CAM1 and ICAM-1 and generation of chemokine molecules such as MCP-1 [491]. Statins have been shown to inhibit this process restoring the balance between vasoconstriction and vasodilation essential for proper endothelial function. Here the ability of statins to activate a signalling pathway in the endothelium involving PI3Kinase. Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) [492] was key to their mode of action and results in increased nitric oxide (NO) production. In a murine model of endothelial activation induced by thrombin, intraperitoneal injection of rosuvastatin prior to thrombin injection resulted in increased release of NO from the vasculature and a 70% reduction in endothelial expression of P-selectin thus reducing leukocyte adherence and transmigration [493]. In the healthy elderly, where inflamm-ageing, the systemic sub-clinical elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines is common, statins may act to limit inappropriate activation of the endothelium by IL6 and/or TNFα indirectly preventing inappropriate extravasation of leukocytes including monocytes and neutrophils. Thus statins may be having guite different effects on endothelial and neutrophil PI3Kinase activity.

The anti-inflammatory effects of statins have also been shown to result from reductions in the circulating levels of pro-inflammatory mediators: statin therapy correlates with reductions in CRP in a number of clinical trials [403,494], while monocyte expression of TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in previously hyperlipidaemic patients following an 8-week course of 20mg/day of simvastatin has been shown to be significantly reduced [495]. Interestingly, CRP has also been shown to

decrease eNOS activity [496,497] heightened levels of which, as part of the inflamm-ageing phenotype, may further exacerbate endothelial dysfunction in the elderly.

Work presented in this thesis invites the proposition that simvastatin has therapeutic potential in reducing rates of morbidity and mortality from bacterial diseases in the elderly population, possibly by modulating neutrophil migration. Throughout this thesis, only the effects of a single statin (at a single dose) were considered. Although undoubtedly critical to mounting an effective immune response, neutrophils do not act in isolation. The effects of statins on T cell function have been well studied with reports documenting suppression of the acute inflammatory response by favouring a Th2 mediated response, potentially protecting against Th1 driven diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis [498,499]. Additional reports also document the opposing actions of simvastatin and atorvastatin on expression of HLA-DR and the immune response to bacterial super-antigens [500].

Lipophilic statins (including simvastatin, atorvastatin, lovastatin and fluvastatin) have also been shown to compromise natural killer (NK) cell degranulation and cytotoxicity through inhibition of conjugate formation between NK and target cells by inhibiting LFA-1 [501]. Further exploration of the most effective statin at mediating restoration of neutrophil migratory parameters, may lead to an intervention able to reduce the rates of morbidity and mortality from bacterial infections in the elderly. However such studies must also establish a therapeutic regime that does not compromise other immune functions, that could for example reduce NK cell function and increase susceptibility to viral infections to which older adults are already susceptible [9].

## 7.6 Future Work

This thesis has provided a detailed description of neutrophil immune-senescence with a specific focus on neutrophil migratory dynamics, identified mechanisms possibly driving this aberrant migration and highlighted a potential therapeutic intervention to restore neutrophil

migration in the healthy elderly. However, many studies are still required in order to completely understand mechanisms driving migratory senescence, and to efficiently intervene to improve immunity in older adults.

- Migratory dynamics should be characterised when cells are migrating across components of the extracellular matrix such as fibronectin, collagen, hyaluronic acid and/or laminin as well as through 3D gels/matrices to determine if the migratory phenotype is applicable to interstitial migration.
- Migratory dynamics should be characterised in response to inflammatory biological secretions, such as sputum from patient with bacterial infections, containing a complex milieu of chemotactic mediators to better characterise migratory defects during clinical inflammation.
- Expression of chemoattractant receptors should be examined to include expression on activated cells as well as receptor placement with respect to the chemotactic gradient, localisation to lipid rafts and membrane fluidity to determine if receptor localisation contributes to migratory defects.
- Expression of adhesion receptors on the surface of quiescent and activated neutrophils to examine a role for altered adhesive contacts in migratory dynamics.
- 5. To assess the effects of ageing on the activity of class 1B PI3Kinase isoforms; on molecules governing PI3Kinase activity (SHIP1 and PTEN) and on the intensity and cellular localisation of the lipid product PIP<sub>3</sub> in migrating neutrophils from old donors. This would generate a more complete picture of the role PI3Kinase plays in generation of the 'old-migratory' phenotype.
- 6. To examine the effects of ageing on other pathways known to be involved in the regulation of migration including mTOR and small GTPase family members.
- 7. To determine the effects of age on the interaction between small-GTPases, actin nucleating proteins and the actin cytoskeleton and the effects this may have on pseudopod formation, sustainability and retraction on during directional sensing.

- 8. It would also be pertinent to determine the mechanism by which simvastatin is able to modulate neutrophil migration and to examine in more detail the effects of other statins on neutrophil functions including phagocytosis and ROS production.
- 9. Pre-incubating neutrophils isolated from young and old donors with plasma or serum from old or young donors prior to measuring migratory dynamics would determine if the defect observed in this work is cell intrinsic or a product of the inflammatory microenvironment.

In conclusion, work presented here describes a generic, robust migratory phenotype characterised by a maintained speed of migration but with reduced migratory accuracy. This phenotype appears to be driven by dysregulated PI3Kinase activity and is amenable to correction through inhibition of PI3Kinase- $\gamma$  and - $\delta$  isoforms and treatment with Simvastatin. Aberrant migration as described here may cause increased collateral damage to otherwise healthy tissue and manifest as delayed arrival to the site of infection and raised systemic inflammation, ultimately compromising host defences and contributing to the increased rates of morbidity and mortality observed in the elderly population.

# **References**

- 1. Annual Mid-Year Population Estimates 2011 and 2012 UK. Edited by: Office for National Statistics; 2013.
- 2. World Population Ageing 1950 2050. Edited by Division UNDoEaSAP.
- 3. Older Peoples Day. Edited by Statistics OfN; 2010.
- 4. Ageing, Fastest Increase in the Oldest Old. Edited by ONS; 2009.
- 5. Oeppen J, Vaupel JW: Demography. Broken limits to life expectancy. Science 2002, 296:1029-1031.
- 6. Guest JF, Morris A: **Community-acquired pneumonia: the annual cost to the National Health Service in the UK**. *Eur Respir J* 1997, **10**:1530-1534.
- 7. Cracknell: Key Issues for Parliment, Hose of Commons Library Research. Edited by; 2010.
- 8. Olshansky SJ, Carnes BA: Ever since Gompertz. Demography 1997, 34:1-15.
- 9. Fleming DM, Elliot AJ: The impact of influenza on the health and health care utilisation of elderly people. Vaccine 2005, 23 Suppl 1:S1-9.
- 10. Janssens JP, Krause KH: Pneumonia in the very old. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2004, **4**:112-124.
- 11. Marston BJ, Plouffe JF, File TM, Jr., Hackman BA, Salstrom SJ, Lipman HB, Kolczak MS, Breiman RF: Incidence of community-acquired pneumonia requiring hospitalization. Results of a population-based active surveillance Study in Ohio. The Community-Based Pneumonia Incidence Study Group. Arch Intern Med 1997, 157:1709-1718.
- 12. Hanson LC, Weber DJ, Rutala WA: **Risk factors for nosocomial pneumonia in the elderly**. *Am J Med* 1992, **92**:161-166.
- 13. Emori TG, Banerjee SN, Culver DH, Gaynes RP, Horan TC, Edwards JR, Jarvis WR, Tolson JS, Henderson TS, Martone WJ, et al.: Nosocomial infections in elderly patients in the United States, 1986-1990. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System. *Am J Med* 1991, 91:289S-293S.
- 14. Magliano E, Grazioli V, Deflorio L, Leuci AI, Mattina R, Romano P, Cocuzza CE: Gender and age-dependent etiology of community-acquired urinary tract infections. *ScientificWorldJournal* 2012, 2012:349597.
- Fletcher JM, Vukmanovic-Stejic M, Dunne PJ, Birch KE, Cook JE, Jackson SE, Salmon M, Rustin MH, Akbar AN: Cytomegalovirus-specific CD4+ T cells in healthy carriers are continuously driven to replicative exhaustion. *J Immunol* 2005, 175:8218-8225.
- Horsburgh CR, Jr., O'Donnell M, Chamblee S, Moreland JL, Johnson J, Marsh BJ, Narita M, Johnson LS, von Reyn CF: Revisiting rates of reactivation tuberculosis: a population-based approach. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010, 182:420-425.
- 17. Hajishengallis G: **Too old to fight? Aging and its toll on innate immunity**. *Mol Oral Microbiol* 2010, **25**:25-37.
- 18. Arvin AM: Varicella-zoster virus. Clin Microbiol Rev 1996, 9:361-381.
- 19. Moratality Statistics: Deaths Registered in England and Wales 2005, Office for National Statistics. Edited by.
- 20. Thompson WW, Shay DK, Weintraub E, Brammer L, Cox N, Anderson LJ, Fukuda K: Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. *JAMA* 2003, **289**:179-186.
- 21. Kaplan V, Angus DC, Griffin MF, Clermont G, Scott Watson R, Linde-Zwirble WT: Hospitalized community-acquired pneumonia in the elderly: age- and sexrelated patterns of care and outcome in the United States. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002, **165**:766-772.
- 22. Diabetes in the UK 2012: Key Statistics on Diabetes; Diabetes UK. Edited by; 2012.

- 23. Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H: **Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates** for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 2004, 27:1047-1053.
- 24. Lakatta EG, Levy D: Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part II: the aging heart in health: links to heart disease. *Circulation* 2003, **107**:346-354.
- 25. Fabris F, Zanocchi M, Bo M, Fonte G, Poli L, Bergoglio I, Ferrario E, Pernigotti L: Carotid plaque, aging, and risk factors. A study of 457 subjects. *Stroke* 1994, 25:1133-1140.
- 26. Crowson CS, Matteson EL, Myasoedova E, Michet CJ, Ernste FC, Warrington KJ, Davis JM, 3rd, Hunder GG, Therneau TM, Gabriel SE: **The lifetime risk of adult-onset rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory autoimmune rheumatic diseases**. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011, **63**:633-639.
- 27. Symmons DP, Barrett EM, Bankhead CR, Scott DG, Silman AJ: The incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United Kingdom: results from the Norfolk Arthritis Register. *Br J Rheumatol* 1994, **33**:735-739.
- 28. Dranoff G: Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2004, **4**:11-22.
- 29. Kirkland JL: The biology of senescence: potential for prevention of disease. *Clin Geriatr Med* 2002, **18**:383-405.
- Rossi DJ, Bryder D, Zahn JM, Ahlenius H, Sonu R, Wagers AJ, Weissman IL: Cell intrinsic alterations underlie hematopoietic stem cell aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005, 102:9194-9199.
- 31. Makinodan T, Kay MM: Age influence on the immune system. Adv Immunol 1980, 29:287-330.
- 32. Simpson RJ, Guy K: Coupling aging immunity with a sedentary lifestyle: has the damage already been done?--a mini-review. *Gerontology* 2010, **56**:449-458.
- 33. Wikby A, Maxson P, Olsson J, Johansson B, Ferguson FG: Changes in CD8 and CD4 lymphocyte subsets, T cell proliferation responses and non-survival in the very old: the Swedish longitudinal OCTO-immune study. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1998, 102:187-198.
- 34. Wikby A, Mansson IA, Johansson B, Strindhall J, Nilsson SE: The immune risk profile is associated with age and gender: findings from three Swedish population studies of individuals 20-100 years of age. *Biogerontology* 2008, 9:299-308.
- 35. Pawelec G, Koch S, Franceschi C, Wikby A: Human immunosenescence: does it have an infectious component? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006, 1067:56-65.
- 36. Pawelec G, Larbi A, Derhovanessian E: Senescence of the human immune system. *J* Comp Pathol 2010, 142 Suppl 1:S39-44.
- 37. Olsson J, Wikby A, Johansson B, Lofgren S, Nilsson BO, Ferguson FG: **Age-related change in peripheral blood T-lymphocyte subpopulations and cytomegalovirus infection in the very old: the Swedish longitudinal OCTO immune study**. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2000, **121**:187-201.
- 38. Spaulding C, Guo W, Effros RB: Resistance to apoptosis in human CD8+ T cells that reach replicative senescence after multiple rounds of antigen-specific proliferation. *Exp Gerontol* 1999, 34:633-644.
- 39. Pawelec G, Akbar A, Caruso C, Effros R, Grubeck-Loebenstein B, Wikby A: Is immunosenescence infectious? *Trends Immunol* 2004, **25**:406-410.
- 40. Posnett DN, Edinger JW, Manavalan JS, Irwin C, Marodon G: Differentiation of human CD8 T cells: implications for in vivo persistence of CD8+ CD28- cytotoxic effector clones. Int Immunol 1999, 11:229-241.
- 41. Boren E, Gershwin ME: Inflamm-aging: autoimmunity, and the immune-risk phenotype. Autoimmun Rev 2004, 3:401-406.

- 42. Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, De Benedictis G: Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2000, **908**:244-254.
- 43. Bartlett DB, Firth CM, Phillips AC, Moss P, Baylis D, Syddall H, Sayer AA, Cooper C, Lord JM: The age-related increase in low-grade systemic inflammation (Inflammaging) is not driven by cytomegalovirus infection. Aging Cell 2012, 11:912-915.
- 44. Wikby A, Nilsson BO, Forsey R, Thompson J, Strindhall J, Lofgren S, Ernerudh J, Pawelec G, Ferguson F, Johansson B: The immune risk phenotype is associated with IL-6 in the terminal decline stage: findings from the Swedish NONA immune longitudinal study of very late life functioning. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2006, 127:695-704.
- 45. Bruunsgaard H, Andersen-Ranberg K, Jeune B, Pedersen AN, Skinhoj P, Pedersen BK: **A high plasma concentration of TNF-alpha is associated with dementia in centenarians**. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 1999, **54**:M357-364.
- 46. Baumgartner RN, Heymsfield SB, Roche AF: Human body composition and the epidemiology of chronic disease. *Obes Res* 1995, **3**:73-95.
- 47. Fantuzzi G: Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2005, **115**:911-919; quiz 920.
- 48. Lavoie ME, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Doucet E, Mignault D, Messier L, Bastard JP, Faraj M: Association between physical activity energy expenditure and inflammatory markers in sedentary overweight and obese women. Int J Obes (Lond) 2010, 34:1387-1395.
- 49. Franceschi C: Inflammaging as a major characteristic of old people: can it be prevented or cured? *Nutr Rev* 2007, **65**:S173-176.
- 50. Franceschi C, Capri M, Monti D, Giunta S, Olivieri F, Sevini F, Panourgia MP, Invidia L, Celani L, Scurti M, et al.: Inflammaging and anti-inflammaging: a systemic perspective on aging and longevity emerged from studies in humans. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2007, **128**:92-105.
- 51. Giunta S: Exploring the complex relations between inflammation and aging (inflamm-aging): anti-inflamm-aging remodelling of inflamm- aging, from robustness to frailty. Inflamm Res 2008, 57:558-563.
- 52. Dunn AJ: Cytokine activation of the HPA axis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000, 917:608-617.
- 53. Cupps TR, Fauci AS: Corticosteroid-mediated immunoregulation in man. *Immunol Rev* 1982, **65**:133-155.
- 54. Suitters AJ, Shaw S, Wales MR, Porter JP, Leonard J, Woodger R, Brand H, Bodmer M, Foulkes R: Immune enhancing effects of dehydroepiandrosterone and dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate and the role of steroid sulphatase. Immunology 1997, 91:314-321.
- 55. Tummala S, Svec F: Correlation between the administered dose of DHEA and serum levels of DHEA and DHEA-S in human volunteers: analysis of published data. *Clin Biochem* 1999, **32**:355-361.
- 56. Butcher SK, Killampalli V, Lascelles D, Wang K, Alpar EK, Lord JM: Raised cortisol:DHEAS ratios in the elderly after injury: potential impact upon neutrophil function and immunity. *Aging Cell* 2005, **4**:319-324.
- 57. Guazzo EP, Kirkpatrick PJ, Goodyer IM, Shiers HM, Herbert J: Cortisol, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), and DHEA sulfate in the cerebrospinal fluid of man: relation to blood levels and the effects of age. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1996, **81**:3951-3960.
- 58. Orentreich N, Brind JL, Rizer RL, Vogelman JH: **Age changes and sex differences in serum dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate concentrations throughout adulthood**. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1984, **59**:551-555.

- 59. Sulcova J, Hill M, Hampl R, Starka L: Age and sex related differences in serum levels of unconjugated dehydroepiandrosterone and its sulphate in normal subjects. *J Endocrinol* 1997, **154**:57-62.
- Bruunsgaard H, Skinhoj P, Pedersen AN, Schroll M, Pedersen BK: Ageing, tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and atherosclerosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2000, 121:255-260.
- Schmidt R, Schmidt H, Curb JD, Masaki K, White LR, Launer LJ: Early inflammation and dementia: a 25-year follow-up of the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. Ann Neurol 2002, 52:168-174.
- 62. Roubenoff R, Parise H, Payette HA, Abad LW, D'Agostino R, Jacques PF, Wilson PW, Dinarello CA, Harris TB: Cytokines, insulin-like growth factor 1, sarcopenia, and mortality in very old community-dwelling men and women: the Framingham Heart Study. *Am J Med* 2003, 115:429-435.
- 63. Kaml M, Weiskirchner I, Keller M, Luft T, Hoster E, Hasford J, Young L, Bartlett B, Neuner C, Fischer KH, et al.: Booster vaccination in the elderly: their success depends on the vaccine type applied earlier in life as well as on pre-vaccination antibody titers. *Vaccine* 2006, 24:6808-6811.
- 64. Romero-Steiner S, Musher DM, Cetron MS, Pais LB, Groover JE, Fiore AE, Plikaytis BD, Carlone GM: Reduction in functional antibody activity against Streptococcus pneumoniae in vaccinated elderly individuals highly correlates with decreased IgG antibody avidity. *Clin Infect Dis* 1999, **29**:281-288.
- 65. Thomas HL, Andrews N, Green HK, Boddington NL, Zhao H, Reynolds A, McMenamin J, Pebody RG: Estimating vaccine effectiveness against severe influenza in England and Scotland 2011/2012: applying the screening method to data from intensive care surveillance systems. *Epidemiol Infect* 2013:1-8.
- Hainz U, Jenewein B, Asch E, Pfeiffer KP, Berger P, Grubeck-Loebenstein B: Insufficient protection for healthy elderly adults by tetanus and TBE vaccines. *Vaccine* 2005, 23:3232-3235.
- 67. Seidler S, Zimmermann HW, Bartneck M, Trautwein C, Tacke F: Age-dependent alterations of monocyte subsets and monocyte-related chemokine pathways in healthy adults. *BMC Immunol* 2010, 11:30.
- Takahashi I, Ohmoto E, Aoyama S, Takizawa M, Oda Y, Nonaka K, Nakada H, Yorimitsu S, Kimura I: Monocyte chemiluminescence and macrophage precursors in the aged. Acta Med Okayama 1985, 39:447-451.
- 69. Nyugen J, Agrawal S, Gollapudi S, Gupta S: **Impaired functions of peripheral blood monocyte subpopulations in aged humans**. *J Clin Immunol* 2010, **30**:806-813.
- 70. Ashcroft GS, Horan MA, Ferguson MW: Aging alters the inflammatory and endothelial cell adhesion molecule profiles during human cutaneous wound healing. *Lab Invest* 1998, **78**:47-58.
- 71. Zissel G, Schlaak M, Muller-Quernheim J: Age-related decrease in accessory cell function of human alveolar macrophages. *J Investig Med* 1999, **47**:51-56.
- 72. Hilmer SN, Cogger VC, Le Couteur DG: Basal activity of Kupffer cells increases with old age. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2007, 62:973-978.
- 73. Mancuso P, McNish RW, Peters-Golden M, Brock TG: Evaluation of phagocytosis and arachidonate metabolism by alveolar macrophages and recruited neutrophils from F344xBN rats of different ages. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2001, **122**:1899-1913.
- 74. Esposito AL, Clark CA, Poirier WJ: An assessment of the respiratory burst and bactericidal activity of alveolar macrophages from adult and senescent mice. J Leukoc Biol 1988, 43:445-454.
- 75. Swift ME, Burns AL, Gray KL, DiPietro LA: **Age-related alterations in the inflammatory response to dermal injury**. *J Invest Dermatol* 2001, **117**:1027-1035.

- 76. Higashimoto Y, Fukuchi Y, Shimada Y, Ishida K, Ohata M, Furuse T, Shu C, Teramoto S, Matsuse T, Sudo E, et al.: The effects of aging on the function of alveolar macrophages in mice. Mech Ageing Dev 1993, 69:207-217.
- 77. Hayakawa H, Sato A, Yagi T, Uchiyama H, Ide K, Nakano M: Superoxide generation by alveolar macrophages from aged rats: improvement by in vitro treatment with IFN-gamma. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1995, 80:199-211.
- 78. Alvarez E, Santa Maria C: Influence of the age and sex on respiratory burst of human monocytes. Mech Ageing Dev 1996, 90:157-161.
- 79. Alvarez E, Santa Maria C, Machado A: **Respiratory burst reaction changes with age** in rat peritoneal macrophages. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1993, **1179**:247-252.
- Renshaw M, Rockwell J, Engleman C, Gewirtz A, Katz J, Sambhara S: Cutting edge: impaired Toll-like receptor expression and function in aging. *J Immunol* 2002, 169:4697-4701.
- 81. Boehmer ED, Goral J, Faunce DE, Kovacs EJ: Age-dependent decrease in Toll-like receptor 4-mediated proinflammatory cytokine production and mitogenactivated protein kinase expression. *J Leukoc Biol* 2004, **75**:342-349.
- 82. Boehmer ED, Meehan MJ, Cutro BT, Kovacs EJ: Aging negatively skews macrophage TLR2- and TLR4-mediated pro-inflammatory responses without affecting the IL-2-stimulated pathway. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2005, **126**:1305-1313.
- 83. Chelvarajan RL, Collins SM, Van Willigen JM, Bondada S: The unresponsiveness of aged mice to polysaccharide antigens is a result of a defect in macrophage function. *J Leukoc Biol* 2005, **77**:503-512.
- Herrero C, Sebastian C, Marques L, Comalada M, Xaus J, Valledor AF, Lloberas J, Celada A: Immunosenescence of macrophages: reduced MHC class II gene expression. *Exp Gerontol* 2002, 37:389-394.
- 85. Plowden J, Renshaw-Hoelscher M, Gangappa S, Engleman C, Katz JM, Sambhara S: Impaired antigen-induced CD8+ T cell clonal expansion in aging is due to defects in antigen presenting cell function. *Cell Immunol* 2004, **229**:86-92.
- 86. Jing Y, Shaheen E, Drake RR, Chen N, Gravenstein S, Deng Y: Aging is associated with a numerical and functional decline in plasmacytoid dendritic cells, whereas myeloid dendritic cells are relatively unaltered in human peripheral blood. *Hum Immunol* 2009, **70**:777-784.
- 87. Panda A, Qian F, Mohanty S, van Duin D, Newman FK, Zhang L, Chen S, Towle V, Belshe RB, Fikrig E, et al.: Age-associated decrease in TLR function in primary human dendritic cells predicts influenza vaccine response. *J Immunol* 2010, 184:2518-2527.
- Perez-Cabezas B, Naranjo-Gomez M, Fernandez MA, Grifols JR, Pujol-Borrell R, Borras FE: Reduced numbers of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in aged blood donors. *Exp Gerontol* 2007, 42:1033-1038.
- Canaday DH, Amponsah NA, Jones L, Tisch DJ, Hornick TR, Ramachandra L: Influenza-induced production of interferon-alpha is defective in geriatric individuals. J Clin Immunol 2010, 30:373-383.
- 90. Agrawal A, Agrawal S, Cao JN, Su H, Osann K, Gupta S: Altered innate immune functioning of dendritic cells in elderly humans: a role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase-signaling pathway. *J Immunol* 2007, **178**:6912-6922.
- 91. Della Bella S, Bierti L, Presicce P, Arienti R, Valenti M, Saresella M, Vergani C, Villa ML: Peripheral blood dendritic cells and monocytes are differently regulated in the elderly. *Clin Immunol* 2007, **122**:220-228.
- 92. Shodell M, Siegal FP: Circulating, interferon-producing plasmacytoid dendritic cells decline during human ageing. *Scand J Immunol* 2002, **56**:518-521.
- 93. Agrawal A, Gupta S: Impact of aging on dendritic cell functions in humans. Ageing Res Rev 2011, **10**:336-345.

- 94. Grolleau-Julius A, Garg MR, Mo R, Stoolman LL, Yung RL: Effect of aging on bone marrow-derived murine CD11c+CD4-CD8alpha- dendritic cell function. *J* Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006, 61:1039-1047.
- Grolleau-Julius A, Harning EK, Abernathy LM, Yung RL: Impaired dendritic cell function in aging leads to defective antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* 2008, 68:6341-6349.
- 96. Liu WM, Nahar TE, Jacobi RH, Gijzen K, van Beek J, Hak E, Jonges M, Boog CJ, van der Zeijst BA, Soethout EC: Impaired production of TNF-alpha by dendritic cells of older adults leads to a lower CD8+ T cell response against influenza. Vaccine 2012, 30:1659-1666.
- 97. Donnini A, Argentati K, Mancini R, Smorlesi A, Bartozzi B, Bernardini G, Provinciali M: Phenotype, antigen-presenting capacity, and migration of antigen-presenting cells in young and old age. *Exp Gerontol* 2002, **37**:1097-1112.
- 98. Lutz CT, Karapetyan A, Al-Attar A, Shelton BJ, Holt KJ, Tucker JH, Presnell SR: Human NK cells proliferate and die in vivo more rapidly than T cells in healthy young and elderly adults. *J Immunol* 2011, **186**:4590-4598.
- 99. Le Garff-Tavernier M, Beziat V, Decocq J, Siguret V, Gandjbakhch F, Pautas E, Debre P, Merle-Beral H, Vieillard V: Human NK cells display major phenotypic and functional changes over the life span. *Aging Cell* 2010, **9**:527-535.
- 100. Lutz CT, Moore MB, Bradley S, Shelton BJ, Lutgendorf SK: Reciprocal age related change in natural killer cell receptors for MHC class I. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2005, 126:722-731.
- 101. Di Lorenzo G, Balistreri CR, Candore G, Cigna D, Colombo A, Romano GC, Colucci AT, Gervasi F, Listi F, Potestio M, et al.: **Granulocyte and natural killer activity in the elderly**. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1999, **108**:25-38.
- 102. Simpson RJ, Cosgrove C, Ingram LA, Florida-James GD, Whyte GP, Pircher H, Guy K: Senescent T-lymphocytes are mobilised into the peripheral blood compartment in young and older humans after exhaustive exercise. *Brain Behav Immun* 2008, 22:544-551.
- 103. Miyaji C, Watanabe H, Minagawa M, Toma H, Kawamura T, Nohara Y, Nozaki H, Sato Y, Abo T: Numerical and functional characteristics of lymphocyte subsets in centenarians. *J Clin Immunol* 1997, **17**:420-429.
- 104. Facchini A, Mariani E, Mariani AR, Papa S, Vitale M, Manzoli FA: Increased number of circulating Leu 11+ (CD 16) large granular lymphocytes and decreased NK activity during human ageing. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1987, **68**:340-347.
- 105. Fernandes G, Gupta S: Natural killing and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity by lymphocyte subpopulations in young and aging humans. *J Clin Immunol* 1981, 1:141-148.
- 106. Edwards DL, Avis FP: Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity effector cell capability among normal individuals. *J Immunol* 1979, **123**:1887-1893.
- 107. Mariani E, Pulsatelli L, Meneghetti A, Dolzani P, Mazzetti I, Neri S, Ravaglia G, Forti P, Facchini A: Different IL-8 production by T and NK lymphocytes in elderly subjects. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2001, 122:1383-1395.
- 108. Krishnaraj R, Bhooma T: Cytokine sensitivity of human NK cells during immunosenescence. 2. IL2-induced interferon gamma secretion. *Immunol Lett* 1996, **50**:59-63.
- 109. Mariani E, Pulsatelli L, Neri S, Dolzani P, Meneghetti A, Silvestri T, Ravaglia G, Forti P, Cattini L, Facchini A: **RANTES and MIP-1alpha production by T lymphocytes, monocytes and NK cells from nonagenarian subjects**. *Exp Gerontol* 2002, **37**:219-226.
- 110. Mariani E, Meneghetti A, Neri S, Ravaglia G, Forti P, Cattini L, Facchini A: **Chemokine** production by natural killer cells from nonagenarians. *Eur J Immunol* 2002, 32:1524-1529.

- 111. Hayhoe RP, Henson SM, Akbar AN, Palmer DB: Variation of human natural killer cell phenotypes with age: identification of a unique KLRG1-negative subset. *Hum Immunol* 2010, **71**:676-681.
- 112. Molling JW, Kolgen W, van der Vliet HJ, Boomsma MF, Kruizenga H, Smorenburg CH, Molenkamp BG, Langendijk JA, Leemans CR, von Blomberg BM, et al.: **Peripheral blood IFN-gamma-secreting Valpha24+Vbeta11+ NKT cell numbers are decreased in cancer patients independent of tumor type or tumor load**. *Int J Cancer* 2005, **116**:87-93.
- 113. Jing Y, Gravenstein S, Chaganty NR, Chen N, Lyerly KH, Joyce S, Deng Y: Aging is associated with a rapid decline in frequency, alterations in subset composition, and enhanced Th2 response in CD1d-restricted NKT cells from human peripheral blood. *Exp Gerontol* 2007, **42**:719-732.
- 114. Holland SM: Chronic granulomatous disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010, 38:3-10.
- 115. Hanna S, Etzioni A: Leukocyte adhesion deficiencies. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2012, 1250:50-55.
- 116. Summers C, Rankin SM, Condliffe AM, Singh N, Peters AM, Chilvers ER: **Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease**. *Trends Immunol* 2010, **31**:318-324.
- 117. Hsieh MM, Everhart JE, Byrd-Holt DD, Tisdale JF, Rodgers GP: **Prevalence of neutropenia in the U.S. population: age, sex, smoking status, and ethnic differences**. *Ann Intern Med* 2007, **146**:486-492.
- 118. Mauer AM, Athens JW, Ashenbrucker H, Cartwright GE, Wintrobe MM: Leukokinetic Studies. Ii. A Method for Labeling Granulocytes in Vitro with Radioactive Diisopropylfluorophosphate (Dfp). *J Clin Invest* 1960, **39**:1481-1486.
- 119. Athens JW, Haab OP, Raab SO, Mauer AM, Ashenbrucker H, Cartwright GE, Wintrobe MM: Leukokinetic studies. IV. The total blood, circulating and marginal granulocyte pools and the granulocyte turnover rate in normal subjects. *J Clin Invest* 1961, **40**:989-995.
- 120. Dancey JT, Deubelbeiss KA, Harker LA, Finch CA: **Neutrophil kinetics in man**. *J Clin Invest* 1976, **58**:705-715.
- 121. Saverymuttu SH, Peters AM, Keshavarzian A, Reavy HJ, Lavender JP: **The kinetics of 111indium distribution following injection of 111indium labelled autologous granulocytes in man**. *Br J Haematol* 1985, **61**:675-685.
- 122. Farahi N, Singh NR, Heard S, Loutsios C, Summers C, Solanki CK, Solanki K, Balan KK, Ruparelia P, Peters AM, et al.: Use of 111-Indium-labeled autologous eosinophils to establish the in vivo kinetics of human eosinophils in healthy subjects. *Blood* 2012, 120:4068-4071.
- 123. Moulding DA, Quayle JA, Hart CA, Edwards SW: Mcl-1 expression in human neutrophils: regulation by cytokines and correlation with cell survival. *Blood* 1998, **92**:2495-2502.
- 124. Pillay J, den Braber I, Vrisekoop N, Kwast LM, de Boer RJ, Borghans JA, Tesselaar K, Koenderman L: In vivo labeling with 2H2O reveals a human neutrophil lifespan of 5.4 days. *Blood* 2010, 116:625-627.
- 125. Colotta F, Re F, Polentarutti N, Sozzani S, Mantovani A: **Modulation of granulocyte** survival and programmed cell death by cytokines and bacterial products. *Blood* 1992, **80**:2012-2020.
- 126. Furze RC, Rankin SM: Neutrophil mobilization and clearance in the bone marrow. *Immunology* 2008, **125**:281-288.
- 127. Friedman AD: Transcriptional regulation of granulocyte and monocyte development. Oncogene 2002, 21:3377-3390.
- 128. Gomez JC, Soltys J, Okano K, Dinauer MC, Doerschuk CM: The role of Rac2 in regulating neutrophil production in the bone marrow and circulating neutrophil counts. *Am J Pathol* 2008, **173**:507-517.

- 129. Lieschke GJ, Grail D, Hodgson G, Metcalf D, Stanley E, Cheers C, Fowler KJ, Basu S, Zhan YF, Dunn AR: Mice lacking granulocyte colony-stimulating factor have chronic neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization. *Blood* 1994, **84**:1737-1746.
- 130. Chatta GS, Andrews RG, Rodger E, Schrag M, Hammond WP, Dale DC: Hematopoietic progenitors and aging: alterations in granulocytic precursors and responsiveness to recombinant human G-CSF, GM-CSF, and IL-3. J Gerontol 1993, 48:M207-212.
- 131. Stark MA, Huo Y, Burcin TL, Morris MA, Olson TS, Ley K: Phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils regulates granulopoiesis via IL-23 and IL-17. *Immunity* 2005, 22:285-294.
- 132. Moresi R, Tesei S, Costarelli L, Viticchi C, Stecconi R, Bernardini G, Provinciali M: Ageand gender-related alterations of the number and clonogenic capacity of circulating CD34+ progenitor cells. *Biogerontology* 2005, **6**:185-192.
- 133. Cohen KS, Cheng S, Larson MG, Cupples LA, McCabe EL, Wang YA, Ngwa JS, Martin RP, Klein RJ, Hashmi B, et al.: Circulating CD34(+) progenitor cell frequency is associated with clinical and genetic factors. Blood 2013, 121:e50-56.
- 134. Linton PJ, Dorshkind K: Age-related changes in lymphocyte development and function. *Nat Immunol* 2004, **5**:133-139.
- 135. Waterstrat A, Van Zant G: Effects of aging on hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2009, **21**:408-413.
- 136. Chambers SM, Shaw CA, Gatza C, Fisk CJ, Donehower LA, Goodell MA: Aging hematopoietic stem cells decline in function and exhibit epigenetic dysregulation. *PLoS Biol* 2007, **5**:e201.
- 137. Weiskopf D, Weinberger B, Grubeck-Loebenstein B: The aging of the immune system. *Transpl Int* 2009, **22**:1041-1050.
- 138. Butcher SK, Chahal H, Nayak L, Sinclair A, Henriquez NV, Sapey E, O'Mahony D, Lord JM: Senescence in innate immune responses: reduced neutrophil phagocytic capacity and CD16 expression in elderly humans. *J Leukoc Biol* 2001, **70**:881-886.
- 139. Szczepura KR, Ruparelia P, Solanki CK, Balan K, Newbold P, Summers C, Chilvers ER, Peters AM: Measuring whole-body neutrophil redistribution using a dedicated whole-body counter and ultra-low doses of 111Indium. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2011, **41**:77-83.
- 140. Bainton DF, Ullyot JL, Farquhar MG: The development of neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes in human bone marrow. *J Exp Med* 1971, 134:907-934.
- 141. Bentwood BJ, Henson PM: The sequential release of granule constitutents from human neutrophils. *J Immunol* 1980, **124**:855-862.
- 142. Sengelov H, Follin P, Kjeldsen L, Lollike K, Dahlgren C, Borregaard N: **Mobilization of** granules and secretory vesicles during in vivo exudation of human neutrophils. *J Immunol* 1995, **154**:4157-4165.
- 143. Bainton DF: Sequential degranulation of the two types of polymorphonuclear leukocyte granules during phagocytosis of microorganisms. *J Cell Biol* 1973, 58:249-264.
- 144. Le Cabec V, Cowland JB, Calafat J, Borregaard N: Targeting of proteins to granule subsets is determined by timing and not by sorting: The specific granule protein NGAL is localized to azurophil granules when expressed in HL-60 cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996, **93**:6454-6457.
- 145. Dunn WB, Hardin JH, Spicer SS: Ultrastructural localization of myeloperoxidase in human neutrophil and rabbit heterophil and eosinophil leukocytes. *Blood* 1968, 32:935-944.

- 146. Kjeldsen L, Sengelov H, Lollike K, Nielsen MH, Borregaard N: Isolation and characterization of gelatinase granules from human neutrophils. *Blood* 1994, 83:1640-1649.
- 147. Kuijpers TW, Tool AT, van der Schoot CE, Ginsel LA, Onderwater JJ, Roos D, Verhoeven AJ: Membrane surface antigen expression on neutrophils: a reappraisal of the use of surface markers for neutrophil activation. *Blood* 1991, 78:1105-1111.
- 148. Niessen HW, Verhoeven AJ: Differential up-regulation of specific and azurophilic granule membrane markers in electropermeabilized neutrophils. *Cell Signal* 1992, **4**:501-509.
- 149. Perretti M, Christian H, Wheller SK, Aiello I, Mugridge KG, Morris JF, Flower RJ, Goulding NJ: Annexin I is stored within gelatinase granules of human neutrophil and mobilized on the cell surface upon adhesion but not phagocytosis. *Cell Biol Int* 2000, **24**:163-174.
- 150. MacGregor RR, Shalit M: **Neutrophil function in healthy elderly subjects**. *J Gerontol* 1990, **45**:M55-60.
- 151. Dalboni TM, Abe AE, de Oliveira CE, Lara VS, Campanelli AP, Gasparoto CT, Gasparoto TH: Activation profile of CXCL8-stimulated neutrophils and aging. *Cytokine* 2013, **61**:716-719.
- 152. Borregaard N: Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. Immunity 2010, 33:657-670.
- 153. Kwiatkowska K, Sobota A: Signaling pathways in phagocytosis. *Bioessays* 1999, **21**:422-431.
- 154. Hauschildt S, Hoffmann P, Beuscher HU, Dufhues G, Heinrich P, Wiesmuller KH, Jung G, Bessler WG: Activation of bone marrow-derived mouse macrophages by bacterial lipopeptide: cytokine production, phagocytosis and la expression. *Eur J Immunol* 1990, **20**:63-68.
- 155. Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, Henson PM: Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. *J Clin Invest* 1998, 101:890-898.
- 156. Bredius RG, Fijen CA, De Haas M, Kuijper EJ, Weening RS, Van de Winkel JG, Out TA: Role of neutrophil Fc gamma Rlla (CD32) and Fc gamma Rllb (CD16) polymorphic forms in phagocytosis of human IgG1- and IgG3-opsonized bacteria and erythrocytes. *Immunology* 1994, 83:624-630.
- 157. Fallman M, Andersson R, Andersson T: Signaling properties of CR3 (CD11b/CD18) and CR1 (CD35) in relation to phagocytosis of complement-opsonized particles. *J Immunol* 1993, 151:330-338.
- 158. Antonaci S, Jirillo E, Ventura MT, Garofalo AR, Bonomo L: **Non-specific immunity in aging: deficiency of monocyte and polymorphonuclear cell-mediated functions**. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1984, **24**:367-375.
- 159. Emanuelli G, Lanzio M, Anfossi T, Romano S, Anfossi G, Calcamuggi G: Influence of age on polymorphonuclear leukocytes in vitro: phagocytic activity in healthy human subjects. *Gerontology* 1986, **32**:308-316.
- 160. Mege JL, Capo C, Michel B, Gastaut JL, Bongrand P: **Phagocytic cell function in** aged subjects. *Neurobiol Aging* 1988, **9**:217-220.
- 161. Wenisch C, Patruta S, Daxbock F, Krause R, Horl W: Effect of age on human neutrophil function. *J Leukoc Biol* 2000, **67**:40-45.
- 162. Fulop T, Larbi A, Douziech N, Fortin C, Guerard KP, Lesur O, Khalil A, Dupuis G: Signal transduction and functional changes in neutrophils with aging. *Aging Cell* 2004, **3**:217-226.
- 163. Lipschitz DA, Udupa KB, Indelicato SR, Das M: Effect of age on second messenger generation in neutrophils. *Blood* 1991, **78**:1347-1354.

- 164. Huizinga TW, van Kemenade F, Koenderman L, Dolman KM, von dem Borne AE, Tetteroo PA, Roos D: The 40-kDa Fc gamma receptor (FcRII) on human neutrophils is essential for the IgG-induced respiratory burst and IgG-induced phagocytosis. *J Immunol* 1989, 142:2365-2369.
- 165. Laupland KB, Church DL, Mucenski M, Sutherland LR, Davies HD: **Population-based** study of the epidemiology of and the risk factors for invasive Staphylococcus aureus infections. *J Infect Dis* 2003, **187**:1452-1459.
- 166. Bayir H: Reactive oxygen species. Crit Care Med 2005, 33:S498-501.
- 167. Fuchs TA, Abed U, Goosmann C, Hurwitz R, Schulze I, Wahn V, Weinrauch Y, Brinkmann V, Zychlinsky A: **Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil** extracellular traps. *J Cell Biol* 2007, **176**:231-241.
- 168. Tlili A, Erard M, Faure MC, Baudin X, Piolot T, Dupre-Crochet S, Nusse O: Stable accumulation of p67phox at the phagosomal membrane and ROS production within the phagosome. *J Leukoc Biol* 2012, **91**:83-95.
- 169. Kleniewska P, Piechota A, Skibska B, Goraca A: **The NADPH oxidase family and its inhibitors**. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 2012, **60**:277-294.
- 170. Dana RR, Eigsti C, Holmes KL, Leto TL: A regulatory role for ADP-ribosylation factor 6 (ARF6) in activation of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase. J Biol Chem 2000, 275:32566-32571.
- 171. Bae YS, Kang SW, Seo MS, Baines IC, Tekle E, Chock PB, Rhee SG: Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-induced generation of hydrogen peroxide. Role in EGF receptor-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 1997, 272:217-221.
- 172. Schreck R, Rieber P, Baeuerle PA: Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1. *EMBO J* 1991, **10**:2247-2258.
- 173. Konishi H, Tanaka M, Takemura Y, Matsuzaki H, Ono Y, Kikkawa U, Nishizuka Y: Activation of protein kinase C by tyrosine phosphorylation in response to H2O2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997, 94:11233-11237.
- 174. Tortorella C, Piazzolla G, Spaccavento F, Vella F, Pace L, Antonaci S: **Regulatory role** of extracellular matrix proteins in neutrophil respiratory burst during aging. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2000, **119**:69-82.
- 175. Seres I, Csongor J, Mohacsi A, Leovey A, Fulop T: Age-dependent alterations of human recombinant GM-CSF effects on human granulocytes. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1993, **71**:143-154.
- 176. Braga PC, Sala MT, Dal Sasso M, Mancini L, Sandrini MC, Annoni G: Influence of age on oxidative bursts (chemiluminescence) of polymorphonuclear neutrophil leukocytes. *Gerontology* 1998, 44:192-197.
- 177. Polignano A, Tortorella C, Venezia A, Jirillo E, Antonaci S: Age-associated changes of neutrophil responsiveness in a human healthy elderly population. *Cytobios* 1994, **80**:145-153.
- 178. Ito Y, Kajkenova O, Feuers RJ, Udupa KB, Desai VG, Epstein J, Hart RW, Lipschitz DA: Impaired glutathione peroxidase activity accounts for the age-related accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in activated human neutrophils. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 1998, **53**:M169-175.
- 179. Chaves MM, Costa DC, Pereira CC, Andrade TR, Horta BC, Nogueira-Machado JA: Role of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in reactive oxygen species generation by granulocytes in a cyclic AMP-dependent manner: an age-related phenomenon. *Gerontology* 2007, **53**:228-233.
- 180. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, Weinrauch Y, Zychlinsky A: Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science 2004, 303:1532-1535.
- 181. Bianchi M, Niemiec MJ, Siler U, Urban CF, Reichenbach J: Restoration of anti-Aspergillus defense by neutrophil extracellular traps in human chronic
granulomatous disease after gene therapy is calprotectin-dependent. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2011, **127**:1243-1252 e1247.

- 182. Kessenbrock K, Krumbholz M, Schonermarck U, Back W, Gross WL, Werb Z, Grone HJ, Brinkmann V, Jenne DE: Netting neutrophils in autoimmune small-vessel vasculitis. Nat Med 2009, 15:623-625.
- 183. Beiter K, Wartha F, Albiger B, Normark S, Zychlinsky A, Henriques-Normark B: An endonuclease allows Streptococcus pneumoniae to escape from neutrophil extracellular traps. *Curr Biol* 2006, **16**:401-407.
- 184. Urban CF, Reichard U, Brinkmann V, Zychlinsky A: Neutrophil extracellular traps capture and kill Candida albicans yeast and hyphal forms. *Cell Microbiol* 2006, 8:668-676.
- 185. Saitoh T, Komano J, Saitoh Y, Misawa T, Takahama M, Kozaki T, Uehata T, Iwasaki H, Omori H, Yamaoka S, et al.: Neutrophil extracellular traps mediate a host defense response to human immunodeficiency virus-1. *Cell Host Microbe* 2012, 12:109-116.
- 186. Hemmers S, Teijaro JR, Arandjelovic S, Mowen KA: **PAD4-mediated neutrophil** extracellular trap formation is not required for immunity against influenza infection. *PLoS One* 2011, 6:e22043.
- 187. Tseng CW, Kyme PA, Arruda A, Ramanujan VK, Tawackoli W, Liu GY: Innate immune dysfunctions in aged mice facilitate the systemic dissemination of methicillin-resistant S. aureus. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**:e41454.
- 188. Martini FJ, Valiente M, Lopez Bendito G, Szabo G, Moya F, Valdeolmillos M, Marin O: Biased selection of leading process branches mediates chemotaxis during tangential neuronal migration. *Development* 2009, **136**:41-50.
- 189. Zabel BA, Agace WW, Campbell JJ, Heath HM, Parent D, Roberts AI, Ebert EC, Kassam N, Qin S, Zovko M, et al.: Human G protein-coupled receptor GPR-9-6/CC chemokine receptor 9 is selectively expressed on intestinal homing T lymphocytes, mucosal lymphocytes, and thymocytes and is required for thymus-expressed chemokine-mediated chemotaxis. J Exp Med 1999, 190:1241-1256.
- 190. Lamalice L, Le Boeuf F, Huot J: Endothelial cell migration during angiogenesis. *Circ Res* 2007, **100**:782-794.
- 191. Thomason HA, Cooper NH, Ansell DM, Chiu M, Merrit AJ, Hardman MJ, Garrod DR: Direct evidence that PKCalpha positively regulates wound re-epithelialization: correlation with changes in desmosomal adhesiveness. *J Pathol* 2012, **227**:346-356.
- 192. Roussos ET, Condeelis JS, Patsialou A: **Chemotaxis in cancer**. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2011, 11:573-587.
- 193. Smith PD, Ohura K, Masur H, Lane HC, Fauci AS, Wahl SM: Monocyte function in the acquired immune deficiency syndrome. Defective chemotaxis. *J Clin Invest* 1984, **74**:2121-2128.
- 194. Mackay F, Loetscher H, Stueber D, Gehr G, Lesslauer W: Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha)-induced cell adhesion to human endothelial cells is under dominant control of one TNF receptor type, TNF-R55. *J Exp Med* 1993, 177:1277-1286.
- 195. Schraufstatter IU, Chung J, Burger M: **IL-8 activates endothelial cell CXCR1 and CXCR2 through Rho and Rac signaling pathways**. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2001, **280**:L1094-1103.
- 196. Henninger DD, Panes J, Eppihimer M, Russell J, Gerritsen M, Anderson DC, Granger DN: Cytokine-induced VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression in different organs of the mouse. *J Immunol* 1997, **158**:1825-1832.

- 197. Moore KL, Patel KD, Bruehl RE, Li F, Johnson DA, Lichenstein HS, Cummings RD, Bainton DF, McEver RP: **P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 mediates rolling of human neutrophils on P-selectin**. *J Cell Biol* 1995, **128**:661-671.
- 198. Smith ML, Olson TS, Ley K: CXCR2- and E-selectin-induced neutrophil arrest during inflammation in vivo. *J Exp Med* 2004, 200:935-939.
- 199. von Andrian UH, Chambers JD, McEvoy LM, Bargatze RF, Arfors KE, Butcher EC: **Two-step model of leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction in inflammation: distinct roles for LECAM-1 and the leukocyte beta 2 integrins in vivo**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991, **88**:7538-7542.
- 200. Lum AF, Green CE, Lee GR, Staunton DE, Simon SI: Dynamic regulation of LFA-1 activation and neutrophil arrest on intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) in shear flow. *J Biol Chem* 2002, 277:20660-20670.
- 201. Takagi J, Springer TA: Integrin activation and structural rearrangement. *Immunol Rev* 2002, **186**:141-163.
- 202. Mamdouh Z, Mikhailov A, Muller WA: Transcellular migration of leukocytes is mediated by the endothelial lateral border recycling compartment. *J Exp Med* 2009, **206**:2795-2808.
- 203. Feng D, Nagy JA, Pyne K, Dvorak HF, Dvorak AM: Neutrophils emigrate from venules by a transendothelial cell pathway in response to FMLP. *J Exp Med* 1998, 187:903-915.
- 204. Carman CV: Mechanisms for transcellular diapedesis: probing and pathfinding by 'invadosome-like protrusions'. *J Cell Sci* 2009, **122**:3025-3035.
- 205. Phillipson M, Kaur J, Colarusso P, Ballantyne CM, Kubes P: Endothelial domes encapsulate adherent neutrophils and minimize increases in vascular permeability in paracellular and transcellular emigration. *PLoS One* 2008, 3:e1649.
- 206. Petri B, Bixel MG: Molecular events during leukocyte diapedesis. *FEBS J* 2006, **273**:4399-4407.
- 207. Yang L, Froio RM, Sciuto TE, Dvorak AM, Alon R, Luscinskas FW: **ICAM-1 regulates** neutrophil adhesion and transcellular migration of TNF-alpha-activated vascular endothelium under flow. *Blood* 2005, **106**:584-592.
- 208. Carman CV, Springer TA: A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them. *J Cell Biol* 2004, 167:377-388.
- 209. Tranquillo RT, Lauffenburger DA, Zigmond SH: A stochastic model for leukocyte random motility and chemotaxis based on receptor binding fluctuations. *J Cell Biol* 1988, **106**:303-309.
- 210. Rossi D, Zlotnik A: The biology of chemokines and their receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 2000, 18:217-242.
- 211. Heit B, Tavener S, Raharjo E, Kubes P: An intracellular signaling hierarchy determines direction of migration in opposing chemotactic gradients. *J Cell Biol* 2002, **159**:91-102.
- 212. Kim D, Haynes CL: Neutrophil chemotaxis within a competing gradient of chemoattractants. *Anal Chem* 2012, **84**:6070-6078.
- 213. McDonald B, Pittman K, Menezes GB, Hirota SA, Slaba I, Waterhouse CC, Beck PL, Muruve DA, Kubes P: Intravascular danger signals guide neutrophils to sites of sterile inflammation. *Science* 2010, 330:362-366.
- 214. Ribas C, Penela P, Murga C, Salcedo A, Garcia-Hoz C, Jurado-Pueyo M, Aymerich I, Mayor F, Jr.: The G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRK) interactome: role of GRKs in GPCR regulation and signaling. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2007, 1768:913-922.

- 215. Fredriksson R, Lagerstrom MC, Lundin LG, Schioth HB: **The G-protein-coupled** receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. *Mol Pharmacol* 2003, **63**:1256-1272.
- 216. Wall MA, Coleman DE, Lee E, Iniguez-Lluhi JA, Posner BA, Gilman AG, Sprang SR: The structure of the G protein heterotrimer Gi alpha 1 beta 1 gamma 2. *Cell* 1995, 83:1047-1058.
- 217. Rajagopal S, Rajagopal K, Lefkowitz RJ: **Teaching old receptors new tricks: biasing** seven-transmembrane receptors. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2010, **9**:373-386.
- 218. Milligan G, Kostenis E: Heterotrimeric G-proteins: a short history. Br J Pharmacol 2006, 147 Suppl 1:S46-55.
- 219. Hamm HE, Gilchrist A: Heterotrimeric G proteins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1996, 8:189-196.
- 220. Newman SL, Gootee L, Gabay JE, Selsted ME: Identification of constituents of human neutrophil azurophil granules that mediate fungistasis against Histoplasma capsulatum. *Infect Immun* 2000, **68**:5668-5672.
- 221. Meier HL, Schulman ES, Heck LW, MacGlashan D, Newball HH, Kaplan AP: Release of elastase from purified human lung mast cells and basophils. Identification as a Hageman factor cleaving enzyme. *Inflammation* 1989, **13**:295-308.
- 222. Houghton AM, Hartzell WO, Robbins CS, Gomis-Ruth FX, Shapiro SD: Macrophage elastase kills bacteria within murine macrophages. *Nature* 2009, **460**:637-641.
- 223. Cepinskas G, Sandig M, Kvietys PR: **PAF-induced elastase-dependent neutrophil** transendothelial migration is associated with the mobilization of elastase to the neutrophil surface and localization to the migrating front. *J Cell Sci* 1999, **112** ( Pt 12):1937-1945.
- 224. Csernok E, Ernst M, Schmitt W, Bainton DF, Gross WL: Activated neutrophils express proteinase 3 on their plasma membrane in vitro and in vivo. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1994, **95**:244-250.
- 225. Owen CA, Campbell MA, Sannes PL, Boukedes SS, Campbell EJ: **Cell surface-bound** elastase and cathepsin G on human neutrophils: a novel, non-oxidative mechanism by which neutrophils focus and preserve catalytic activity of serine proteinases. *J Cell Biol* 1995, **131**:775-789.
- 226. Belaaouaj A, Kim KS, Shapiro SD: Degradation of outer membrane protein A in Escherichia coli killing by neutrophil elastase. *Science* 2000, 289:1185-1188.
- 227. Young RE, Voisin MB, Wang S, Dangerfield J, Nourshargh S: Role of neutrophil elastase in LTB4-induced neutrophil transmigration in vivo assessed with a specific inhibitor and neutrophil elastase deficient mice. *Br J Pharmacol* 2007, 151:628-637.
- 228. Kuckleburg CJ, Tilkens SB, Santoso S, Newman PJ: Proteinase 3 contributes to transendothelial migration of NB1-positive neutrophils. *J Immunol* 2012, 188:2419-2426.
- 229. Zen K, Guo YL, Li LM, Bian Z, Zhang CY, Liu Y: Cleavage of the CD11b extracellular domain by the leukocyte serprocidins is critical for neutrophil detachment during chemotaxis. *Blood* 2011, **117**:4885-4894.
- 230. Witko-Sarsat V, Lesavre P, Lopez S, Bessou G, Hieblot C, Prum B, Noel LH, Guillevin L, Ravaud P, Sermet-Gaudelus I, et al.: A large subset of neutrophils expressing membrane proteinase 3 is a risk factor for vasculitis and rheumatoid arthritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 1999, 10:1224-1233.
- 231. Rarok AA, Stegeman CA, Limburg PC, Kallenberg CG: Neutrophil membrane expression of proteinase 3 (PR3) is related to relapse in PR3-ANCA-associated vasculitis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002, 13:2232-2238.
- 232. Carter RI, Ungurs MJ, Mumford RA, Stockley RA: Aalpha-Val360: a marker of neutrophil elastase and COPD disease activity. *Eur Respir J* 2013, 41:31-38.

- 233. Molet S, Belleguic C, Lena H, Germain N, Bertrand CP, Shapiro SD, Planquois JM, Delaval P, Lagente V: Increase in macrophage elastase (MMP-12) in lungs from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Inflamm Res* 2005, **54**:31-36.
- 234. Janoff A, Sloan B, Weinbaum G, Damiano V, Sandhaus RA, Elias J, Kimbel P: **Experimental emphysema induced with purified human neutrophil elastase: tissue localization of the instilled protease**. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1977, **115**:461-478.
- 235. Shapiro SD, Goldstein NM, Houghton AM, Kobayashi DK, Kelley D, Belaaouaj A: Neutrophil elastase contributes to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. Am J Pathol 2003, 163:2329-2335.
- 236. Momohara S, Kashiwazaki S, Inoue K, Saito S, Nakagawa T: Elastase from polymorphonuclear leukocyte in articular cartilage and synovial fluids of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol* 1997, **16**:133-140.
- 237. Liu M, Sun H, Wang X, Koike T, Mishima H, Ikeda K, Watanabe T, Ochiai N, Fan J: Association of increased expression of macrophage elastase (matrix metalloproteinase 12) with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004, **50**:3112-3117.
- 238. Grenda DS, Murakami M, Ghatak J, Xia J, Boxer LA, Dale D, Dinauer MC, Link DC: Mutations of the ELA2 gene found in patients with severe congenital neutropenia induce the unfolded protein response and cellular apoptosis. *Blood* 2007, **110**:4179-4187.
- 239. Liou TG, Campbell EJ: Quantum proteolysis resulting from release of single granules by human neutrophils: a novel, nonoxidative mechanism of extracellular proteolytic activity. *J Immunol* 1996, **157**:2624-2631.
- 240. Liou TG, Campbell EJ: Nonisotropic enzyme--inhibitor interactions: a novel nonoxidative mechanism for quantum proteolysis by human neutrophils. *Biochemistry* 1995, **34**:16171-16177.
- 241. Vogelmeier C, Hubbard RC, Fells GA, Schnebli HP, Thompson RC, Fritz H, Crystal RG: Anti-neutrophil elastase defense of the normal human respiratory epithelial surface provided by the secretory leukoprotease inhibitor. J Clin Invest 1991, 87:482-488.
- 242. Harpel PC: Alpha2-plasmin inhibitor and alpha2-macroglobulin-plasmin complexes in plasma. Quantitation by an enzyme-linked differential antibody immunosorbent assay. *J Clin Invest* 1981, **68**:46-55.
- 243. Janoff A, Scherer J: Mediators of inflammation in leukocyte lysosomes. IX. Elastinolytic activity in granules of human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J Exp Med* 1968, **128**:1137-1155.
- 244. Grinnell F, Zhu M: Identification of neutrophil elastase as the proteinase in burn wound fluid responsible for degradation of fibronectin. *J Invest Dermatol* 1994, 103:155-161.
- 245. Kafienah W, Buttle DJ, Burnett D, Hollander AP: Cleavage of native type I collagen by human neutrophil elastase. *Biochem J* 1998, 330 (Pt 2):897-902.
- 246. Kawabata K, Hagio T, Matsuoka S: **The role of neutrophil elastase in acute lung** injury. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2002, **451**:1-10.
- 247. Shang T, Yednock T, Issekutz AC: alpha9beta1 integrin is expressed on human neutrophils and contributes to neutrophil migration through human lung and synovial fibroblast barriers. *J Leukoc Biol* 1999, **66**:809-816.
- 248. Thompson RD, Noble KE, Larbi KY, Dewar A, Duncan GS, Mak TW, Nourshargh S: Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1)-deficient mice demonstrate a transient and cytokine-specific role for PECAM-1 in leukocyte migration through the perivascular basement membrane. *Blood* 2001, 97:1854-1860.

- 249. Hall DE, Reichardt LF, Crowley E, Holley B, Moezzi H, Sonnenberg A, Damsky CH: **The** alpha 1/beta 1 and alpha 6/beta 1 integrin heterodimers mediate cell attachment to distinct sites on laminin. *J Cell Biol* 1990, 110:2175-2184.
- 250. Staatz WD, Walsh JJ, Pexton T, Santoro SA: **The alpha 2 beta 1 integrin cell surface collagen receptor binds to the alpha 1 (I)-CB3 peptide of collagen**. *J Biol Chem* 1990, **265**:4778-4781.
- 251. Faull RJ, Kovach NL, Harlan JM, Ginsberg MH: Affinity modulation of integrin alpha 5 beta 1: regulation of the functional response by soluble fibronectin. *J Cell Biol* 1993, **121**:155-162.
- 252. Zigmond SH, Levitsky HI, Kreel BJ: Cell polarity: an examination of its behavioral expression and its consequences for polymorphonuclear leukocyte chemotaxis. *J Cell Biol* 1981, **89**:585-592.
- 253. Varnum-Finney B, Edwards KB, Voss E, Soll DR: Amebae of Dictyostelium discoideum respond to an increasing temporal gradient of the chemoattractant cAMP with a reduced frequency of turning: evidence for a temporal mechanism in ameboid chemotaxis. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 1987, **8**:7-17.
- 254. King JS, Insall RH: Chemotaxis: finding the way forward with Dictyostelium. *Trends Cell Biol* 2009, **19**:523-530.
- 255. Stephens L, Ellson C, Hawkins P: Roles of PI3Ks in leukocyte chemotaxis and phagocytosis. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 2002, **14**:203-213.
- 256. Suire S, Condliffe AM, Ferguson GJ, Ellson CD, Guillou H, Davidson K, Welch H, Coadwell J, Turner M, Chilvers ER, et al.: Gbetagammas and the Ras binding domain of p110gamma are both important regulators of PI(3)Kgamma signalling in neutrophils. Nat Cell Biol 2006, 8:1303-1309.
- 257. Rodriguez-Viciana P, Warne PH, Dhand R, Vanhaesebroeck B, Gout I, Fry MJ, Waterfield MD, Downward J: Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase as a direct target of Ras. Nature 1994, 370:527-532.
- 258. Hawkins PT, Stephens LR, Suire S, Wilson M: **PI3K signaling in neutrophils**. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 2010, **346**:183-202.
- 259. Cantley LC: The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. Science 2002, 296:1655-1657.
- 260. Foster FM, Traer CJ, Abraham SM, Fry MJ: The phosphoinositide (PI) 3-kinase family. *J Cell Sci* 2003, 116:3037-3040.
- 261. Carpenter CL, Cantley LC: Phosphoinositide kinases. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1996, 8:153-158.
- 262. Leibiger B, Leibiger IB, Moede T, Kemper S, Kulkarni RN, Kahn CR, de Vargas LM, Berggren PO: Selective insulin signaling through A and B insulin receptors regulates transcription of insulin and glucokinase genes in pancreatic beta cells. *Mol Cell* 2001, 7:559-570.
- 263. Sadhu C, Masinovsky B, Dick K, Sowell CG, Staunton DE: **Essential role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta in neutrophil directional movement**. *J Immunol* 2003, **170**:2647-2654.
- 264. Ferguson GJ, Milne L, Kulkarni S, Sasaki T, Walker S, Andrews S, Crabbe T, Finan P, Jones G, Jackson S, et al.: PI(3)Kgamma has an important context-dependent role in neutrophil chemokinesis. Nat Cell Biol 2007, 9:86-91.
- 265. Leibiger B, Moede T, Uhles S, Barker CJ, Creveaux M, Domin J, Berggren PO, Leibiger IB: Insulin-feedback via PI3K-C2alpha activated PKBalpha/Akt1 is required for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *FASEB J* 2010, 24:1824-1837.
- 266. Falasca M, Hughes WE, Dominguez V, Sala G, Fostira F, Fang MQ, Cazzolli R, Shepherd PR, James DE, Maffucci T: The role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase C2alpha in insulin signaling. J Biol Chem 2007, 282:28226-28236.
- 267. Gaidarov I, Smith ME, Domin J, Keen JH: The class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase C2alpha is activated by clathrin and regulates clathrin-mediated membrane trafficking. *Mol Cell* 2001, 7:443-449.

- 268. Wen PJ, Osborne SL, Morrow IC, Parton RG, Domin J, Meunier FA: **Ca2+-regulated** pool of phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate produced by phosphatidylinositol 3kinase C2alpha on neurosecretory vesicles. *Mol Biol Cell* 2008, **19**:5593-5603.
- 269. Maffucci T, Cooke FT, Foster FM, Traer CJ, Fry MJ, Falasca M: Class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase defines a novel signaling pathway in cell migration. *J Cell Biol* 2005, **169**:789-799.
- 270. Brown RA, Shepherd PR: Growth factor regulation of the novel class II phosphoinositide 3-kinases. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2001, 29:535-537.
- 271. Kihara A, Noda T, Ishihara N, Ohsumi Y: **Two distinct Vps34 phosphatidylinositol 3kinase complexes function in autophagy and carboxypeptidase Y sorting in Saccharomyces cerevisiae**. *J Cell Biol* 2001, **152**:519-530.
- 272. Vieira OV, Botelho RJ, Rameh L, Brachmann SM, Matsuo T, Davidson HW, Schreiber A, Backer JM, Cantley LC, Grinstein S: Distinct roles of class I and class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases in phagosome formation and maturation. *J Cell Biol* 2001, 155:19-25.
- 273. Wurmser AE, Gary JD, Emr SD: Phosphoinositide 3-kinases and their FYVE domain-containing effectors as regulators of vacuolar/lysosomal membrane trafficking pathways. *J Biol Chem* 1999, **274**:9129-9132.
- 274. Mazza S, Maffucci T: Class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase C2alpha: what we learned so far. Int J Biochem Mol Biol 2011, 2:168-182.
- 275. Rickert P, Weiner OD, Wang F, Bourne HR, Servant G: Leukocytes navigate by compass: roles of PI3Kgamma and its lipid products. *Trends Cell Biol* 2000, 10:466-473.
- 276. Lemmon MA: **Pleckstrin homology (PH) domains and phosphoinositides**. *Biochem Soc Symp* 2007:81-93.
- 277. Hannigan M, Zhan L, Li Z, Ai Y, Wu D, Huang CK: Neutrophils lacking phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma show loss of directionality during N-formyl-Met-Leu-Phe-induced chemotaxis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002, **99**:3603-3608.
- 278. Boulven I, Levasseur S, Marois S, Pare G, Rollet-Labelle E, Naccache PH: Class IA phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases, rather than p110 gamma, regulate formylmethionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine-stimulated chemotaxis and superoxide production in differentiated neutrophil-like PLB-985 cells. *J Immunol* 2006, 176:7621-7627.
- 279. Hirsch E, Katanaev VL, Garlanda C, Azzolino O, Pirola L, Silengo L, Sozzani S, Mantovani A, Altruda F, Wymann MP: Central role for G protein-coupled phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in inflammation. Science 2000, 287:1049-1053.
- 280. Sasaki T, Irie-Sasaki J, Jones RG, Oliveira-dos-Santos AJ, Stanford WL, Bolon B, Wakeham A, Itie A, Bouchard D, Kozieradzki I, et al.: Function of PI3Kgamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, and neutrophil migration. Science 2000, 287:1040-1046.
- 281. Mondal S, Subramanian KK, Sakai J, Bajrami B, Luo HR: Phosphoinositide lipid phosphatase SHIP1 and PTEN coordinate to regulate cell migration and adhesion. *Mol Biol Cell* 2012, 23:1219-1230.
- 282. Bellacosa A, Testa JR, Staal SP, Tsichlis PN: A retroviral oncogene, akt, encoding a serine-threonine kinase containing an SH2-like region. Science 1991, 254:274-277.
- 283. Yamaguchi H, Wang HG: The protein kinase PKB/Akt regulates cell survival and apoptosis by inhibiting Bax conformational change. Oncogene 2001, 20:7779-7786.
- 284. Easton RM, Cho H, Roovers K, Shineman DW, Mizrahi M, Forman MS, Lee VM, Szabolcs M, de Jong R, Oltersdorf T, et al.: Role for Akt3/protein kinase Bgamma in attainment of normal brain size. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005, 25:1869-1878.

- 285. Tschopp O, Yang ZZ, Brodbeck D, Dummler BA, Hemmings-Mieszczak M, Watanabe T, Michaelis T, Frahm J, Hemmings BA: Essential role of protein kinase B gamma (PKB gamma/Akt3) in postnatal brain development but not in glucose homeostasis. Development 2005, 132:2943-2954.
- 286. Lawlor MA, Alessi DR: **PKB/Akt: a key mediator of cell proliferation, survival and insulin responses?** *J Cell Sci* 2001, **114**:2903-2910.
- 287. Chen Q, Powell DW, Rane MJ, Singh S, Butt W, Klein JB, McLeish KR: Akt phosphorylates p47phox and mediates respiratory burst activity in human neutrophils. *J Immunol* 2003, **170**:5302-5308.
- 288. Lane HC, Anand AR, Ganju RK: Cbl and Akt regulate CXCL8-induced and CXCR1and CXCR2-mediated chemotaxis. *Int Immunol* 2006, **18**:1315-1325.
- 289. Servant G, Weiner OD, Herzmark P, Balla T, Sedat JW, Bourne HR: **Polarization of chemoattractant receptor signaling during neutrophil chemotaxis**. *Science* 2000, **287**:1037-1040.
- 290. Chen J, Tang H, Hay N, Xu J, Ye RD: Akt isoforms differentially regulate neutrophil functions. *Blood* 2010, **115**:4237-4246.
- 291. Alessi DR, James SR, Downes CP, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB, Cohen P: Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha. *Curr Biol* 1997, **7**:261-269.
- 292. Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM: Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science* 2005, **307**:1098-1101.
- 293. Jacinto E, Facchinetti V, Liu D, Soto N, Wei S, Jung SY, Huang Q, Qin J, Su B: SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity. *Cell* 2006, **127**:125-137.
- 294. Vander Haar E, Lee SI, Bandhakavi S, Griffin TJ, Kim DH: Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. *Nat Cell Biol* 2007, **9**:316-323.
- 295. Cardone MH, Roy N, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, Franke TF, Stanbridge E, Frisch S, Reed JC: **Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation**. *Science* 1998, **282**:1318-1321.
- 296. Romashkova JA, Makarov SS: NF-kappaB is a target of AKT in anti-apoptotic PDGF signalling. *Nature* 1999, 401:86-90.
- 297. Nave BT, Ouwens M, Withers DJ, Alessi DR, Shepherd PR: Mammalian target of rapamycin is a direct target for protein kinase B: identification of a convergence point for opposing effects of insulin and amino-acid deficiency on protein translation. *Biochem J* 1999, **344 Pt 2**:427-431.
- 298. Zhou GL, Zhuo Y, King CC, Fryer BH, Bokoch GM, Field J: Akt phosphorylation of serine 21 on Pak1 modulates Nck binding and cell migration. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003, 23:8058-8069.
- 299. Andjelkovic M, Jakubowicz T, Cron P, Ming XF, Han JW, Hemmings BA: Activation and phosphorylation of a pleckstrin homology domain containing protein kinase (RAC-PK/PKB) promoted by serum and protein phosphatase inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996, **93**:5699-5704.
- 300. Brognard J, Sierecki E, Gao T, Newton AC: PHLPP and a second isoform, PHLPP2, differentially attenuate the amplitude of Akt signaling by regulating distinct Akt isoforms. *Mol Cell* 2007, **25**:917-931.
- 301. Suh HY, Lee DW, Lee KH, Ku B, Choi SJ, Woo JS, Kim YG, Oh BH: **Structural** insights into the dual nucleotide exchange and GDI displacement activity of SidM/DrrA. *EMBO J* 2010, **29**:496-504.
- 302. Fleming IN, Batty IH, Prescott AR, Gray A, Kular GS, Stewart H, Downes CP: Inositol phospholipids regulate the guanine-nucleotide-exchange factor Tiam1 by facilitating its binding to the plasma membrane and regulating GDP/GTP exchange on Rac1. *Biochem J* 2004, **382**:857-865.

- 303. Rossman KL, Der CJ, Sondek J: GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2005, 6:167-180.
- 304. Manes S, Ana Lacalle R, Gomez-Mouton C, Martinez AC: From rafts to crafts: membrane asymmetry in moving cells. *Trends Immunol* 2003, 24:320-326.
- 305. Srinivasan S, Wang F, Glavas S, Ott A, Hofmann F, Aktories K, Kalman D, Bourne HR: Rac and Cdc42 play distinct roles in regulating Pl(3,4,5)P3 and polarity during neutrophil chemotaxis. J Cell Biol 2003, 160:375-385.
- 306. Welch HC, Condliffe AM, Milne LJ, Ferguson GJ, Hill K, Webb LM, Okkenhaug K, Coadwell WJ, Andrews SR, Thelen M, et al.: P-Rex1 regulates neutrophil function. *Curr Biol* 2005, 15:1867-1873.
- 307. Kunisaki Y, Nishikimi A, Tanaka Y, Takii R, Noda M, Inayoshi A, Watanabe K, Sanematsu F, Sasazuki T, Sasaki T, et al.: DOCK2 is a Rac activator that regulates motility and polarity during neutrophil chemotaxis. *J Cell Biol* 2006, 174:647-652.
- 308. Eden S, Rohatgi R, Podtelejnikov AV, Mann M, Kirschner MW: Mechanism of regulation of WAVE1-induced actin nucleation by Rac1 and Nck. Nature 2002, 418:790-793.
- 309. Rohatgi R, Ma L, Miki H, Lopez M, Kirchhausen T, Takenawa T, Kirschner MW: The interaction between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 complex links Cdc42-dependent signals to actin assembly. *Cell* 1999, 97:221-231.
- 310. Edwards DC, Sanders LC, Bokoch GM, Gill GN: Activation of LIM-kinase by Pak1 couples Rac/Cdc42 GTPase signalling to actin cytoskeletal dynamics. Nat Cell Biol 1999, 1:253-259.
- 311. Alblas J, Ulfman L, Hordijk P, Koenderman L: Activation of Rhoa and ROCK are essential for detachment of migrating leukocytes. *Mol Biol Cell* 2001, 12:2137-2145.
- 312. Hattori H, Subramanian KK, Sakai J, Luo HR: **Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules in neutrophil chemotaxis**. *Commun Integr Biol* 2010, **3**:278-281.
- 313. Mazaki Y, Hashimoto S, Tsujimura T, Morishige M, Hashimoto A, Aritake K, Yamada A, Nam JM, Kiyonari H, Nakao K, et al.: Neutrophil direction sensing and superoxide production linked by the GTPase-activating protein GIT2. Nat Immunol 2006, 7:724-731.
- 314. Kwon J, Lee SR, Yang KS, Ahn Y, Kim YJ, Stadtman ER, Rhee SG: **Reversible** oxidation and inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN in cells stimulated with peptide growth factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004, **101**:16419-16424.
- 315. Lee SR, Yang KS, Kwon J, Lee C, Jeong W, Rhee SG: **Reversible inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by H2O2**. *J Biol Chem* 2002, **277**:20336-20342.
- 316. Seo JH, Ahn Y, Lee SR, Yeol Yeo C, Chung Hur K: The major target of the endogenously generated reactive oxygen species in response to insulin stimulation is phosphatase and tensin homolog and not phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI-3 kinase) in the PI-3 kinase/Akt pathway. *Mol Biol Cell* 2005, 16:348-357.
- 317. Kuiper JW, Sun C, Magalhaes MA, Glogauer M: Rac regulates PtdInsP(3) signaling and the chemotactic compass through a redox-mediated feedback loop. *Blood* 2011, **118**:6164-6171.
- 318. Pollard TD, Borisy GG: Cellular motility driven by assembly and disassembly of actin filaments. *Cell* 2003, 112:453-465.
- 319. DiNubile MJ, Cassimeris L, Joyce M, Zigmond SH: Actin filament barbed-end capping activity in neutrophil lysates: the role of capping protein-beta 2. *Mol Biol Cell* 1995, 6:1659-1671.
- 320. Mullins RD, Heuser JA, Pollard TD: The interaction of Arp2/3 complex with actin: nucleation, high affinity pointed end capping, and formation of branching networks of filaments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998, **95**:6181-6186.

- 321. Pruyne D, Evangelista M, Yang C, Bi E, Zigmond S, Bretscher A, Boone C: **Role of formins in actin assembly: nucleation and barbed-end association**. *Science* 2002, **297**:612-615.
- 322. Higgs HN, Pollard TD: Activation by Cdc42 and PIP(2) of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASp) stimulates actin nucleation by Arp2/3 complex. *J Cell Biol* 2000, 150:1311-1320.
- 323. Chan C, Beltzner CC, Pollard TD: **Cofilin dissociates Arp2/3 complex and branches from actin filaments**. *Curr Biol* 2009, **19**:537-545.
- 324. Pollard TD: The cytoskeleton, cellular motility and the reductionist agenda. *Nature* 2003, **422**:741-745.
- 325. Mattila PK, Lappalainen P: Filopodia: molecular architecture and cellular functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008, 9:446-454.
- 326. Schaller MD: Paxillin: a focal adhesion-associated adaptor protein. Oncogene 2001, 20:6459-6472.
- 327. Huang C, Jacobson K, Schaller MD: **MAP kinases and cell migration**. *J Cell Sci* 2004, **117**:4619-4628.
- 328. Thompson HL, Marshall CJ, Saklatvala J: Characterization of two different forms of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase induced in polymorphonuclear leukocytes following stimulation by N-formylmethionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine or granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J Biol Chem 1994, 269:9486-9492.
- 329. Knall C, Worthen GS, Johnson GL: Interleukin 8-stimulated phosphatidylinositol-3kinase activity regulates the migration of human neutrophils independent of extracellular signal-regulated kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997, 94:3052-3057.
- 330. Lehman N, Di Fulvio M, McCray N, Campos I, Tabatabaian F, Gomez-Cambronero J: Phagocyte cell migration is mediated by phospholipases PLD1 and PLD2. Blood 2006, 108:3564-3572.
- 331. Peng HJ, Henkels KM, Mahankali M, Dinauer MC, Gomez-Cambronero J: Evidence for two CRIB domains in phospholipase D2 (PLD2) that the enzyme uses to specifically bind to the small GTPase Rac2. *J Biol Chem* 2011, 286:16308-16320.
- 332. Graham DB, Robertson CM, Bautista J, Mascarenhas F, Diacovo MJ, Montgrain V, Lam SK, Cremasco V, Dunne WM, Faccio R, et al.: Neutrophil-mediated oxidative burst and host defense are controlled by a Vav-PLCgamma2 signaling axis in mice. J Clin Invest 2007, 117:3445-3452.
- 333. Kamimura Y, Xiong Y, Iglesias PA, Hoeller O, Bolourani P, Devreotes PN: **PIP3**independent activation of TorC2 and PKB at the cell's leading edge mediates chemotaxis. *Curr Biol* 2008, **18**:1034-1043.
- 334. King JS, Insall RH: Chemotaxis: TorC before you Akt. Curr Biol 2008, 18:R864-866.
- 335. Andrew N, Insall RH: Chemotaxis in shallow gradients is mediated independently of PtdIns 3-kinase by biased choices between random protrusions. *Nat Cell Biol* 2007, **9**:193-200.
- 336. Weiner OD, Servant G, Welch MD, Mitchison TJ, Sedat JW, Bourne HR: Spatial control of actin polymerization during neutrophil chemotaxis. Nat Cell Biol 1999, 1:75-81.
- 337. Gomez-Mouton C, Lacalle RA, Mira E, Jimenez-Baranda S, Barber DF, Carrera AC, Martinez AC, Manes S: Dynamic redistribution of raft domains as an organizing platform for signaling during cell chemotaxis. *J Cell Biol* 2004, **164**:759-768.
- 338. Niggli V: A membrane-permeant ester of phosphatidylinositol 3,4, 5-trisphosphate (PIP(3)) is an activator of human neutrophil migration. FEBS Lett 2000, 473:217-221.

- 339. Xu J, Wang F, Van Keymeulen A, Herzmark P, Straight A, Kelly K, Takuwa Y, Sugimoto N, Mitchison T, Bourne HR: **Divergent signals and cytoskeletal assemblies** regulate self-organizing polarity in neutrophils. *Cell* 2003, **114**:201-214.
- 340. Wong K, Pertz O, Hahn K, Bourne H: **Neutrophil polarization: spatiotemporal** dynamics of RhoA activity support a self-organizing mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006, **103**:3639-3644.
- 341. Van Keymeulen A, Wong K, Knight ZA, Govaerts C, Hahn KM, Shokat KM, Bourne HR: To stabilize neutrophil polarity, PIP3 and Cdc42 augment RhoA activity at the back as well as signals at the front. *J Cell Biol* 2006, **174**:437-445.
- 342. Pierini LM, Eddy RJ, Fuortes M, Seveau S, Casulo C, Maxfield FR: Membrane lipid organization is critical for human neutrophil polarization. J Biol Chem 2003, 278:10831-10841.
- 343. Nishio M, Watanabe K, Sasaki J, Taya C, Takasuga S, Iizuka R, Balla T, Yamazaki M, Watanabe H, Itoh R, et al.: Control of cell polarity and motility by the PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 phosphatase SHIP1. Nat Cell Biol 2007, 9:36-44.
- 344. Shields JM, Haston WS: Behaviour of neutrophil leucocytes in uniform concentrations of chemotactic factors: contraction waves, cell polarity and persistence. *J Cell Sci* 1985, **74**:75-93.
- 345. Stephens L, Milne L, Hawkins P: Moving towards a better understanding of chemotaxis. *Curr Biol* 2008, **18**:R485-494.
- 346. Wang F: **The signaling mechanisms underlying cell polarity and chemotaxis**. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 2009, **1**:a002980.
- 347. Kamakura S, Nomura M, Hayase J, Iwakiri Y, Nishikimi A, Takayanagi R, Fukui Y, Sumimoto H: The Cell Polarity Protein mInsc Regulates Neutrophil Chemotaxis via a Noncanonical G Protein Signaling Pathway. *Dev Cell* 2013, **26**:292-302.
- 348. Ura S, Pollitt AY, Veltman DM, Morrice NA, Machesky LM, Insall RH: **Pseudopod** growth and evolution during cell movement is controlled through SCAR/WAVE dephosphorylation. *Curr Biol* 2012, **22**:553-561.
- 349. Heit B, Liu L, Colarusso P, Puri KD, Kubes P: **PI3K accelerates, but is not required** for, neutrophil chemotaxis to fMLP. *J Cell Sci* 2008, 121:205-214.
- 350. Higuchi M, Masuyama N, Fukui Y, Suzuki A, Gotoh Y: Akt mediates Rac/Cdc42regulated cell motility in growth factor-stimulated cells and in invasive PTEN knockout cells. *Curr Biol* 2001, **11**:1958-1962.
- 351. Eddy RJ, Pierini LM, Matsumura F, Maxfield FR: Ca2+-dependent myosin II activation is required for uropod retraction during neutrophil migration. *J Cell Sci* 2000, 113 (Pt 7):1287-1298.
- 352. Amano M, Chihara K, Nakamura N, Fukata Y, Yano T, Shibata M, Ikebe M, Kaibuchi K: **Myosin II activation promotes neurite retraction during the action of Rho and Rho-kinase**. *Genes Cells* 1998, **3**:177-188.
- 353. Klemke RL, Cai S, Giannini AL, Gallagher PJ, de Lanerolle P, Cheresh DA: **Regulation** of cell motility by mitogen-activated protein kinase. *J Cell Biol* 1997, **137**:481-492.
- 354. Sumi T, Matsumoto K, Nakamura T: Specific activation of LIM kinase 2 via phosphorylation of threonine 505 by ROCK, a Rho-dependent protein kinase. *J Biol Chem* 2001, 276:670-676.
- 355. Raucher D, Sheetz MP: Cell spreading and lamellipodial extension rate is regulated by membrane tension. *J Cell Biol* 2000, **148**:127-136.
- 356. Houk AR, Jilkine A, Mejean CO, Boltyanskiy R, Dufresne ER, Angenent SB, Altschuler SJ, Wu LF, Weiner OD: Membrane tension maintains cell polarity by confining signals to the leading edge during neutrophil migration. *Cell* 2012, **148**:175-188.
- 357. Ofer N, Mogilner A, Keren K: Actin disassembly clock determines shape and speed of lamellipodial fragments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2011, **108**:20394-20399.

- 358. Ambravaneswaran V, Wong IY, Aranyosi AJ, Toner M, Irimia D: **Directional decisions during neutrophil chemotaxis inside bifurcating channels**. *Integr Biol (Camb)* 2010, **2**:639-647.
- 359. van Meer G, Voelker DR, Feigenson GW: **Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave**. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2008, **9**:112-124.
- 360. van Meer G, Lisman Q: Sphingolipid transport: rafts and translocators. *J Biol Chem* 2002, **277**:25855-25858.
- 361. Devaux PF, Morris R: Transmembrane asymmetry and lateral domains in biological membranes. *Traffic* 2004, **5**:241-246.
- 362. Frasch SC, Henson PM, Kailey JM, Richter DA, Janes MS, Fadok VA, Bratton DL: Regulation of phospholipid scramblase activity during apoptosis and cell activation by protein kinase Cdelta. *J Biol Chem* 2000, **275**:23065-23073.
- 363. Tamura M, Tamura T, Tyagi SR, Lambeth JD: The superoxide-generating respiratory burst oxidase of human neutrophil plasma membrane. Phosphatidylserine as an effector of the activated enzyme. *J Biol Chem* 1988, **263**:17621-17626.
- 364. Clayton PT: Disorders of cholesterol biosynthesis. Arch Dis Child 1998, 78:185-189.
- 365. Rejman J, Oberle V, Zuhorn IS, Hoekstra D: **Size-dependent internalization of particles via the pathways of clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis**. *Biochem J* 2004, **377**:159-169.
- 366. Bjorkhem I, Lutjohann D, Diczfalusy U, Stahle L, Ahlborg G, Wahren J: Cholesterol homeostasis in human brain: turnover of 24S-hydroxycholesterol and evidence for a cerebral origin of most of this oxysterol in the circulation. *J Lipid Res* 1998, 39:1594-1600.
- 367. Goldstein JL, Brown MS: Regulation of the mevalonate pathway. *Nature* 1990, 343:425-430.
- 368. Stubbs CD, Smith AD: The modification of mammalian membrane polyunsaturated fatty acid composition in relation to membrane fluidity and function. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1984, **779**:89-137.
- 369. Simons K, Ikonen E: Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 1997, 387:569-572.
- 370. Larbi A, Douziech N, Dupuis G, Khalil A, Pelletier H, Guerard KP, Fulop T, Jr.: Ageassociated alterations in the recruitment of signal-transduction proteins to lipid rafts in human T lymphocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* 2004, **75**:373-381.
- 371. Alvarez E, Ruiz-Gutierrez V, Sobrino F, Santa-Maria C: Age-related changes in membrane lipid composition, fluidity and respiratory burst in rat peritoneal neutrophils. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2001, **124**:95-102.
- 372. Phair JP, Kauffman CA, Bjornson A, Gallagher J, Adams L, Hess EV: Host defenses in the aged: evaluation of components of the inflammatory and immune responses. *J Infect Dis* 1978, **138**:67-73.
- 373. Biasi D, Carletto A, Dell'Agnola C, Caramaschi P, Montesanti F, Zavateri G, Zeminian S, Bellavite P, Bambara LM: Neutrophil migration, oxidative metabolism, and adhesion in elderly and young subjects. *Inflammation* 1996, 20:673-681.
- 374. Esparza B, Sanchez H, Ruiz M, Barranquero M, Sabino E, Merino F: Neutrophil function in elderly persons assessed by flow cytometry. *Immunol Invest* 1996, 25:185-190.
- 375. Niwa Y, Kasama T, Miyachi Y, Kanoh T: Neutrophil chemotaxis, phagocytosis and parameters of reactive oxygen species in human aging: cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. *Life Sci* 1989, **44**:1655-1664.
- 376. Whyte MK, Meagher LC, MacDermot J, Haslett C: Impairment of function in aging neutrophils is associated with apoptosis. *J Immunol* 1993, **150**:5124-5134.
- 377. Izgut-Uysal VN, Agac A, Karadogan I, Derin N: Effects of L-carnitine on neutrophil functions in aged rats. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2003, **124**:341-347.

- 378. Alonso-Fernandez P, Puerto M, Mate I, Ribera JM, de la Fuente M: **Neutrophils of centenarians show function levels similar to those of young adults**. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2008, **56**:2244-2251.
- 379. Brubaker AL, Rendon JL, Ramirez L, Choudhry MA, Kovacs EJ: **Reduced neutrophil** chemotaxis and infiltration contributes to delayed resolution of cutaneous wound infection with advanced age. *J Immunol* 2013, **190**:1746-1757.
- 380. Ligthart GJ, Corberand JX, Fournier C, Galanaud P, Hijmans W, Kennes B, Muller-Hermelink HK, Steinmann GG: Admission criteria for immunogerontological studies in man: the SENIEUR protocol. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1984, **28**:47-55.
- 381. Fortin CF, Lesur O, Fulop T, Jr.: Effects of aging on triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (TREM)-1-induced PMN functions. FEBS Lett 2007, 581:1173-1178.
- 382. Rao KM, Currie MS, Padmanabhan J, Cohen HJ: Age-related alterations in actin cytoskeleton and receptor expression in human leukocytes. J Gerontol 1992, 47:B37-44.
- 383. Sapey E, Stockley JA, Greenwood H, Ahmad A, Bayley D, Lord JM, Insall RH, Stockley RA: Behavioral and structural differences in migrating peripheral neutrophils from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011, **183**:1176-1186.
- 384. Capsoni F, Sarzi-Puttini P, Atzeni F, Minonzio F, Bonara P, Doria A, Carrabba M: Effect of adalimumab on neutrophil function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2005, **7**:R250-255.
- 385. Endo A, Kuroda M, Tanzawa K: Competitive inhibition of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase by ML-236A and ML-236B fungal metabolites, having hypocholesterolemic activity. FEBS Lett 1976, 72:323-326.
- 386. Prescription dispensed in the community: England 2001-2011; Office for National Statistics. Edited by.
- 387. Jick H, Zornberg GL, Jick SS, Seshadri S, Drachman DA: Statins and the risk of dementia. *Lancet* 2000, **356**:1627-1631.
- 388. Khurana V, Bejjanki HR, Caldito G, Owens MW: Statins reduce the risk of lung cancer in humans: a large case-control study of US veterans. Chest 2007, 131:1282-1288.
- 389. Heart Protection Study Collaborative G: MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2002, 360:7-22.
- 390. Liappis AP, Kan VL, Rochester CG, Simon GL: **The effect of statins on mortality in patients with bacteremia**. *Clin Infect Dis* 2001, **33**:1352-1357.
- 391. Mortensen EM, Restrepo MI, Anzueto A, Pugh J: The effect of prior statin use on 30day mortality for patients hospitalized with community-acquired pneumonia. *Respir Res* 2005, **6**:82.
- 392. Schlienger RG, Fedson DS, Jick SS, Jick H, Meier CR: Statins and the risk of pneumonia: a population-based, nested case-control study. *Pharmacotherapy* 2007, **27**:325-332.
- 393. Thomsen RW, Riis A, Kornum JB, Christensen S, Johnsen SP, Sorensen HT: **Preadmission use of statins and outcomes after hospitalization with pneumonia: population-based cohort study of 29,900 patients**. *Arch Intern Med* 2008, **168**:2081-2087.
- 394. Chalmers JD, Singanayagam A, Murray MP, Hill AT: **Prior statin use is associated with improved outcomes in community-acquired pneumonia**. *Am J Med* 2008, **121**:1002-1007 e1001.
- 395. Donnino MW, Cocchi MN, Howell M, Clardy P, Talmor D, Cataldo L, Chase M, Al-Marshad A, Ngo L, Shapiro NI: **Statin therapy is associated with decreased mortality in patients with infection**. *Acad Emerg Med* 2009, **16**:230-234.

- 396. Khan AR, Riaz M, Bin Abdulhak AA, Al-Tannir MA, Garbati MA, Erwin PJ, Baddour LM, Tleyjeh IM: The role of statins in prevention and treatment of community acquired pneumonia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2013, 8:e52929.
- 397. Kwong JC, Li P, Redelmeier DA: Influenza morbidity and mortality in elderly patients receiving statins: a cohort study. *PLoS One* 2009, **4**:e8087.
- 398. Maher BM, Dhonnchu TN, Burke JP, Soo A, Wood AE, Watson RW: Statins alter neutrophil migration by modulating cellular Rho activity--a potential mechanism for statins-mediated pleotropic effects? *J Leukoc Biol* 2009, 85:186-193.
- 399. Baetta R, Granata A, Miglietta D, Oliva F, Arnaboldi L, Bonomo A, Ferri N, Ongini E, Bellosta S, Corsini A: Nitric oxide-donating atorvastatin attenuates neutrophil recruitment during vascular inflammation independent of changes in plasma cholesterol. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2013, **27**:211-219.
- 400. Dunzendorfer S, Rothbucher D, Schratzberger P, Reinisch N, Kahler CM, Wiedermann CJ: Mevalonate-dependent inhibition of transendothelial migration and chemotaxis of human peripheral blood neutrophils by pravastatin. *Circ Res* 1997, **81**:963-969.
- 401. Wong B, Lumma WC, Smith AM, Sisko JT, Wright SD, Cai TQ: Statins suppress THP-1 cell migration and secretion of matrix metalloproteinase 9 by inhibiting geranylgeranylation. J Leukoc Biol 2001, 69:959-962.
- 402. Terblanche M, Almog Y, Rosenson RS, Smith TS, Hackam DG: **Statins and sepsis:** multiple modifications at multiple levels. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2007, **7**:358-368.
- 403. Chan KY, Boucher ES, Gandhi PJ, Silva MA: HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors for lowering elevated levels of C-reactive protein. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2004, 61:1676-1681.
- 404. Muinonen-Martin AJ, Veltman DM, Kalna G, Insall RH: An improved chamber for direct visualisation of chemotaxis. *PLoS One* 2010, **5**:e15309.
- 405. Lannutti BJ, Meadows SA, Herman SE, Kashishian A, Steiner B, Johnson AJ, Byrd JC, Tyner JW, Loriaux MM, Deininger M, et al.: **CAL-101, a p110delta selective phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase inhibitor for the treatment of B-cell malignancies, inhibits PI3K signaling and cellular viability**. *Blood* 2011, **117**:591-594.
- 406. Carter RI, Mumford RA, Treonze KM, Finke PE, Davies P, Si Q, Humes JL, Dirksen A, Piitulainen E, Ahmad A, et al.: **The fibrinogen cleavage product Aalpha-Val360, a specific marker of neutrophil elastase activity in vivo**. *Thorax* 2011, **66**:686-691.
- 407. Donnelly LE, Barnes PJ: **Defective phagocytosis in airways disease**. *Chest* 2012, **141**:1055-1062.
- 408. Freitas M, Porto G, Lima JL, Fernandes E: **Optimization of experimental settings for the analysis of human neutrophils oxidative burst in vitro**. *Talanta* 2009, **78**:1476-1483.
- 409. Lopez S, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L, Ravaud P, Bessou G, Dougados M, Porteu F: Neutrophil expression of tumour necrosis factor receptors (TNF-R) and of activation markers (CD11b, CD43, CD63) in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1995, 101:25-32.
- 410. Bligh EG, Dyer WJ: A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Can J Biochem Physiol* 1959, **37**:911-917.
- 411. Postle AD, Wilton DC, Hunt AN, Attard GS: **Probing phospholipid dynamics by** electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. *Prog Lipid Res* 2007, **46**:200-224.
- 412. Liebisch G, Binder M, Schifferer R, Langmann T, Schulz B, Schmitz G: High throughput quantification of cholesterol and cholesteryl ester by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS). *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2006, 1761:121-128.

- 413. Wikby A, Ferguson F, Forsey R, Thompson J, Strindhall J, Lofgren S, Nilsson BO, Ernerudh J, Pawelec G, Johansson B: An immune risk phenotype, cognitive impairment, and survival in very late life: impact of allostatic load in Swedish octogenarian and nonagenarian humans. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2005, 60:556-565.
- 414. Shaw AC, Joshi S, Greenwood H, Panda A, Lord JM: Aging of the innate immune system. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2010, **22**:507-513.
- 415. Sapey E, Bayley D, Ahmad A, Newbold P, Snell N, Stockley RA: Inter-relationships between inflammatory markers in patients with stable COPD with bronchitis: intra-patient and inter-patient variability. *Thorax* 2008, **63**:493-499.
- 416. Cham BP, Gerrard JM, Bainton DF: Granulophysin is located in the membrane of azurophilic granules in human neutrophils and mobilizes to the plasma membrane following cell stimulation. *Am J Pathol* 1994, **144**:1369-1380.
- 417. Finkelstein MS, Petkun WM, Freedman ML, Antopol SC: Pneumococcal bacteremia in adults: age-dependent differences in presentation and in outcome. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 1983, **31**:19-27.
- 418. Whitelaw DA, Rayner BL, Willcox PA: **Community-acquired bacteremia in the** elderly: a prospective study of 121 cases. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 1992, 40:996-1000.
- 419. Radford DJ, Wang K, McNelis JC, Taylor AE, Hechenberger G, Hofmann J, Chahal H, Arlt W, Lord JM: Dehdyroepiandrosterone sulfate directly activates protein kinase C-beta to increase human neutrophil superoxide generation. *Mol Endocrinol* 2010, **24**:813-821.
- 420. Koziol-White CJ, Goncharova EA, Cao G, Johnson M, Krymskaya VP, Panettieri RA, Jr.: DHEA-S inhibits human neutrophil and human airway smooth muscle migration. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2012, **1822**:1638-1642.
- 421. Mello SB, Farsky SH, Sannomiya P, Garcia-Leme J: Inhibition of neutrophil chemotaxis and chemokinesis associated with a plasma protein in aging rats: selective depression of cell responses mediated by complement-derived chemoattractants. *J Leukoc Biol* 1992, **51**:46-52.
- 422. Rowe JW, Andres R, Tobin JD, Norris AH, Shock NW: The effect of age on creatinine clearance in men: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *J Gerontol* 1976, 31:155-163.
- 423. Wynne HA, Cope LH, Mutch E, Rawlins MD, Woodhouse KW, James OF: **The effect of age upon liver volume and apparent liver blood flow in healthy man**. *Hepatology* 1989, **9**:297-301.
- 424. Jiang R, Burke GL, Enright PL, Newman AB, Margolis HG, Cushman M, Tracy RP, Wang Y, Kronmal RA, Barr RG: Inflammatory markers and longitudinal lung function decline in the elderly. *Am J Epidemiol* 2008, **168**:602-610.
- 425. Jancinova V, Drabikova K, Nosal R, Rackova L, Majekova M, Holomanova D: The combined luminol/isoluminol chemiluminescence method for differentiating between extracellular and intracellular oxidant production by neutrophils. *Redox Rep* 2006, **11**:110-116.
- 426. Caldefie-Chezet F, Walrand S, Moinard C, Tridon A, Chassagne J, Vasson MP: Is the neutrophil reactive oxygen species production measured by luminol and lucigenin chemiluminescence intra or extracellular? Comparison with DCFH-DA flow cytometry and cytochrome c reduction. *Clin Chim Acta* 2002, **319**:9-17.
- 427. Martin GS, Mannino DM, Moss M: The effect of age on the development and outcome of adult sepsis. Crit Care Med 2006, 34:15-21.
- 428. Huttenlocher A, Ginsberg MH, Horwitz AF: Modulation of cell migration by integrinmediated cytoskeletal linkages and ligand-binding affinity. *J Cell Biol* 1996, 134:1551-1562.

- 429. Alon R, Dustin ML: Force as a facilitator of integrin conformational changes during leukocyte arrest on blood vessels and antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* 2007, 26:17-27.
- 430. Funamoto S, Meili R, Lee S, Parry L, Firtel RA: **Spatial and temporal regulation of 3phosphoinositides by PI 3-kinase and PTEN mediates chemotaxis**. *Cell* 2002, **109**:611-623.
- 431. Funamoto S, Milan K, Meili R, Firtel RA: Role of phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase and a downstream pleckstrin homology domain-containing protein in controlling chemotaxis in dictyostelium. *J Cell Biol* 2001, **153**:795-810.
- 432. Gomez-Cambronero J: Rapamycin inhibits GM-CSF-induced neutrophil migration. *FEBS Lett* 2003, **550**:94-100.
- 433. Hammond ME, Lapointe GR, Feucht PH, Hilt S, Gallegos CA, Gordon CA, Giedlin MA, Mullenbach G, Tekamp-Olson P: IL-8 induces neutrophil chemotaxis predominantly via type I IL-8 receptors. J Immunol 1995, 155:1428-1433.
- 434. Nomellini V, Faunce DE, Gomez CR, Kovacs EJ: An age-associated increase in pulmonary inflammation after burn injury is abrogated by CXCR2 inhibition. J Leukoc Biol 2008, 83:1493-1501.
- 435. Ponnappan U, Holley DH, Lipschitz DA: Effect of age on the fatty acid composition of phospholipids in human lymphocytes. *Exp Gerontol* 1996, **31**:125-133.
- 436. Stephens L, Smrcka A, Cooke FT, Jackson TR, Sternweis PC, Hawkins PT: A novel phosphoinositide 3 kinase activity in myeloid-derived cells is activated by G protein beta gamma subunits. *Cell* 1994, 77:83-93.
- 437. Kuparinen T, Marttila S, Jylhava J, Tserel L, Peterson P, Jylha M, Hervonen A, Hurme M: Cytomegalovirus (CMV)-dependent and -independent changes in the aging of the human immune system: a transcriptomic analysis. *Exp Gerontol* 2013, 48:305-312.
- 438. Martin EL, Souza DG, Fagundes CT, Amaral FA, Assenzio B, Puntorieri V, Del Sorbo L, Fanelli V, Bosco M, Delsedime L, et al.: **Phosphoinositide-3 kinase gamma activity contributes to sepsis and organ damage by altering neutrophil recruitment**. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2010, **182**:762-773.
- 439. Sapey EG, H. Walton, G. Mann, E. Love, A. Aaronson, N. Insall, R.H. Stockley, R.A. Lord, J.M Phosphoinositide 3 Kinase Inhibition Restores Neutrophil Accurcy in the Elderly: Towards Targeted Treatments for Immunesenescence. *Blood (in revision)* 2013.
- 440. Samuels Y, Wang Z, Bardelli A, Silliman N, Ptak J, Szabo S, Yan H, Gazdar A, Powell SM, Riggins GJ, et al.: High frequency of mutations of the PIK3CA gene in human cancers. *Science* 2004, **304**:554.
- 441. Tang M, Iijima M, Kamimura Y, Chen L, Long Y, Devreotes P: Disruption of PKB signaling restores polarity to cells lacking tumor suppressor PTEN. *Mol Biol Cell* 2011, 22:437-447.
- 442. Yeh CM, Liu YC, Chang CJ, Lai SL, Hsiao CD, Lee SJ: **Ptenb mediates gastrulation** cell movements via Cdc42/AKT1 in zebrafish. *PLoS One* 2011, 6:e18702.
- 443. Laufs U, Kilter H, Konkol C, Wassmann S, Bohm M, Nickenig G: Impact of HMG CoA reductase inhibition on small GTPases in the heart. *Cardiovasc Res* 2002, 53:911-920.
- 444. del Real G, Jimenez-Baranda S, Mira E, Lacalle RA, Lucas P, Gomez-Mouton C, Alegret M, Pena JM, Rodriguez-Zapata M, Alvarez-Mon M, et al.: Statins inhibit HIV-1 infection by down-regulating Rho activity. *J Exp Med* 2004, 200:541-547.
- 445. Kirsch C, Eckert GP, Mueller WE: Statin effects on cholesterol micro-domains in brain plasma membranes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2003, 65:843-856.
- 446. Yamazaki D, Kurisu S, Takenawa T: **Regulation of cancer cell motility through actin** reorganization. *Cancer Sci* 2005, **96**:379-386.

- 447. Cordle A, Koenigsknecht-Talboo J, Wilkinson B, Limpert A, Landreth G: **Mechanisms** of statin-mediated inhibition of small G-protein function. *J Biol Chem* 2005, 280:34202-34209.
- 448. Guasti L, Marino F, Cosentino M, Cimpanelli M, Maio RC, Klersy C, Crespi C, Restelli D, Simoni C, Franzetti I, et al.: Simvastatin treatment modifies polymorphonuclear leukocyte function in high-risk individuals: a longitudinal study. J Hypertens 2006, 24:2423-2430.
- 449. Bonetti PO, Lerman LO, Napoli C, Lerman A: **Statin effects beyond lipid lowering**are they clinically relevant? *Eur Heart J* 2003, **24**:225-248.
- 450. Yamada M, Wong FL, Kodama K, Sasaki H, Shimaoka K, Yamakido M: Longitudinal trends in total serum cholesterol levels in a Japanese cohort, 1958-1986. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1997, **50**:425-434.
- 451. Furman RB, JC; Flinn, IW; Coutr,e SE; Benson Jr, DM; Brown, JR; Kahl, BS; Wagner-Johnston, ND; Giese, NA; Yu, AS: Interim results from a phase I study of CAL-101, a selective oral inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase p110-delta, in patients with relapsed or refractory hematologic malignancies. Journal of Clinical Oncology 2010, 28:3032.
- 452. Wiestner A: Emerging role of kinase-targeted strategies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 2012, **120**:4684-4691.
- 453. European Commission, Public Health Guidelines, Medicinal Products for Human Use, Clinical Trails. Edited by.
- 454. Jacobson JR, Barnard JW, Grigoryev DN, Ma SF, Tuder RM, Garcia JG: **Simvastatin** attenuates vascular leak and inflammation in murine inflammatory lung injury. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2005, **288**:L1026-1032.
- 455. Steiner S, Speidl WS, Pleiner J, Seidinger D, Zorn G, Kaun C, Wojta J, Huber K, Minar E, Wolzt M, et al.: Simvastatin blunts endotoxin-induced tissue factor in vivo. *Circulation* 2005, 111:1841-1846.
- 456. de Lemos JA, Blazing MA, Wiviott SD, Lewis EF, Fox KA, White HD, Rouleau JL, Pedersen TR, Gardner LH, Mukherjee R, et al.: **Early intensive vs a delayed conservative simvastatin strategy in patients with acute coronary syndromes: phase Z of the A to Z trial**. *JAMA* 2004, **292**:1307-1316.
- 457. McKenney JM, Swearingen D, Di Spirito M, Doyle R, Pantaleon C, Kling D, Shalwitz RA: Study of the pharmacokinetic interaction between simvastatin and prescription omega-3-acid ethyl esters. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2006, **46**:785-791.
- 458. Kinsella A, Raza A, Kennedy S, Fan Y, Wood AE, Watson RW: The impact of highdose statin therapy on transendothelial neutrophil migration and serum cholesterol levels in healthy male volunteers. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2011, 67:1103-1108.
- 459. Mita T, Watada H, Nakayama S, Abe M, Ogihara T, Shimizu T, Uchino H, Hirose T, Kawamori R: **Preferable effect of pravastatin compared to atorvastatin on beta cell function in Japanese early-state type 2 diabetes with hypercholesterolemia**. *Endocr J* 2007, **54**:441-447.
- 460. Weitz-Schmidt G, Welzenbach K, Brinkmann V, Kamata T, Kallen J, Bruns C, Cottens S, Takada Y, Hommel U: Statins selectively inhibit leukocyte function antigen-1 by binding to a novel regulatory integrin site. *Nat Med* 2001, 7:687-692.
- 461. Aspinall R, Andrew D: Thymic involution in aging. J Clin Immunol 2000, 20:250-256.
- 462. Allport JR, Lim YC, Shipley JM, Senior RM, Shapiro SD, Matsuyoshi N, Vestweber D, Luscinskas FW: Neutrophils from MMP-9- or neutrophil elastase-deficient mice show no defect in transendothelial migration under flow in vitro. J Leukoc Biol 2002, 71:821-828.
- 463. Steadman R, St John PL, Evans RA, Thomas GJ, Davies M, Heck LW, Abrahamson DR: **Human neutrophils do not degrade major basement membrane**

components during chemotactic migration. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1997, 29:993-1004.

- 464. Delclaux C, Delacourt C, D'Ortho MP, Boyer V, Lafuma C, Harf A: Role of gelatinase B and elastase in human polymorphonuclear neutrophil migration across basement membrane. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 1996, **14**:288-295.
- 465. Fulop T, Jr., Fouquet C, Allaire P, Perrin N, Lacombe G, Stankova J, Rola-Pleszczynski M, Gagne D, Wagner JR, Khalil A, et al.: Changes in apoptosis of human polymorphonuclear granulocytes with aging. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1997, 96:15-34.
- 466. International Obeisity Taskforce. Edited by.
- 467. Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM: Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 1993, 259:87-91.
- 468. Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW, Jr.: Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 2003, 112:1796-1808.
- 469. Willcox DC, Willcox BJ, He Q, Wang NC, Suzuki M: They really are that old: a validation study of centenarian prevalence in Okinawa. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2008, 63:338-349.
- 470. Tsukamoto K, Machida K: Effects of life events and stress on neutrophil functions in elderly men. *Immun Ageing* 2012, **9**:13.
- 471. Miller GE, Cohen S, Ritchey AK: Chronic psychological stress and the regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines: a glucocorticoid-resistance model. *Health Psychol* 2002, **21**:531-541.
- 472. Mimura G, Murakami K, Gushiken M: Nutritional factors for longevity in Okinawa-present and future. *Nutr Health* 1992, **8**:159-163.
- 473. Venaille TJ, Misso NL, Phillips MJ, Robinson BW, Thompson PJ: Effects of different density gradient separation techniques on neutrophil function. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1994, **54**:385-391.
- 474. Zhu X, Subbaraman R, Sano H, Jacobs B, Sano A, Boetticher E, Munoz NM, Leff AR: A surrogate method for assessment of beta(2)-integrin-dependent adhesion of human eosinophils to ICAM-1. *J Immunol Methods* 2000, **240**:157-164.
- 475. Dustin ML, Rothlein R, Bhan AK, Dinarello CA, Springer TA: Induction by IL 1 and interferon-gamma: tissue distribution, biochemistry, and function of a natural adherence molecule (ICAM-1). J. Immunol. 1986. 137: 245-254. *J Immunol* 2011, 186:5024-5033.
- 476. Hill PA, Lan HY, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Atkins RC: **ICAM-1 directs migration and localization of interstitial leukocytes in experimental glomerulonephritis**. *Kidney Int* 1994, **45**:32-42.
- 477. Turner NA, Das A, O'Regan DJ, Ball SG, Porter KE: Human cardiac fibroblasts express ICAM-1, E-selectin and CXC chemokines in response to proinflammatory cytokine stimulation. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2011, **43**:1450-1458.
- 478. Bowden RA, Ding ZM, Donnachie EM, Petersen TK, Michael LH, Ballantyne CM, Burns AR: Role of alpha4 integrin and VCAM-1 in CD18-independent neutrophil migration across mouse cardiac endothelium. *Circ Res* 2002, 90:562-569.
- 479. Stradal TE, Scita G: Protein complexes regulating Arp2/3-mediated actin assembly. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 2006, **18**:4-10.
- 480. Stephens LR, Eguinoa A, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Cooke F, Coadwell J, Smrcka AS, Thelen M, Cadwallader K, Tempst P, et al.: **The G beta gamma sensitivity of a PI3K is dependent upon a tightly associated adaptor, p101**. *Cell* 1997, **89**:105-114.
- 481. King WG, Mattaliano MD, Chan TO, Tsichlis PN, Brugge JS: **Phosphatidylinositol 3kinase is required for integrin-stimulated AKT and Raf-1/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway activation**. *Mol Cell Biol* 1997, **17**:4406-4418.

- 482. Juss JK, Hayhoe RP, Owen CE, Bruce I, Walmsley SR, Cowburn AS, Kulkarni S, Boyle KB, Stephens L, Hawkins PT, et al.: Functional redundancy of class I phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) isoforms in signaling growth factor-mediated human neutrophil survival. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**:e45933.
- 483. Condliffe AM, Davidson K, Anderson KE, Ellson CD, Crabbe T, Okkenhaug K, Vanhaesebroeck B, Turner M, Webb L, Wymann MP, et al.: Sequential activation of class IB and class IA PI3K is important for the primed respiratory burst of human but not murine neutrophils. *Blood* 2005, 106:1432-1440.
- 484. Geffken DF, Cushman M, Burke GL, Polak JF, Sakkinen PA, Tracy RP: Association between physical activity and markers of inflammation in a healthy elderly population. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001, **153**:242-250.
- 485. Abramson JL, Vaccarino V: Relationship between physical activity and inflammation among apparently healthy middle-aged and older US adults. Arch Intern Med 2002, 162:1286-1292.
- 486. Cottam DR, Mattar SG, Barinas-Mitchell E, Eid G, Kuller L, Kelley DE, Schauer PR: **The** chronic inflammatory hypothesis for the morbidity associated with morbid obesity: implications and effects of weight loss. *Obes Surg* 2004, **14**:589-600.
- 487. Kurig B, Shymanets A, Bohnacker T, Prajwal, Brock C, Ahmadian MR, Schaefer M, Gohla A, Harteneck C, Wymann MP, et al.: Ras is an indispensable coregulator of the class IB phosphoinositide 3-kinase p87/p110gamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2009, 106:20312-20317.
- 488. Suire S, Lecureuil C, Anderson KE, Damoulakis G, Niewczas I, Davidson K, Guillou H, Pan D, Jonathan C, Phillip TH, et al.: **GPCR activation of Ras and Pl3Kc in neutrophils depends on PLCb2/b3 and the RasGEF RasGRP4**. *EMBO J* 2012, **31**:3118-3129.
- 489. Zhang Q, Cox D, Tseng CC, Donaldson JG, Greenberg S: A requirement for ARF6 in Fcgamma receptor-mediated phagocytosis in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 1998, 273:19977-19981.
- 490. Caron E, Hall A: Identification of two distinct mechanisms of phagocytosis controlled by different Rho GTPases. *Science* 1998, 282:1717-1721.
- 491. Endemann DH, Schiffrin EL: Endothelial dysfunction. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004, 15:1983-1992.
- 492. Manickavasagam S, Ye Y, Lin Y, Perez-Polo RJ, Huang MH, Lui CY, Hughes MG, McAdoo DJ, Uretsky BF, Birnbaum Y: **The cardioprotective effect of a statin and cilostazol combination: relationship to Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation**. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2007, **21**:321-330.
- 493. Stalker TJ, Lefer AM, Scalia R: A new HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, rosuvastatin, exerts anti-inflammatory effects on the microvascular endothelium: the role of mevalonic acid. Br J Pharmacol 2001, 133:406-412.
- 494. McCarey DW, McInnes IB, Madhok R, Hampson R, Scherbakov O, Ford I, Capell HA, Sattar N: Trial of Atorvastatin in Rheumatoid Arthritis (TARA): double-blind, randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2004, **363**:2015-2021.
- 495. Ferro D, Parrotto S, Basili S, Alessandri C, Violi F: **Simvastatin inhibits the monocyte** expression of proinflammatory cytokines in patients with hypercholesterolemia. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2000, **36**:427-431.
- 496. Venugopal SK, Devaraj S, Yuhanna I, Shaul P, Jialal I: **Demonstration that C-reactive** protein decreases eNOS expression and bioactivity in human aortic endothelial cells. *Circulation* 2002, **106**:1439-1441.
- 497. Verma S, Wang CH, Li SH, Dumont AS, Fedak PW, Badiwala MV, Dhillon B, Weisel RD, Li RK, Mickle DA, et al.: A self-fulfilling prophecy: C-reactive protein attenuates nitric oxide production and inhibits angiogenesis. *Circulation* 2002, 106:913-919.

- 498. Dunn SE, Youssef S, Goldstein MJ, Prod'homme T, Weber MS, Zamvil SS, Steinman L: Isoprenoids determine Th1/Th2 fate in pathogenic T cells, providing a mechanism of modulation of autoimmunity by atorvastatin. *J Exp Med* 2006, 203:401-412.
- 499. Mira E, Leon B, Barber DF, Jimenez-Baranda S, Goya I, Almonacid L, Marquez G, Zaballos A, Martinez AC, Stein JV, et al.: **Statins induce regulatory T cell recruitment via a CCL1 dependent pathway**. *J Immunol* 2008, **181**:3524-3534.
- 500. Fehr T, Kahlert C, Fierz W, Joller-Jemelka HI, Riesen WF, Rickli H, Wuthrich RP, Ammann P: Statin-induced immunomodulatory effects on human T cells in vivo. *Atherosclerosis* 2004, **175**:83-90.
- 501. Raemer PC, Kohl K, Watzl C: Statins inhibit NK-cell cytotoxicity by interfering with LFA-1-mediated conjugate formation. *Eur J Immunol* 2009, **39**:1456-1465.

**<u>Appendix I</u>** - Papers Published, Posters, Presentations and Awards won during the completion of this PhD

## Published Articles

\*Sapey E, \*Greenwood H, Walton G, Mann E, Love A, Aaronson N, Insall RH, Stockley RA, Lord JM: Phosphoinositide 3 kinase Inhibition Restores Neutrophil Accuracy in the Elderly: Towards Targeted Treatments for Immune-senescence: 2013 Blood (In Revision)

\*Joint first Authorship

\*Greenwood H, \*Bartlett DB: Meeting Report: British Society for Research on Ageing (BSRA) Annual Scientific Meeting 2012, Aston University, Birmingham: Longevity and Healthspan 2013, 2(6)

\*Joint first Authorship

Sapey E, Stockley JA, Greenwood H, Ahmad A, Bayley D, Lord JM, Insall RH, Stockley RA: Behavioural and Structural Differences in Migrating Peripheral Neutrophils from Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2011, 183 (9):1176-86

Shaw AC, Samit J, **Greenwood H**, Panda A, Lord JM: **Ageing of the Innate Immune System**: Current Opinion in Immunology 2010, 22(4):507-13

## Abstracts

Sapey E, **Greenwood H**, Hazeldine J, Walton G, Thickett D, Lord JM, Stockley RA: **Neutrophil Function and Advancing Age: The Effects of Simvastatin in Health and during Pneumonia**: Thorax 2011, 6:A59 **Greenwood H**, Mann E, Walton G, Insall RH, Sapey E, Lord JM: **Correction of Aberrant Peripheral Neutrophil Migration in the Healthy Aged Through Inhibition of p110δ isoform of PI3Kinase**: American Ageing Association Annual Meeting, Fort Worth Texas USA, June 2012

**Greenwood H**, Mann E, Walton G, Sapey E, Lord JM: **Aberrant Neutrophil Migration in the Elderly can be Corrected Through Inhibition of the p110δ isoform of Pl3Kinase**: British Society for Research on Ageing (BSRA) Annual Scientific Meeting, Birmingham, UK, 2012

## Prizes Won

**Greenwood H**, Sapey E, Stockley JA, Chahal H, Love A, Aaronson A, Insall RH, Lord JM: **Reduced Neutrophil Migration in the Elderly: A potential cause of Delayed Response to Infection and Resolution of Inflammation**. 1st Prize (Poster) 1st Immuno-senescence Conference, School of Sport and Exercise Science, University of Birmingham 2009

**Greenwood H**, Mann E, Walton G, Insall RH, Sapey E, Lord JM: **Correction of Aberrant Peripheral Neutrophil Migration in the Healthy Aged Through Inhibition of p110δ isoform of PI3Kinase**, 1st Prize (Poster) British Society for Research on Ageing (BSRA) Annual Scientific Meeting 2012

Travel Grant, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham 2013, £500

## **Presentations**

Greenwood H: Correction of Aberrant Neutrophil Migration in the Healthy Aged by Inhibition of PI3Kinaseδ, Student Data Blitz American Ageing Association Annual Meeting, Fort Worth Texas USA, June 2012